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2022

)

Apple, Inc. 16,530 | 19.04 | 320,665 | 174.78 | 2,889,113 | 3.66
Microsoft Corp. 8,213 | 122.69 | 1,007,649 | 310.98 | 2,554,079 | 3.24
72;"" Morris International, 12,164 | 79.06 | 961,722 | 102.85 | 1,251,067 | 1.50
Coca-Cola Co. (The) 19,447 | 50.61| 984,204| 61.01| 1,186,461 | 1.50
Chevron Corp. 8,635 | 80.41| 772,089 | 131.33| 1,134,085 | 1.44
shell Plc-new 42,536 | 21.56 | 917,086 | 25.37 | 1,079,261 | 1.37
Fégggﬁsz‘g;g:gg AG 2,637 | 237.67 | 626,740 | 385.15 | 1,015,643 | 1.20
Broadcom, Inc. 1,728 | 553.28 | 956,073 | 585.88 | 1,012,401 | 1.28
VetLife, Inc. 15,053 | 44.82| 674,724 |  67.06 | 1,000,454 | 1.28

10 | Merck & Co., Inc. 12,213 | 74.27| o11,477|  s81.48 | 1,000,004 | 1.27
11 | Texas Instruments, Inc. 5,355 | 134.54 720,470 179.49 961,169 .22
12 | 16 Group Holdings PLC 87,307 | 8.56| 746,952 | 10.96 | 956,966 | 1.21
13 | Paychex, Inc. 8,000 | 70.46| 564,306 | 117.76| 943,140 | 1.20
14 | ENEOS Holdings, Inc. 237,600 | 3.85| 915,046 3.96 | 940,035 | 1.19
15 | Abbvie, Inc. 6,720 | 71.67| 481,603 | 136.89| 919,001 | 1.17
16 ?ﬁgert Half International, 8,112 | 56.09| 462,271 113.26| 918,765 1.16
17 | Angllo American PLC 21,118 | 40.12 | 847,208 | 43.41| 916,804 | 1.16
18 | Wells Fargo & Co. 16,072 | 28.32| 480,644 | 53.80 | 913,004 [ 1.16
19 | Repsol SA 71,504 | 15.56 | 1,112,271 | 12.63 | 903,083 | 1.14
20 | PepsiCo, Inc. 5,101 | 113.51| 578,009 | 173.52| 885,126 | 1.12
21 | Johnson & Johnson 5,115 [ 161.98 | 828,537 | 172.29 | 881,263 | 1.12
22 | Imperial Brands PLC 37,381 | 27.95| 1,044,811 | 23.56 | 880,544 [ 1.12
23 | Medtronic PLC 8,345 [ 103.57 | 864,301 | 103.49 | 863,624 | 1.00
24 | Ares Capital Corp. 38,900 | 14.38| 550,701 | 22.10| 859,880 | 1.00
25 | Royal Bank of Canada 7,530 | 79.41 597,966 114.01 858,532 .09
26 | Enel SpA 112,256 | 6.26 | 702,327 7.62| 855,179 | 1.08
27 | sanofi 8,143 | 75.08| 618,706 | 104.20| 848,500 | 1.08
28 | NN Group NV 15,131 | 28.58 | 432,369 | 55.70 | 842,807 | 1.07
29 | NortonLifeLock, Inc. 32,389 | 19.75| 639,660 | 26.01 | 842,438 | 1.07
30 | Bank of Montreal 7,396 64.26 475,232 113.19 837,145 .06

MSC1/S&P

GICS
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2021 2022
2012 30 7,519,566 868,058,699 10.45 1,206
2013 30 24,508,869 2,829,303,837 10.51 1,213
2014 30 30,793,468 3,554,797,946 10.24 1,182
2015 30 23,059,262 2,661,961,205 9.75 1,126
2016 30 21,292,285 2,457,981,380 10.04 1,159
2017 30 24,091,053 2,781,071,158 10.91 1,259
2018 30 16,975,556 1,959,658,185 10.65 1,229
2019 30 13,699,543 1,581,475,244 10.35 1,195
2020 30 10,203,576 1,177,900,813 9.23 1,066
10

2021 30 14,518,643 1,676,032,148 10.33 1,192
2021 13,262,008 1,530,966,204 10.82 1,249
14,222,001 1,641,787,795 10.73 1,239

14,430,020 1,665,801,509 10.95 1,264

14,369,634 1,658,830,549 11.17 1,289

13,498,649 1,558,284,041 10.38 1,198

14,376,263 1,659,595,801 10.43 1,204

14,666,916 1,693,148,783 10.64 1,228

14,518,643 1,676,032,148 10.33 1,192

10 15,506,854 1,790,111,226 10.64 1,228

11 17,756,054 2,049,758,874 10.33 1,192

12 18,625,142 2,150,086,392 10.91 1,259

2022 18,905,023 2,182,395,855 10.79 1,246
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2012 30 25,694,281 2,966,147,799 10.20 1,177

2013 30 20,248,871 2,337,529,668 9.46 1,092

2014 30 15,656,336 1,807,367,428 8.84 1,020

2015 30 7,708,771 889,900,524 4.88 563

2016 30 12,732,300 1,469,816,712 5.01 682

2017 30 15,382,775 1,775,787,546 6.82 787

2018 30 10,100,544 1,166,006,799 5.20 600

2019 30 7,369,206 850,701,141 4.81 555

2020 30 4,019,006 463,954,053 2.96 342

10 4,503,733 519,910,938 3.90 450
2021 30 Te T )

2021 4,171,837 481,596,863 3.43 396

4,392,551 507,076,087 3.63 419

4,636,832 535,275,886 3.84 443

4,901,129 565,786,332 4.08 471

5,094,661 588,127,666 4.26 492

4,867,496 561,903,738 4.09 472

4,882,600 563,647,344 4.22 487

4,503,733 519,910,938 3.90 450

10 4,471,288 516,165,487 3.89 449

11 4,341,579 501,191,880 3.80 439

12 4,637,495 535,352,423 4.08 471

2022 4,836,334 558,306,397 4.25 491
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2012 30 2,869,006 231,758,305 10.47 846

2013 30 11,498,702 928,865,148 10.53 851

2014 30 22,896,304 1,849,563,437 10.24 827

2015 30 21,501,696 1,736,907,003 9.52 769

2016 30 52,708,377 4,257,782,694 9.38 758

2017 30 68,177,860 5,507,407,531 10.27 830

2018 30 69,522,025 5,615,989,180 10.20 824

2019 30 87,387,726 7,059,180,506 9.84 795

2020 30 95,924,284 7,748,763,662 8.48 685

10 74,685,631 6,033,105,272 10.32 834
2021 30 T T )

2021 98,856,037 7,985,590, 669 9.92 801

100,657,853 8,131,141,365 10.54 851

94,906,674 7,666,561,126 10.76 869

92,524,021 7,474,090,416 10.97 886

83,358,049 6,733,663,198 10.37 838

81,057,312 6,547,809,663 10.42 842

77,450,605 6,256,459,872 10.62 858

74,685,631 6,033,105,272 10.32 834

10 72,833,101 5,883,457,899 10.63 859

11 72,572,680 5,862,421,090 10.29 831

12 75,573,016 6,104,788,232 10.88 879

2022 72,492,651 5,855,956,348 10.76 869
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2012 %0 3,832,411 309,582,161 9.42 761

2013 %0 3,301,200 266,670,936 10.20 824

p014 %0 4,839,839 390,962,194 10.30 832

2015 20 2,633,849 212,762,322 7.42 599

2016 % 12,625,328 | 1,019,873,996 8.03 649

2017 %0 22,761,117 | 1,838,643,031 8.71 704

2018 %0 10,871,468 878,197,185 7.37 595

2015 %0 5,668,247 457,880,993 7.20 582

2020 %0 2,838,275 229,275,855 4.11 332

10 2,864,251 231,374,196 5.34 431
2021 30 864, 374, '

2021 2,716,001 219,405,831 4.41 356

2,918,192 235,731,550 4.74 383

3,032,100 244,933,038 4.93 398

3,206,720 259,038, 842 5.24 423

3,408,954 275,375,304 5.63 455

3,239,020 261,648,036 5.5 446

3,344,537 270,171,699 5.70 460

2,864,251 231,374,196 5.34 431

10 2,744,788 221,723,975 5.12 414

11 2,828,378 228,476,375 5.28 427

12 2,881,135 232,738,085 5.56 449

2022 3,012,282 243,332,140 5.95 481
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2021 2022
2011 11 15

2011 30 2012 30 1.260 145

2012 10 2013 30 1.620 187

2013 10 2014 30 1.175 136

2014 10 2015 30 0.180 21

2015 10 2016 30 0.180 21

2016 10 2017 30 0.685 &

2017 10 2018 30 0.815 94

2018 10 2019 30 0.180 21

2019 10 2020 30 0.180 21
10

2020 10 2021 30 1.700 196

2021 0.015 2

0.780 90

0.015 2

0.015 2

0.770 89

0.015 2

0.015 2

0.015 2

10 0.015 2

11 0.015 2

12 0.015 2

2022 0.015 2
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2011 30 2012 30 -188 137

2012 10 2013 30 -848 213

2013 10 2014 30 -296 150

2014 10 2015 30 -296 150

2015 10 2016 30 179 90

2016 10 2017 30 -732 85

2017 10 2018 30 -696 80

2018 10 2019 30 -300 35

2019 10 2020 30 -286 33
10

2020 10 2021 30 -132 15

2021 011 1

011 1

011 1

011 1

011 1

011 1

011 1

011 1

10 011 1

11 011 1

12 011 1

2022 011 1
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2011 30 2012 30 -480 120

2012 10 2013 30 -870 151

2013 10 2014 30 -402 113

2014 10 2015 30 -624 50

2015 10 2016 30 -624 20

2016 10 2017 30 -624 50

2017 10 2018 30 -582 At

2018 10 2019 30 -120 10

2019 10 2020 30 -120 10
10

2020 10 2021 30 -680 95

2021 .010 1

.010 1

010 1

.010 1

570 46

010 1

.010 1

.010 1

10 010 1

11 .010 1

12 .010 1

2022 010 1
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2011 30 2012 30 -188 96

2012 10 2013 30 -296 105

2013 10 2014 30 -296 105

2014 10 2015 30 -296 105

2015 10 2016 30 -296 105

2016 10 2017 30 -296 105

2017 10 2018 30 738 60

2018 10 2019 30 -552 45

2019 10 2020 30 -522 42
10

2020 10 2021 30 -192 16

2021 016 1

016 1

016 1

016 1

016 1

016 1

016 1

016 1

10 016 1

11 016 1

12 016 1

2022 016 1
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2011 30 2012 30 17.10
2012 10 2013 30 16.08
2013 10 2014 30 8.61
2014 10 2015 30 3.03
2015 10 2016 30 4.82
2016 10 2017 30 15.49
2017 10 2018 30 5.09
2018 10 2019 30 1.13
2019 10 2020 30 9.08
2020 10 2001 30 30.34
2011 30 2012 30 13.88
2012 10 2013 30 10.86
2013 10 2014 30 7.15
2014 10 2015 30 30.14
2015 10 2016 30 37.07
2016 10 2017 30 27.78
2017 10 2018 30 13.55
2018 10 2019 30 1.73
2019 10 2020 30 32.52
200 10 - 20 30 36.22
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2011 30 2012 30 19-50
2012 10 2013 30 18.43
2013 10 2014 30 1056
2014 10 2015 30 0.94
2015 10 2016 30 5.08
2016 10 2017 30 16.14
2017 10 2018 30 4.99
2018 10 2019 30 235
2019 10 2020 30 12.60
200 10 - 20 30 29.72
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2011 30 2012 30 6.08
2012 10 2013 30 22.04
2013 10 2014 30 13.69
2014 10 2015 30 15.38
2015 10 2016 30 25.69
2016 10 2017 30 24.61
2017 10 2018 30 6.91
2018 10 2019 30 5.18
2019 10 2020 30 35.67
200 10 - 20 30 34.60
100x
10.00 10.00

10.00 10.00
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2011 30 1,816,790 1,097,380 719,410
2012 30 1,816,790 1,097,380 719,410

2012 10 2,429,300 817,200 2,331,510
2013 30 2,429,300 817,200 2,331,510
2013 10 2,165,080 1,488,810 3,007,780
2014 30 2,165,080 1,488,810 3,007,780
2014 10 1,133,980 1,777,870 2,363,890
2015 30 (1,133,980) (1,777,870) (2,363,890)
2015 10 579,900 822,790 2,121,000
2016 30 (579,900) (822,790) (2,121,000)
2016 10 953,920 866,440 2,208,480
2017 30 (953,920) (866,440) (2,208,480)
2017 10 188,740 803,520 1,593,700
2018 30 (188,740) (803,520) (1,593,700)
2018 10 121,300 391,410 1,323,590
2019 30 (121,300) (391,410) (1,323,590)
2019 10 133,030 350,740 1,105,880
2020 30 (133,030) (350,740) (1,105,880)

10

2020 10 529,310 230,350 1,404,840
2021 30 (529,310) (230,350) (1,404,840)
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2011 30 7,309,010 4,789,820 2,519,190
2012 30 7,309,010 4,789,820 2,519,190
2012 10 1,549,930 1,928,500 2,140,620
2013 30 1,549,930 1,928,500 2,140,620
2013 10 915,230 1,285,710 1,770,140
2014 30 (915,230) (1,285,710) (1,770,140)
2014 10 249,950 440,740 1,579,350
2015 30 (249,950) (440,740) (1,579,350)
2015 10 844,790 268,690 2,155,450
2016 30 (844,790) (268,690) (2,155,450)
2016 10 952,480 851,380 2,256,550
2017 30 (952,480) (851,380) (2,256,550)
2017 10 197,320 509,970 1,943,900
2018 30 (197,320) (509,970) (1,943,900)
0 412,500 1,531,400
2018 10 , ,531,
2019 30 0 (412,500) (1,531,400)
2019 10 14,000 187,530 1,357,870
2020 30 (14,000) (187,530) (1,357,870)
10
2020 10 0 203,130 1,154,740
2021 30 ) (203,130) (1,154,740)
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986,020 711,920 274,100
385 28 986,020 711,920 274,100
2012 10 2,005,610 1,187,300 1,092,410
2013 30 2,005,610 1,187,300 1,092,410
2013 10 1,792,420 648,490 2,236,340
2014 30 (1,792,420) (648,490) (2,236,340)
2014 10 1,149,880 1,126,640 2,259,580
2015 30 (1,149,880) (1,126,640) (2,259,580)
2015 10 4,160,720 801,070 5,619,230
2016 30 (4,160,720) (801,070) (5.619,230)
2016 10 3,885,900 2,879,420 6,625,710
2017 30 (3,885,900) (2,879,420) (6,625,710)
2017 10 2,687,410 2,496,350 6,816,770
2018 30 (2,687,410) (2,496,350) (6,816,770)
2018 10 3,946,180 1,883,810 8,879,140
2019 30 (3,946,180) (1.,883,810) (8,879,140)
2019 10 4,937,680 2,510,320 11,306,500
2020 30 (4,937,680) (2,510,320) (11,306,500)
20280 10 1,519,200 5,620,360 7,205,340
2021 30 (1,519,200) (5.,620,360) (7,205,340)
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982,950 576,040 406,910
38}; 38 982,950 576,040 406,910

289,740 373,080 323,570
3813 10 30 289,740 373,080 323,570
2013 10 311,170 165,000 469,740
2014 30 (311,170) (165,000) (469,740)
2014 10 78,080 192,730 355,090
2015 30 (78,080) (192,730) (355,090)
2015 10 1,294,930 77,750 1,572,270
2016 30 (1,294,930) (77,750) (1,572,270)
2016 10 1,844,520 802,790 2,614,000
2017 30 (1,844,520) (802,790) (2.614,000)
2017 10 193,180 1,331,770 1,475,410
2018 30 (193,180) (1,331,770) (1,475,410)
2018 10 12,140 700,410 787,140
2019 30 (12,140) (700,410) (787,140)
2019 10 55,000 151,030 691,110
2020 30 (55,000) (151,030) (691,110)

10

2020 10 0 154,620 536,490
2021 30 ) (154,620) (536,490)
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CIMA
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)
FRA ()
FRA
KY-FID__ABTrust@intertrustgroup.com
) OFAC
EU
() OFAC EU
() OFAC EU

CIMA CIMA
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2010

IRS
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100
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2021 30
2021 30

76,484,653 8,829,388

39,987,346 4,616,139
820,239 94,688
267,944 30,931
1,686 195
77,574,522 8,955,203
- 972 1,400 162
1,357,841 156,749
733,924 84,724
178,008 20,549
175,299 20,237
124,805 14,407
12,187 1,407
3,208 370
641 74
156,788 18,100
2,744,101 316,779

74,830,421 8,638,424
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53,737,335 6,203,438 7,205,340 7.46 861
2,070,710 239,043 536,490 3.86 446
4,503,733 519,911 1,154,740 3.90 450

14,518,643 1,676,032 1,404,840 10.33 1,192

10.32 834
5.34 431
3.90 450

10.33 1,192
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2021 30

1,154,335 133,256
1,154,335 133,256
171,550 19,804
9,029 1,042
541,737 62,538
45,145 5,212
38,991 4,501
35,465 4,094
29,836 3,444
23,438 2,706
9,958 1,150
6,446 744
1,168 135
912,763 105,369
241,572 27,887
8,745,060 1,009,530
1,036,225 119,622
16,444,420 1,898,344
271,661 31,361
26,497,366 3,058,856

26,738,938 3,086,743
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2021 30

241,572 27,887
9,781,285 1,129,152
16,716,081 1,929,704
26,738,938 3,086,743
(4,318,155) (498,488)
(90,344) (10,429)
(162,884) (18,803)
(2,127,546) (245,604)
(6.,698,929) (773,324)
16,676,562 1,925,142

(46,848,985)
(30,172,423)
(10,132,414)

(5.,408,247)
(3,483,105)
(1,169,686)

84,962,835
74,830,421

9,808,110
8,638,424
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2021 30

2010 11 2011

2011 31

1-9005

2021

2023 30
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2021 30
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2021 30
2021 30 2021 30
1,519,200 11,124,085
(5,620, 360) (43,165,936)
(4,101,160) (32,041,851)
(154,620) (574,378)
(154,620) (574,378)
(203,130) (733,973)
(203,130) (733,973)
529,310 5,552,477
(230,350) (2,374,698)
298,960 3,177,779
(30,172,423)
2021 30 100

10,000
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2021 30
2021 30
0.01
0.19
0.85
2021 30
12,187
761,165
30
15,000
10,000
2021 30
38,991
16,639
0.05
2021 30

3,208
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9,029

9,062

1,000
23,438
9,375
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0.60

2021 30 541,737
124,805

2021 30
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2021 30

0.00* 1,686
(1.81) (1,357,841)
(1.81) (1,356,155)

* 0.005

100/310



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 30

1,686 1,357,841
1,686 1,357,841
1,081,092 273,533
1,081,092 273,533
2021 30
*
1,686 (1,686) 0 0 0

1,686 (1,686) 0 0 0
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2021

30

1,311,971 (1,686) 1,310,285 0 1,310,285
45,870 0 45,870 0 45,870
1,357,841 (1,686) 1,356,155 0 1,356,155
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0 1,686 0 1,686
0  (1,357,841) 0  (1,357,841)
0  (1,356,155) 0  (1,356,155)
76,484,653
75,128,498

2021 30

2021 30

2021 30
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2021 30

6.08

0.02
1.88
1.90

(0.52)
7.46

29.70% *

53,737

1.01%

0.28%
30.77

2021 30

2.94

0.01
1.05
1.06

(0.14)
3.86

35.09% *

2,071

1.01%

0.25%
36.51

2021 30

2.96
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0.01
1.06
1.07

(0.13)
3.90

36.50%

4,504

1.01%
0.24%

2021 30

9.23

0.03
2.77
2.80

(1.70)
10.33

30.76%

14,519

1.01%
0.24%
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2019 2021 CovID-19
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2021 12 14

2021 10 2021 12 14 8,631,675
6,897,415 182,199
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
September 30, 2021

Assels
Investments in AB Cayman Master Trust-Global High Income Equity
Fund ("Master Fund™) (cost 338987 346) ... ... ... .. ........... 5 76,484 B53
Receivable for investment securities sold and foreign currency
ERDESCBORE . o e e i b R TR P D 820,239
Recervable frwnits sold . . _ .. .. ... ... ... ... .. ... ........ 287,944
Unrealized appreciation on forward foreign currency contracts, ‘ 1, 685
1 TE L R e R e R S P e di 77574 522
Liabilities
Dusi to Custodian (includes forelgn cumency svendraft of 3964 with a
O RN i e b mn b e, S AR S i R 1,400
Umnrealized depreciation on forward foreign currency contracts. . ..., .. 1,357 841
Payable for unfs redearmed. . . ... ... ..o ieiiiieiiiieaiaas 733,924
Payable for closed forward foreign currency contracts for share class
hedging. .. ... 178,008
P‘awblﬂnrmmbmmmrhn pumhn“d 175,285
B T S e 124,805
Investment Management feepayable . .. .. ...................... 12,187
AgentCompany feepavable. . .. ....... ... ... 0 iiiiiiiia, 3,208
Management feepayable .. ... ... ... ... ... i iiiiiiiiian 641
Accrued expenses and cther fiabiliies .. .. .. ... . ... .. . ..., 156, 788
el IR e o e e W 274810
IO AR . il iy e g s e i b e e e 3 74,830471
Net Asset
Value In
Units Net Asset Cffered
Class Net Assets Outstanding Value Cumency
ALY 5 SATIVIE 7, 205,340 3 748 AUD 10.32
ALBR ] 2070710 536,480 & 3,86 AUD 534
USBR H 4,503,733 1,154,740 $ 380 5 3.0
Uusus 5 14,518,643 1,404,840 % 10.53 5 10.33

Sof mobeg i nanca! Shelenenis

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUND {(NON JPY CURRENCY)
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended September 30, 2021

Investment Income

Dividend income distributions fom Master Fund ... ...... 3 1,154 335 $ 1,154,335
Expenses

Investment Managementfee. ., ... ................... 174,550

Managarnant a0 s sseh il s hal il wb L el 9,029

Eastr Bl e e e e S R e e 541 TAT

AgentCompany Fae . . ..._........crmvrarrrarerrnas 45 145

T Sl W T < s b e e e i 38,99

YOG M ) s b s S e 35,465

Profssionsl fees . ......cocnnveivnrvrarsarrarrrrans 28,836

Horninbeirabve S o0 ol T e i e e 23438

Miscallenmonis Wec: = ool naly s s el i gt 1,168

Total expenses. . 812763
Met investment income . . 241.572

Realized and l.'nreallzed Gain ILnssl nn lnvesiment ami
Foreign Currency Transactions
et realized gain (loss) on:

Investrment in Master Fund . 8,745,060

Foreign currancy tmnsu:hm: e i 1,038,225
Met change in unrealized ammhm.fdmnuuum on:

Investments in Master Fund . o 16,444 420

Fareign currency dmnrmatld ltsm and ﬁabliluls 271,651
Met gain on investrnent in Master Fund and fumm :unm:y

transactions. . ..... B 26,407,366
Net Increase in Net Assets from Opmllurﬁ s 5 26,738,938

Sob rokeg 1B inant! chablemenis

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUND (NON JPY CURRENCY)
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended
September 30, 2021
Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets from Operations
Netimestmentincame . . . _. ... . L. 5 241,572
Met realized gain on investment in Master Fund and foreign
curreney FANSACHONS. . . .. . .. .. .. c e 8,781,285
et change in unrealized appreciation/depreciation on
investment in Master Fund and foreign mrmnl:y
denorminated assets and liabilies. | ek T R 16,716,081
et increase in net assets from opﬂlﬂm SR 26,738 538
Distributions to Unithalders
Ot ALY o i s i i S e (4,318,155)
CAESE ALUBIR &y oo ni v s aoes o s w68 ke i (80,344}
Class USVBR . B N g R S ot SATT e (162.884)
Class USAIS . (2.127.548)
Tutul[hsmbuhmstut.lrﬂhddmi {6,698,929)
Unit Transactions
Subscriptions . | 16,676,562
Redemptions . . (46,848 985)
PR Ve e O S (30, 172423)
Total decrBasE. . ... ... . .. .v it ar i (10,132414)
Het Assets
Bl o Y. ooy vu e i b R e B4 962 835
e I i e R S 74,830,421

Sod foked B et ol is
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NMOTES TO FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2021

1. Organization

AB Civman Trust (the “Trust™ is an open-ended exempted umbrella umit trust egablished on November 1, 2010 and amended with a
supp lemental trust deed filed on August 9, 2011 under the Trusts Law (Revised) of the Cavman Tslands and commenced operations on
January 31, 2011, The Trust operates as a series rust curently comprised of two portfolics: Emerging Bond Fumd (Non JFY
Curency ) amd Global High Income Equity Fund (on JPY Curency). This report relates only to Global High Income Equity Fund
(Mon JPY Currency)d (the “Sub-Fund™), The registered office of the Sub-Fund & oo Intertrost Trustees (Cavinan) Limited (the
“Trusiee™) One Nexus Way Grand Cayman K'Y 1-9005, Cayman Lslands.

The Sub-Fund is regulated as a muomal find under the Mutal Funds Act (2021 Revision) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly is
regulated by the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority.

Currenthy the Sub-Fund has available for isswe four classes of Units (Mote 3), Class AUAT Units designated to Anstralian Dollar
(AU, Class ALVBR Units designated to Brazilian Real (BRL), Class US/BR Units designated to BRL and Class USUS Units
designated to United States (US) Dollars (30 Each curency in which the Units are offered 15 known as the offered currency
(Offered Currency™). The Offered Currency for Class ALUVAU and AUBR s AUD. The Offered Currency for Class US/BR. and
US/US is 115, 5,

AltianceBernstein L.P, gerves as Manager/ Investment Manager ¢the “ManagerTnvestment Manager™).

The Sub=Fund invests substantially all of its assets m the AB Cavman Master Trust - Global High Income Equity Fund (the “Master
Fumd™), a fund affiliated with the ManagerInvestment Mumager. The Master Fund has only one class of Units. The Sub-Fund's
investmenl objective (through its mvestment m the Master Fund), i5 to seek to maxmnize current meome and long-term growth of
capital by primarily nvesting in a diversified portfolio of global stocks across a range of industries. There can be no assumnce that
the Sub-Fund will achieve its investment objective or gemerate investment retums.

The Sub-Fund will terminate on Seplember 30, 2023, unless the ManagerTnvestment Manager determines in consultation with the
Tretee that it i= in the best mterest of Unitholders to terminate the Sub-Fund prior to such date,

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basts of Preparcadfon
These financial statements have been prepared m accordance with accoamting principles generally accepted in the United States of

America US. GAAP”) and are expressed m U5, 8. The Sub-Fund is an investment comparmy umder U8, GAAP and follows the
accounting and reporting guidance applicable to investment companies,

Valuation of Investrment
The Sub-Fund records its investmend in the Master Fund st fair value based on the net asset value per Unit. At Seplember 30, 2021,
the Sub-Fund cwned all of the issued shares outstanding of the Master Fund.

Forvward Forsign Curréncy Conliacts
Forward foreign currency contracts are valued af the difference between the forward foreign exchange rates at the dates of entry into
the contracts and the Forward rates al the reporting date,

Casle and Cash Fquiealenis
The Sub-Fund considers all highly ligusd mvestments, with original maturities of less than minety days, as cash equivalents,

Forsign Currency

Investment securities and other azsetz and liabilities dencmmated in foreign currencies are transkated into ULS, $ amounts at the date of
valeation, Purchases and sales of investment securities and income and expense iems denominated in foreign currencies are iransiated
into LLS. § mmounts on the respeciive dates of such transactions.

The Sub-Fund dees net isolate the portion of the resulis of operations resulting from changes m foreign exclinge rates on investments
from the fluctuations arsing from changes in marketl prices of securitics held. Such fluctuations are mcluded with the net realized
gain/{loss) and et change in unrealiz ed appreciation/depreciation on investments in the statement of operations,

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUND (NON JPY CURRENCY)
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Reported net realized gains or losses on forcign curmencies anise from sales of foreign currencies, currency gains or losses realized
between the trade and settlement dates on securities transactions, and the diference between the amounts of dividends and interest
recorded on the Sub-Fund's books and the U5, § equivalent of the amouts actually received or paid. Reported net unrealized foreign
exchange gains and losses anse from changes m the fair vahoes of axeets and lighilities, other than investments in securities, ad
securities sold, mot yet purchased at v ear-end, resulting from changes in exchange rates.

Rewenme Recognifon

Securities transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis. Dividend income and expense are recognized on the ex-dividend date and
interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis. Realized gains and losses on investment transactions are defermined
by the first i, first aal method. Discounts which are expected to be realized and premiums on mvestments are amortized over the
remaining life of the respective nvestments using the effective interest method. The moome and exgpense reflected in the gatement of
operations do not inchde those income and expenze ameunts eamed or incurred by the Master Fund,  Such amounts, to the extent they
have net been distribated by the Master Fund, are included in the value of the Sub-Fund’s imvestment in the Master Fund,

Allecation of Tncome and Expensyes

The Sub-Fund allocates income and expenses to each class and series pro rata based on the net ssset value per share of the applicable
class or serics at the begmning of the calculation periodl Profit and boss recognized through share class hedging specific to the
designated cumrency of each ¢ lass as descnibed in Mote 5 is allocated to each class,

Ineome Taves

In accordance with U.S, GAAP requirements regarding accounting for uncertainties n ingome taxes, management has analyzed the
Sub-Fund's tax positions taken for the open tax peniod and has concluded that ne provision for income ta is reguired in the Sub-
Fumd s financial statements.

The Sub-Fund is nod sulject to tax under current Cayiman Bslands tax laws but the Master Fund may be sulbject to taxes imposed by
coumtries in which it ivests, Such taves are generally based of income and'or capital gains earned or repatnated. Taxes are accred
and applied 1o net investment income, nel realized game and nel unrealized gain (loss) as such income and'or gams are camed.

Use of Extimales

The preparation of financial statements m confonmity with U_S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabalitics and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilites, if amy, at the date of the
financial staternents, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses recorded during the reposting year, Actual results could differ
froan those estimates and such differences could be material,

Indemnificaion and Warrantics

In the oedinary course of its busziness, the Sub-Fund has entered indo centracts or agreements that contain indemnifications or
warranties. Fulure events could occur that lead to the execution of these provisions against the Sub-Fund. The maximum exposure Lo
the Sub-Fund under these provisions 15 unknown as this would mvelve finbure claims that have not yet ecourred.

3. Unit Transactions

Description of Units

The numbrer of Units authorzed to be issued 15 unlimited and shall be without par value. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficml
interest in the Sub-Fund with the reault that the amount payable to a Unitholder upon termination of the Sub-Fund will equal its share
of the net asset value attributable to the relevant Class of Units divided by all Units of the Class then outstanding, All Units of a Class
comvey, upon issue, the same rights as to repurchase and distributions. Each of the Units has equal rights and privileges with each
other Unit, ncledng the right to one vote per Unit,

The Sub-Fund curently offers, and in the future may offer, without consent of the Unitholders, various Clazses of Units with differing
fee sructures and subseription requirements 1o meet the needs of certain classes of investors or Lo conform o market practice or

The Manager/Tnvestment Manager may, at any time at its discretion, temporariby discontinue, cease mdefinitely or it the issue of
Unita to investors resident or established in certam countries or territorics,  The ManagerTnvestment Manager may also prohibit
certain investors from acquiring Unitz if necessary for the profection of the Unitholders as a whole and each Sub-Fund,

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUND (NON JPY CURRENCY)
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Initial Subscription af Enits

Units were initially offered a3t AUD 10 per Class AUALU Unit and Class ALVBR Unit and LS. $10 per Class US/BR Unit and Class
US/MUIS Unit. The minimumn initial investment iz 100 Units and the minimum subsequent investment is 10 Units fior Class ALVAU,
Class ALBR, Class US/BR and Class LIS/US,

Subsequend Subseriptions of Units

Units will be available For purchase in the Offered Currencies at ther respective net assel valwes per Unit {plus mmy applicable sales
charge) on amy Dealing Dav. Dealing Day = each business diay (A day which 5 a Bank Business Day in the United Kingdom and
Japan and business day for the New York Stock Exchange andor amy other day which the ManagerInvestment Manager delermimes,
“Busness Dy ™)

Repurclace of Units
Unithelders may redeem their Units on amry Dealing Day by transmitting an arevocable repurclmsze order by facsimibe or mail 1o the
adminiztrator of the Sub-Fund.

The Mamager/Tivestment Manager will endeavor to ensure, for sy Dealing Dary, that an appropriate level of hquidity 1s mamtained in
resprect of cach class so that repurchase of Units mury, under monmal croumstances, be made promptly on such date to Unitholders
requesting repurchase. However, the Manager/Tnvestment Manager may limit the repurchase of Units i the event the relevant Sub-
Fumd receives, as of amy Dealmg Day, requests to redecm meore tham 1020 of the Units of the Sub-Fund outstanding as of such date, in
which caze Units of the Sub-Fund mary be redeemed on a pro rata basis. Ame part of a repurchisse request to which effect is not given
by reasen of the exercise of this power by or on behalf of the ManagenTivestment Manager will be treated as if a request has been
made in respect of the next Dealing Day and all following Dealing Davs (in relation to which the Manager/ Tnvestment Manager has
the same power) until the ongmal request has been satisfied in full. In addition, under cerlam circumstances, the Trustee, In
comsultation with the ManagerTnvestment Manager, may suspend the right of Unitholders to redeem Units.

Distribadions

The ManagerInvestment Manager intends (o declare a monthly distribwtion az of the 15h of each month (the “Record Date™), The
Manager/ Tnvestiment Manager intends to declare and pay monthly distributions from () realized and unrealized profits, meludmg (1)
dividend profits, (i) capital gains and (iii) profits attributable to the currency managament, and (b)) available capital, sttributable o the
relevant Class of Units.

The Manager/Investment Manager will determine if and to what extent distnibutions paid mclude realized and wnrealized profits
and'or are paid out of available capital, attributable to the relevant Class of Units,

Unit transactions for the year ended September 30, 2021 were a8 follows:

Wear Ended Wear Ended
Seplember 30, 2021 September 30, 2021
Class ALVAU
Units zald 1519200 & 11,124,085
Units redeemed (5,620 360) (43.165.936)
Net decrense (40000600  §  (32.041.851)
Class AU/BR
Units redecrmed (154630 & (374,378
MNet decrease (154.6200 5 (574.378)
Class US/BR
Units redeemed (2031300 8 (733.973)
Met decrease (203,13 8 (733.973)
Class LUS/US
LUnits sold 528310 S 5352477
Units redeeied (2303500 (2.3 74.608)
Nel Increase 198960 § 317777
Total amount of Unit transaciions: £ {30,172423)

The ManagerInvestment Mmager has appointed Mizuho Securities Co., Lid. as distnbutor (in this capacity, the “Distributor”) in
Japan. As of September 30, 2021 there was one mywvestor that individually owned 100% of the Sub-Fund's net assets. Transactions by
the Distributer and/or investors holding a significant percentage at the Sub-Fund can impact other investors.

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUND (NON JPY CURRENCY)
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4. Fees and Expenses

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant mfluence over the other
party in making financial or operational decisions.

Tristee Fees

The Trustee shall be entitled 1o recerve a fee of U5, S10.000 per anmurm payable o of the proceeds of subscription for the Units of
the Sub-Fund. The Trustes shall also be entitled to receive out of the assels of the Sub-Fund, a fee for extraordinary Trustee services
and army direct out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Trustee on behalfl of the Sub-Fund.

For the year ended September 30, 2021, the Sub-Fund incwred U.S, 59,938 of Trustee Fees expense, none of which was payable at
September 30, 2021,

Menager:Tauvestmend Managper Fee

The Manager/Investment Manager 15 entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Manager “Managerment
Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a fee equal to 0.01%% per anmurm of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund a5 of each Business Dy
in each month.

The ManagerInvestment Manager is entitled to be paid ot of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Investment Manager
(“Invedment Management Fee™) of the Sub-Fund 2 fee of 0. 19% per annum of the sversge of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund a of
cach Busmess Day m each month, Unitholders indirectly pay the fees and expenses related to the Master Fund including
Manager/Investment Manager Fee of 0.85% and other operating expenses inchuding, but not lenited to Admmistration Fee, Trustee
Fee and Custodian fee.

The Manager/Investment Manager shall alse be entitled to be reimbursed out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for amy out-of-pocket
expenzes and disbursements incured by the Managen Tivestment Mansger on behalf of the Sub-Fumnd,

For the vear ended September 30, 2021, the Sub-Fund mewrred U8, $171,550 and U8, 29,029 of lnvestment Managermeanil Fee and
Mamagement Fee expense, respectively, of which US. 512187 and US. 3641 were payable and included within Investment
Managemend fee payable and Management fee payable in the statement of assets and liabilities, respectively. Additionally, the Sub-
Fund incurred Investment Management and Management Fees of US. 8761,165 and U8, 89,062, respectively, through its mvestment
in the Master Fumd.

Admintirator and Trangler Ageni Fees

The Trustee entered into an administration agreement with Brown Brothers Harriman & Coo o act a8 Administrator and Transfer
Agent of the Sub-Fund (the “Administrator and Transfer Agent™). For #s find accounting administration services in respect of the
Sub-Fund. the Administrator and Transfer Agent is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee payable m US. 3
monthby in amears within 30 calendar days of the end of the relevant month. The fee for the fund accounting admimistration services is
1.5, 515,000 per anmon and other transactional charges. The fee for transfer agency services s US. 310,000 per anmum plus
115, §1,000 per Unit class and any other transactional charges. For the year ended September 30, 2021, the Sub-Fund incurred
115, 823,438 of administrative fees and 118 338,990 of transfer agency fees, respectively, of which U5, $2,375 and 115, $16,639
were payable and included within accmued expenses and other liabilities in the ststement of assets and liabilities. Additionally, the
Sub-Fund ncurred administrative and transfer agency fiees of US. 3200384 and U5, 319,638, respectively, through its mvestment in
the Master Fund.

Agest Company Fee

The Manager/Investment Manager haz appointed AllianceBernstein Japan Lt as the Agent Company in Japan. The Agent Cormnpay
iz entitled to be paid out of the aszets of the Sub-Fund for itz services as Agent Company (“Agent Company Fee) of the Sub-Fund a
fee of 0.05% per anmum of the average of the net azzet value of the Sub-Fund as of esch Business Day in each month.

For the year ended Seplember 30, 2021, the Sub-Fund mcurred U8, 545,145 of Agent Company Fees, of which U5 53 208 was
pavable and included within Agent Companny Fee payable in the statement of assets and habilities.

Distributor Fee

The Distributer is entitled to be paid ot of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Distributor (“Distribution Fee™) of the Sub-
Fusud a fee of .60 per annum of the average of the net azset value of the Sub-Fumd as of exch Business Day in each meonth. Other
Digtrbautors meny be appointed in the figure,
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For the year ended September 30, 2021, the Sub-Fund imcumred U5, 8541,737 of Distnbution Fees, of which 1.5 5124,805 was

pavable and included within Distribution Fee pavable in the statement of assets and labilities,

5, Derivative Financial Instruments

The Sub-Fund uses derivatives to eam income and enhiance retums, to hedge o adjust the nsk profile of its portfolic and s Unit
Classes, o replace more traditienal direct investments, or to obtain exposure to otherwise inaccessible markets

The Sub-Furd enters into denvatives which may represent off-balance sheet risk. Off-balance sheet nsk exists when the maxirmum
potential loss on a particular investment is greater than the value of such investrment as reflected in the statement of assels md

liabilities.

Certain derivative agreements allow coamterparties to over-dhe-counter derivalives to require collateral or terminate derivative
comracts prior to maturity in the event the Sub-Fund's met assets decline by a stated percentage or the Sub-Fund Bails to meet other
credit-risk contingent terme in the agreement, which would ciuse an accelerated payment of amy net Liability owed to the counterparty.

The principal types of derivatives utilized by the Sub-Fund, as well as the methods in which they may be used are:

Forward Forelgn Cwrrency Condrocis

Durmg the vear ended September 30, 2021, the Sub-Fund entered milo forward foretgn currency contracts to hedge exposure 1o the

designated cumrency of cach respective Unit Class versus the ULS. § as detailed below:

s Class AWAL: Buying AUD forward foreign currency contracts against the LS. £ in the AUD amount equal to the extent
possible 1o approximately 100% of the US. § exposure of the net asset valee (excluding unrealized currency gain or loss)

attributable to Class AUATL

o Class AUBR: Buyving BRL forward foreign currency contracts agunst the U8, 5, in the BRL amount equal to the extent
possible to approximately 100% of the U5, § exposure of the net asset value (excluding unrealized currency gain or loss)

attribastab le to Class ALVER.

= Clags US/BR: Buving BRL forward foreign currency conftracts against the ULS, £ in the BRL amount equal to the extent
possible to approximately 1008 of the 115, § exposure of the net assel value (excluding unrealized currency gain or loss)

attribastable to Class US/BER.
& Class US/AUIS: No forward foreign curmeney confracts,

A forward foreign currency confract 5 a commatment to purchase or sell a foreign currency at a future date at a negotisted forward

rate.

Fluctuations in the value of open forward foreign curmency contractz are recorded as umrealized appreciation or depreciation of forwarnd
foreign currency contracts @ the statement of assets and liabilities and as net change in wirealized appreciation/depreciation of foreign
currency denominated sssets and liabilities in the staternent of operations. The gain or loss arising from the difference between the
onginal contract and the clesing of such contract would be included in net realized gain or loss on foreign cumency ransactions in the

statement of operations.

Risks mimy arize from the potential inability of a counterparty to meet the tams of a conteact and from unanticipated movemments in the
value of a foreign currency relative to the UL, 5 The face or contract amount, m U5, % reflects the total exposure the Sub-Fund las

i that particular currency contracl.

Al September 34, 2021, the Sub-Fund had the following open forward foreign curmency contracts:

Forward Foreign Currency Contracs

U ealized

Appreciation’

%o of Nel Assefs (Depreciation)

Warious Appreciated Contracts 0,00 B 5 1,686
Warious Depreciated Contragts (1.81) %o (13578410
Total Forward Foreign Currency Contracis (1.81) %o $ (1.356.155)

* Amensil Fepresents kess there L0058 % af met e ts.
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The Sub-Fund typically enters into Imtemnational Swaps and Dernvatives Association, Inc. Master Agreements (“ISDA Master
Agreement”™y with its over-the-counter (“OTC") derivative contract coumterparties in order to, among ofher things, reduce its credit
risk to OTC counterparties, ISDA Master Agreements include provisions for general obligations, representations, collateral and events
of default or termamnation. Under an [3DA Master Agreement, the Sub-Fund tvpically may offeet with the OTC counterparty certain
derivative financial instrumment’s payables and/or receivables with collateral held and'or posted and create one single net payment
(close-oul netting) in the event of default or termimation. In the event of a default by an OTC counterparty, the refum of collateral with
marked value m excess of the Sub-Fund's net liability, held by the defaulting party, may be delayed or denied.

The Sub-Fund's ISDA Master Agrecments may contain provisions for early termmation of OTC denvative transactions in the event
the net assets of the Sub-Fund decline below specific levels (“net asset contingent features™). If these levels are triggered, the Sub-
Fumd's OTC counterparty las the right to termanate such transaction and require the Sub-Fund to pay o receive a settlement amount
in connection with the terminated transaction. I OTC derivatives were held at vear end, please refer to netting arrangements by the

OTC counterparty table below for additional details,

Durmng the vear ended September 30, 2021, the Sub-Fund had the following derivatives grouped by denivative type:

Mgl Derivatives Liakility Derivatives
Statement of Statement of
Aspets and Aszels amd
Liahilities Liabilities
Dierivative Type Location Fair Value Location Fair Walue
Foreign exchange conbracts, . .. ... 0000 oo o Unrealized Unrealized
apprecistion on depreciation on
forward fordgn forward foreign
curency contracts i 168G currency contracts 3 135784
ot e R R 1 GHG 1 1357 841
Realized Change in
Location of Guain or Coain or Unrealized
{Losx) on Derivietives Within (Lo} an Appredution or
Derivative Type Statement of Op erations Derivatives (Depredation)
Foreign exchange contracts, . .. .. ... _..... Wl realized gain (loss) on fordgn
ouTency Irnsadions, MNel ﬂm:g,&in
unrealized spprecistiondepreciaion o
fordgn currency denomminated ssets
aned lishilitics 3 101 (2 i 173533
ol R D R i 1 JKEL fre2 5 173533

For financial reporting purposes, the Sub-Fund does not offset derivative assets and derivative liabilitics that are subject to netting

arvangerrents in the datement of assetz and liabilities.

All OTC derivatives held at vear end were subject to netting arrangements. The following table presents the Sub-Fumd's derivative
assets and labilities by OTC counterparty net of amounts available for offset under ISDA Master Agreements ("MA™) and net of the
related collateral received/pledged by the Sub-Fund as of Seplember 30, 2021, Exchange-traded derivatives and centrally cleared

swaps are not subject to netting arrangements amd as such are excluded from the table,

Diewhnifor Avwris Devhaiboes Availabile Callaieral Nl Amaund of
Csmanrparey Suhpeed o a MA Bag DTt i A, b i L5 Ry ol © Ehervmibve Amrts
Brown Brothers Hamman & Co i I4kE 5 {1 608 ¥ -0 § Ul i L]
Tedal I3 FIET i3 (L Ake I3 0. 3 [ i A1
Derivatke Lisbilicks Derhraives Avallabvle ol ] N Amaunt of
Cammierp SubjecinaMA Ear OHfwet Ml Amnanix Pl Dherivwthve 1. fsh {liis:
Browe Brothers Humme & Co 1 LILF H [LAES) [} 1,310, 155 ¥ 0. [ 1,300,335
Citiank, M AL 400 ) ASETS 0 sEAT0
TR s s i s st b LI T R4 b {1 %8 i LASe pas 3 0l b | V6 155

*Thee ot colietterda receivedpledged meny be more Hem the ammoieil reported due o overcollateralization,
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6. Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with U5, GAAP regarding far value measurermnents, fair value 15 defmed as the price that the Sub-Fund would receive
1o sell an assel or pay o transfer a liability m an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U5, GAAP
establishes a framework for measuring far value, and a three-level hierarchy for far value measurements based upon the transparency
of inputs to the valuation of an asset or liability, Inputs may be observable or unobservable and refer broadly to the assurmnptions that
mark el participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Ob=ervable mputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use m pricing the asset or lisbility based on market data obtamed
froam sources idependent of the Sub-Fund. Unobservable mputs reflect the Sub-Fimd's own assumptions about the assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the asset or linbility based on the best information available in the circumstances. Each
investment is assigned a level based upon the observability of the inputs which are significant to the overall valuation.

The three-tier hierarchy of inputs 1= semmarized below:

« Level | - quoted prices m active markets for identical mvestments

e Level 2 — ather significant observable mputs (nechiding quoted prces for amilar mvestments, interest rates, prepayment
speeds, credit risk, etc.)

e Level 3 - significant unobservable mputs (including the Sub-Fund’s own assumptions n determining the far value of
investments)

The Sub-Fund uses the met assel wvalue as a practical expedient to determine the fair value of the Master Fund. The
Manager/Investment Manager reserves the right to adjust the reported net asset value if it i deemed to be not reflective of fair vale.
Because of the inherent umeertamty of valuation of investments in the Master Fund their etimated values may differ sigmficanthy
from the values that would have been used had a ready mardet for the Master Fund exisied, and ihe difference could be material

The follewing table ssrmmanizes the vahiation of the Sub-Fund's imvestments following the fair value hierarchy levels as of Septernber
30, 2020

Invesimenis in Securities Level 1 Lewel 2 Level 3 Total
Oiher Finmmcial [nstrumenis®;
Asmels

Forward Foredign Cwmency Contracta, ... ... ... . i 0= i 1,685 5 - 5 14666
Liubilities

Forward Foregn Curency Contracts . .. ... . ... - {1 357 8dl) - (1357 B41)
ol o SN s A T e 5 Al 5 (1386188 b - § (LAS6NEE
Imvestmenfeal NAY . ... o i T AB4.653
Total Investonents .. . ... ....oo.ii.iiiaanann §  T5128.498

* Other fineicial insiruments e devivative iastriments, sucl as fures, Brwards and svaps, wiiich are valued of the wwealized
appreciaiondepreclation on the indrument. Ctler Snancial Dstripnents wen aleo Ineliele swaps witl g front preRlmis, optioe
written and swaplions writie n wiich cre valed of market vedie,

The Sub-Fund's imvestment in the Master Fund exceeds 5% of net assets and the Sub-Fund 1= able to redeem from the Master Fund on
a daily basie, As of Septeswber 30, 2021, the Mazter Fund has no redanption restrictions. In addition, the Sub-Fissd through its
investmient in the Master Fund did not held amy mvestment that exceeded 526 of the Sub-Fund's net assets. The Master Fund's
investmenl obpective 15 1o seek o maxrnize current income and long-temm growth of capital by prumarily ivestmg n a diversified
portfolio of global stocks across arange of industries.

7. Financial Highlights
The fmancial lighlights represent the Sub-Fund’s financial performance for the vear ended September 30, 2021

The per share operating performmnce and ratios are computed based wpon the average Units outstanding and average nel assels,
respectively, for the year ended September 30, 2021

Unitholder's performance may wary based on timing of Unit transactions and currency management specific to the designated
currency of each respective Unit Class. Total retum 15 computed based on the change m the net asset value per unit dunng the year,
i luding reinvestrnents of distributions. Total imvestment retum is based on net asset value of offered currency.

Ratio of operating cxpenses to average net assets does not include any expense of the Master Fund,

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUND (NON JPY CURRENCY)
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Class AUJAL
Year Ended
September 30,
2021

Mot asset value, beginning of

year . i 56.08
Income Frum Inmm

Operations
Mot investment income . . ... . 0.02
Met realized and unrealized

gain on investmeant and

foreign currency transactions 1.88
Met increase in net asset value

Fomoperations . .. ... ... 1.80
Less: Distributions
Distributions to Unitholders _ . . jﬂ.ﬁgt
Met asset value, end of year , . 57.46
Total Retum

Total investment retumn based

on net asset value in Ofered

Currency . . z 20.70%"*
Hﬂlnﬂﬁl.lpﬂﬂmml:d nalu
Mt assets, ond of year (000's

omitted) . 63,737
Ratio to mramga net aszats of:

Expenses . R 1.01%

Mt |mr-ash11mt mllma ..... 0.28%

* Tl retnrst Deesed on reporting clrrency is L7735

Year Ended
Seplember 30,
2021

Met asset value, beginning of

MR - e s B T §2.04
Income From Investment

Operations
Net irmvestment income ., . ., . 0,01
et realized and unrealized

gain on investment and

foreign currency transactions 1.05
et increase in net asset value

Fom operations . .. ... .... 1.06
Less: Distributions
Distributions to Unitholders . . . (0143
Met asset value, end of year . . §186
Total Retum
Total imvestrent return based

on netassetvalue ., ... ... 35.09%*
Ratlos/Supplemental Data
et azsets, end of year (000's

omitted} . 52071
Ratio to mramga nEt m;sah' nF

Expenses ,............. 1.01%

Met imestment income. . ., . 0.25%

* Total retirn based on reporting currency i 3650 %

EDINETOOOO

o o {02225 )

Ooooooooooooooooooad

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUMD (NON JPY CURRENCY)
13

120/310



Year Ended
September 30,
2021

Mot asset value, beginning of

year . i 52,86
Income Frum Inmm

Operations
Mot investment income . . ... . 0.01
Met realized and unrealized

gain on investmeant and

foreign currency ransactions 1.06
Met increase in net asset value

Fomoperations . .. ... ... 1.07

Less: Distributions
Distributions to Unitholders _ . . {013

Met asset value, end of year . . $3.90

Total Retum
Total investrment return based
on netassetvalue. . ... ... 36.50%
RatiosiSupplemental Data
et assets, end of year (D00's
omitted) ............... 54.504
Ratic to average net assets of
Expenzes . . 1.01%
Met lmﬂrﬂnﬂt income, 0.24%

Class US/US

Year Ended
September 30,
2021

Het asset value, beginning of

NRE s e $9.23
Income From Investment

Operations
et investment income . . . _ . . 0.03
Het realized and unrealized

gain on investment and

foreign currency transactions 2.77
et increase in net asset value

Fomoperations . . . ..., ... 2.80
Less: Distributions

Distributions to Unitholders . . . 1.70)
et asset value, end of year . . 510.33

Total Retum
Total investrment return based
on net asset value . : 30.76%
Rwusa'mpplunental Data
Mt assets, and of year (000's

omitted) . 514,518
Ratio to mramga net arggalx nF

Expenses . . WA T 1.04%

Met |mr-ash11mt income. . ... 0.24%

B. Risks Involved in Investing in the Sub-Fund

Cirrency Risk
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Underlying investments of the Master Fund may be denommated in one or more currencies different than that in which the Sub-Fund
i denominated. This means currency movemnends in such underfyving imvestiments mary significantly affect the net asset value in respect
of the Sub-Fund's Units. Invesimenis by the Master Fund thal are denomimated i a particular currency are subject to the nsk that the
value of swch cumency will change in relation to one or more other cumencies. Among the factors that may affect curency values are
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trade balances, the level of short-term imteredt rates, differences in relative values of similar assets in different currencies, long-term
opportunities for investreent and capital appreciation and political developments. The Master Fund is not limited in the percentage of
its azsets that may be denominated in currencics ofher than the 115, £

Conntry Risks

The Master Fund invests in securities of issuers located in vanous couniries and geographic regions. The economies of individual
coumiries may differ Gavorsbly or unfavorably from each other in such respects as growth of gross domestic prodiect or gross naticnal
product, rale of mflation, capital reinvestment, resource self-sufficiency and balance of payments position. lssuers in general are
subject bo varying degrees of regulation with respect to such matters as insider trading rules, resirictions on markel manipulation,
Unitholder proxy requirements and tmeely disclosure of mformation. The reporting, accownting and auditing standards of issuers may
differ, in some cazes significantly, from country to country = important respects and less informeation from country to coumtry may be
available to investors in securities or other assels. Mationalization, expropriation or confiscatory taxation, currency blackage, political
changes, govemment regulation, political or social instability or diplomsatic developments could affect adversely the economy of a
coumtry or a fimd's iwvestments in such country. In the evend of expropriation, naticsalization or other confiscation, a fumd could lose
its entaire investment i the country mvelved In addition, laws in countries govemning busmess orgamzations, bankruptey and
inenlvency may provide limited protection Lo security holders such as the Master Fune

The Master Fund may trade its securities in a variety of markets with manny differenst brokers and dealers. The failure of a broker or
dealer may result in the complete loss of the Master Fund's assets on deposit with such broker or dealer depending on the regulatory
rules governing such broker or dealer. In addition, brokerage commiezions in certain countries may be higher than in others, and
sgourities markets n cerlam countries may be less liquid, more volatile and less subject to govemmental supervision than in others,

The securitics markets of many countries are also relatively small, with the majonty of market capitalzation and trading volume
concentrated in a limited number of companies representing a small number of industries. Consequently, a fund invested i equity
securities of companies in such countries may experience greater price volatility and significantly lower Biquidity than a fumd invested
golely in equity securities of companies in cotmtries with relitively larger securities markets, These analler markets mav be subject to
greater influence by adverse events generally affecting the market. and by large investors trading significant blocks of securilies,
Securibies seltlaments my i soime mstaces be subject 1o deliy s and related administrative uncertanties,

Certan coundries require govemmmental approval pnior to investments by foreign persons or limit mvestment by foreign persons to onby
a specified percentage of an 1ssuer's outstanding securitics or a specific class of sccurities that may have less advamageous terms
{including price) than secumitics of the company availlable for purchase by naticnals. These restrictions or controls may at bimes limit
or preclude mvestment in certain securitics and may increase the costs and expenses of the Master Fund, Tn addition, the repatriation
of investment income, capital, or the proceeds of sales of securities from certain countries is controlled under regulations. including in
some cases the need for centain advance govemment notification or authority, IF deterioration occurs in a country’s balance of
paymenis, the country could impose temporary restrictions on foreign capital remiitances. The Master Fumnd also could be adversely
affected by delavs in, or a refusal to gramt, any required governmental approval for repatniation, as well az by the application of other
restnictions on investment. Investing in lecal markets may require the Master Fund fo adopt special procedures that may mvelve
additional costs to the Master Fund. These factors may affect the liquidity of the Master Fund's investments in any country and the
Manager/Tnvesiment Manager will monitor the effect of amy such factor or factors on the Master Fund's investmenis.

Derteatives Risk

The Sub-Fund may use derivatives, which are financial contracts whose value depends on, or are derived from, the value of an
undertying asset, reference rate, or index. The ManagerInvestment Manager will sometimes wse derivatives as part of a drategy
designed to reduce other risks. Generally, however, the Sub-Fund or Master Fund may use derivatives as direct investments bo eam
income, hedge currency exposure, enhance vield and broaden portfiolio diversification. In addition to other risks such as the credit risk
of the cotmterparty, derivatives involve the risk of difficuities in pricing and valuistion and the nisk that changes in the value of the
dervative may not correlate perfectly with relevant underlying assets, rales, or indices.

Cross-Clasy Liabdiyy Rik

The Sub-Fund may enter into currency derivative transactions mcluding forward foreign curmency contracts in respect of a particular
Unit Class m order to reduce exposure to the relevant Offered Cumrency versus the base currency of the Sub-Fund. Although the Sub-
Fund will typically enter into forward foreign cuerency comtracts with only those counterparties that agree to limit ther recourse to the
particular Unit Class on behalf of which such forward foreign cumrency contract was entered, given that there is no legal segregation of
liabilities between the various Unit Classes within the Sub-Fund, there is a risk that, under cetain circumstances, currency derivative
transactions in relation to 3 particular Desgnated Currency in respect of a particular Unit Class could result in liabilities which might
affect the met aszed value of the olher Unit Clagses of the Sub-Fund, in which case assets of the other Unit Classes of the Sub-Fund
mary be used to cover the lisbilities inoered by the Unit Class,

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUND (NON JPY CURRENCY)
14

122/310



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Muarkei Risk

Market risk is the potential for changes i the value of investment positions due to market changes, including interest and curmency
rate moverents as well as fluctuations in the prices of investment pesitions. Market risk is directly impacted by the volatility and
ligueidity of the markets in which the underlying financial instruments are traded, The Master Fund attenpts to manage market risk in
various ways, including through diversifying exposures, placing limitations on position sizes and hedging in related securities or
dervative financial metruments, The ability to mamage market rigk may be constramed by changes m liquidity conditions, relative
prices, volatilities and correlations between investment positions mand the instruments used Lo hedge such investiment positions.

Beginning late in 20019 and continuing inte 2021, the cutbreak of a novel coronavirus, which causes the disease known as COVID-19,
expanded into a global pandemic. Growing tumnodl from the spread of this coronavirus, and the potential for an enduring and
significant adverse impact on global economies, have driven sharp increase in volatility across markets and a strong flight to a quality.
The Sub-Fund’s management will continue to monitor the evalving situation and its impact on the financial position of the Sub-Fund,

Credit Risk

Credit risk i the risk that counterparties may Fail to fulfill their obligations or that the collateral vale becormes madequate. The Sub-
Fumd and Master Fund atternpt to mmirmize their credit sk by momtonng the credit exposure with, and the credit worthiness of,
coumterpartics,

(N Badance Sheei Risk

The Sub-Fund and Master Fund may enter mto investment ransactons which may present off-balance sheet risk. OF balance sheat
risk exists when the maximum potential loss on a particular investment 15 greater than the value of such mvestment, as reflected in the
statement of assets and babilities. Off-balance sheet risk generally arises from the use of derivative financial Instruments.

9. Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated the possbility of subsequent events existing in the Sub-Fumnd's financial statements up to December 14,
20021, the date the financial statements were available o be issued.

From October 1, 2021 to December 14, 2021, the Sub-Fund receved US. $8.631.675 of Unit subscriptions, paid U8, 36,897 415 of
Unit redemptions md paid distributions totaling U8, $182, 199,

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUMD (NON JPY CURRENCY)
15

123/310



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 30
2020 30
87,409,118 10,090,509
67,356,231 7,775,603
2,210 262 2,312 267
1,059,274 122,283
67,003 7,735
28,357 3,274
338 39
88,566,402 10,224,105
260,535 30,076
1,630,026 188,170
1,292,189 149,170
135,047 15,590
97,993 11,312
13,476 1,556
3,545 409
709 82
170,047 19,630
3,603,567 415,996
84,962,835 9,808,110
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68,707,294 7,931,570 11,306,500 6.08 702
2,032,959 234,685 691,110 2.94 339
4,019,006 463,954 1,357,870 2.96 342

10,203,576 1,177,901 1,105,880 9.23 1,066

8.48 685
4.11 332
2.96 342

9.23 1,066
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2020 30

1,160,305 133,946
923 107
1,161,228 134,052
152,717 17,630
8,038 928
482,265 55,673
45,097 5,206
40,189 4,639
35,136 4,056
26,458 3,054
18,025 2,081
14,661 1,692
4,438 512
827,024 95,472
334,204 38,581
382,896 44,202
1,573,850 181,685
(8,075,089) (932,188)
(937,679) (108,246)
(7,056,022) (814,547)

(6,721,818) (775,967)
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2020 30

334,204 38,581
1,956,746 225,887
(9,012,768) (1,040,434)
(6,721,818) (775,967)
(796,201) (91,913)
(261,614) (30,201)
(414,107) (47,805)
(210,877) (24,344)
(1,682,799) (194,262)
29,938,512 3,456,102
(20,447,763) (2,360,490)
9,490,749 1,095,612
1,086,132 125,383
83,876,703 9,682,727

84,962,835 9,808,110
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2010 11

190

2020

2023

30

30

128/310

2011

EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018
2011
31

1-9005



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 30

90
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2020 30
2020 30 2020 30
4,937,680 28,483,051
(2,510, 320) (15,791,413)
2,427,360 12,691,638
55,000 160,446
(151,030) (530,419)
(96,030) (369,973)
14,000 38,500
(187,530) (767,838)
(173,530) (729,338)
133,030 1,256,515
(350,740) (3,358,093)
(217,710) (2,101,578)
9,490,749
2020 30 100
10,000
2020 30 18,025 2020

30 42
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0.01
0.19
0.85
2020 30
13,476
675,385
30
15,000
10,000
2020 30
35,136
8,691
0.05
2020 30
3,545
2020 30

135,047
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152,717 8,038
709
8,040
1,000
26,458
6,563
22,241 25,036
40,189
0.60
482,265
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2020 30

2020 30

0.00* 338
(1.92) (1,630,026)
(1.92) (1,629,688)

* 0.005
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338 1,630,026
338 1,630,026
1,575,436 (939,724)
1,575,436 (939,724)
2020 30
*
338 (338) 0 0 0

338 (338) 0 0 0
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2020

30

1,549,019 0 1,549,019 0 1,549,019
81,007 (338) 80,669 0 80,669
1,630,026 (338) 1,629,688 0 1,629,688
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0 338 0 338
0  (1,630,026) 0  (1,630,026)
0  (1,629,688) 0  (1,629,688)
87,409,118
85,779,430

2020 30

2020 30

2020 30
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2020

30

6.64

0.03
(0.51)

(0.48)

(0.08)

6.08

7.20

(12.66)% *

68,707

1.03%
0.41%

2020

30

4.86

0.02
(1.59)

(1.57)

(0.35)

2.94

33.46

139/310
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2,033

1.03%
0.43%

2020

30
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4.81

0.02
(1.58)
(1.56)

(0.29)
2.96

(33.47)%

4,019

1.03%
0.44%

2020 30

10.35

0.04
(0.98)
(0.94)

(0.18)
9.23

(9.14)%

10,204

1.03%
0.42%
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2019 2020 CovID-19
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2020 12 17

2020 10 2020 12 17 3,782,965
7,462,307 358,528
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
September 30, 2020

Assels
Investments in AR Cayman Master Trust-Global High Income Equity

Fund ("Master Fund™) (cost 367 356.231) . ... ... coiieeiiunn e % 87,400,118
Foreign currencies, st value (cost S2270). .. ... ... covciaiiaanns 232
Recenvable BOr Unis SO0, .o oou oot st oo r et e e e 1,058,274
Receivable for closed forward foreign currency conlracts for share class

hedging . H 67,003
Receivable Enr lwas‘i:mnt mnurrhas gﬂld and brﬂg G‘I’.IFrEﬂc]'

R PRIRO RS 5 5 imian @ o i o A o R o 28,357
Unrealized q:nwa'hm on forward hmgﬂ currency contracks _ . . ... .. 338
Total assets. . e B8 566402
Liabilities
CP 0 ORI o o i o i i 260,535
Unrealized depreciation on forward foreign currency contracts ., . ... .. 1,620,026
Payable for imvestment securiies purchased . . .. . ... ... ._.....__ 1,252,189
Distribution feepayable _ ... ... ... .. 136,047
Payable forunfs redeemead . .. ... ... ... ... . iiaiice i iaas 87,893
Investment management fee payable. . ... ..... .. ... .. ... ... 13478
Agent Company fee payable ... .. ... ool iiai i iiiaaaa i i 3,545
Managemant fes pavalile . . . ......oininiiii it i e i i 09
Accrued upmu: and cther Babilitbes . ... ........0000ieianae. 170,047
Total liabilities . i 3,803,567
NetASSEIS. ... ... oo e B B4 962,835

Met Asset
Value In
Units Net Asset Offered

Class Met Assets  Outstanding Value Currene
ALLAL 2 68,707,254 11,306,500 5 6.08 AUD B8
ALNBR 3 2032989 591,110 5 284 AUD 4.11
USBR 3 4 019,008 1,357 870 5 206 5 2.965
usus 5 10203578 1,105,880 5 223 3% 9.23

Sa Sl 0 Imancal shatanents
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STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended September 30, 2020

Investment Income

Dwvidend income distributions fom Master Fund .. ... . .... $ 1,180,305

bt e e R R e e e H523 5 1,161,228
Expenses

Irvestment management fese ... ...... ... 00000 182,717

Menagement fee. . .. ... ... ... ... it 8038

Drigtribution f88 . . .. ... ... 452 265

Profatsiondl Red ... ... ... .0civeiviiiiiiiainanns 45 0a7

AgentCompanmy f@e . ... ... ... o iiiiiiar oy 40,189

Transheragency fed . ......ccoovinrrinmiincranes 35,136

Ackrrinkelralive fal . L Lo e R 26,458

To T, o e i e e e e 18,025

Printing fee. . 14,861

Mrﬁﬂlan-mhi 4,438

Total expenses. . B27.024
Met investment income . 334204

Realized and Unrealized Gain anss} on Investment and
Foreign Currency Transactions
et realized gain (loss) on:

Investrment in Master Fund . 382,896

Faoreign currency tmnsamnns TP 1,573.850
Met change in unrealized appmmtlm.fclmnuuuun o

Investrnents in Master Fund . Giis (8,075 088)

Foreign currency dam:malad ugsats a.nd Ftuhti:-e's {937.679)
Met loss on investment in Master Fund and fumm cmncy

fransactions. i (7,056, 022)
Nét Decrease ln Hemssm rmm ann-s .......... 5 (6,7 21,818)

5o Aorlad ko inancal stealements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Year ended
September 30, 2020
Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets from Operations
Netimestment incame . ... ... ... oL Lo, 5 334,204
Met realized gain on investment in Master Fund and I’l:ralg'l
currancy transactions . . A 1,956,746
et change in unrealized appq'alutlm.l‘:hpmmuhm on
imvestment in Master Fund and foreign curmency
denominated assets andliabilites . .. ... ... ........ 0127
et decrease in net assets Fomoperations .. ... ... ... .. {6,721,818)
Distributions to Unithoiders
Elai MUY L U e s e R {796,201
CABSE AR . & e e waw m e bl minw e alaca 5 o (o] {261,614)
IR LR, oy i i e s e e s e e o {414,107y
Class USAUS. . (20877
Total Distributions ln Undhddar: ..................... {1,682 7o)
Unit Transactions
Subseriptions . 29,938,512
Redemptions . (20,447 763)
Total Unit Transactions . 9,490 749
Tnmlln:m.w 1,086,132
Het Assets
Baginmng of YA ... oov v i i s il iai i e B3 B7E, 703
I o s B R R B B4 962,835

Sod Aorlad o inancal stalements
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2020

1. Qrganization

AB Cayman Trust (the “Trust™ is an open-ended exempted umbrella umit trust established on November 1, 2010 and amended with a
supplemental trust deed filed on August 9, 2011 under the Trust laws (2018 Revision) of the Ciovman Islands and commenced
operations on January 31, 2011, The Trust operates a3 a serics st currently comprized of two portfolics; Emenging Bond Fund (Won
JPY Cwrvency b and Global High Income Equity Fund (Nen JPY Currency). This report relates only to Global High Incame Equity
Fumd (Mon JPY Currency ) (the “Sub-Fund”), The registered office of the Sub=-Fund i oo Intertrust Trustees (Cavman) Limiated (the
“Trusiee™) 190 Elgin Avenue Grand Cayman K 1-8005, Cayman Islands.

The Sub-Fund 15 regulated a5 a mutual finmd under the Mutual Funds Law, as amended. modified, re-enacted or replaced of the
Cayman Iskands and accordingly 15 regulated by the Cayman [slands Monetary Authornty.

Currently the Sub-Fund has available for ssue four classes of Units (Nole 30, Class ALUVAL Units designated to Australian Dol lar
(AUD), Class ALVBR Units designated io Brazilian Real (BRL), Class US/BR Uniis designated to BRL and Class US/US Units
designated to United States (US)) Dollars (30 Each currency in which the Units are offered 5 known as the offered currency
(Offered Currency’™), The Offered Currency for Class ALVAU and AUBR s AUD. The Offered Currency for Class US/BR and
USUS is LS &

AllianceBemstein L. P, serves as ManagenTnvestment Manager (ihe “ManagerTrvestment Manager'™),

The Sub=Fund invests substantially all of itz assets in the AB Cavman Master Trust - Global High Income Equity Fumd (the “Master
Fund™), a fund affilisted with the ManagerInvestment Manager. The Master Fund has only one class of Units. The Sub-Fumd's
investmenl objective (through its investment in the Master Fund), 1= to seek to maxmnize current mcome and long-term growth of
capital by primarily nvesting in a diversified portfolio of global stocks across a range of industries. There can be no assurance that
the Sub-Fund will achieve its investment objective or generate investiment retums.

The Sub-Fumid will terminate on September 30, 2023, unless the ManagenTrvestment Manager determines m consultation with the
Trestee that it i= in the best interest of Unitholders o terminate the Sub-Fund prior to such date.

2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis gf Preparation
These financial statements have been prepared m accordance with accoamtng principles generally accepted m the United States of

America (U5, GAAF”) and are expressed in U5, 5. The Sub-Fund is an investment comparmy under U.5. GAAP and follows the
accounting and reporting guidance applicable Lo investment companies.

Valreatfon of Tnvestient
The Sub-Fund records its investment m the Master Fund st fair vabse based on the net asset vablue per Unil At September 30, 2020,
the Sub-Fund cwned all of the issued shares outstanding of the Master Fund.

Forvward Foreign Curréncy Corliacts
Forward foreign currency contracts are valued at the difference between the forward foreign exchange rates ot the dates of entry into
the contracts and the Forward rates al the reporting date.

Caste and Cosh Fquivalenis
The Sub-Fund considers all highly liguid imvestments, with original maturities of less than ninety diyvs, as cash cquivalents,

Foreign Curvency

Investment secunities and other azsets and Liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are iranslated mio U5, 8 amounts at the date of
valation, Purchases and sales of investment securities and income and expense ems denominated in foreign currencies are transiated
into LS. § mmounts on the respective dates of such transactions.

The Sub-Fund dees not isolate the portion of the resulis of operations resubting from changes in foreign exchange rates on nvestments
from the fluctuations arising from changes in markel prices of securitics held. Such fluctuations are mcluded with the net realized
gain/{loss) and pet change in unrealized appreciation/depreciation on nvestments in the statement of operations.

AB CAYMAN TRUST-GLOBAL HIGH INCOME EQUITY FUND (NON JPY CURRENCY)
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Reported net realized gains or losses on forcign curmencies anise from sales of foreign currencies, curmency gains or losses realized
between the trade and settlement dates on securities transactions, and the difference between the amounts of dividends and interest
recorded on the Sub-Fund's books and the U5, § equivalent of the amouts actually received or paid. Reported net unrealized foreign
exchange gaing and losses anse from changes in the fair vahoes of et and lighilities, other than investments in securities, and
securities sold, mot yet pirchased at v ear-end, resulting from changes in exchange rates,

Rewentie Recognition

Securities transactions are recorded on a trade-date basis. Dividend income and expense are recognized on the ex-dividend date and
interest income and expense are recognized on an accrual basis. Realized gains and losses on investment transactions are determuimned
by the first i, first el method. Discounts which are expected to be realized and premiums on mvestments are amertized over the
remaining life of the respective nvestments using the effective interest method. The income mnd expense reflected i the statement of
operations do not include those income and expense amoeunts eamed or incurred by the Master Fund, Such smounts, to the extent they
eave ned been distribuwted by the Master Fund, are included in the value of the Suby-Fused's investient in the Master Fund,

Altecation of Income and Expenyes

The Sub-Fund allocates income and expenses o each class and series pro rata based on the net asset value per share of the applicable
class or serics at the begmning of the calculation pericdl Profit and boss recognized through share class hedging specific to the
designated cumrency of each ¢ lass as described in MNote 5 is allocated to each class,

Income Taxves

In accordance with ULS, GAAP requirements regarding accounting for uncertainties in ingome taxes, management has analyzed the
Sub-Fund’s tax positions taken for the open tax period and has conchuded that no provision for meome tax is required in the Sub-
Fumd s fimancial statements.

The Sub-Fund is nod sulject to tax under curment Cayvman Bslands tax laws bt the Master Fund may be subject to taxes imposed by
coumtries in which it ivests, Such taves are generally based of income and'or capital gaine eamed or repatriated. Taxes aie accred
and apphied to net investment income, net realized gains and et unrealized gain (loss) as such income and/or gains are eamed,

Use gf Extimales

The preparation of fmancial statements in condormty with U8, GAAP requires management to mike estimates amd assmmptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilitics and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilites, if amy, at the date of the
financial staternents, and the reporfed amounts of revenues and expenses recorded during the reportmg year, Actual results could differ
froem those estimates and such differences could be material.

Indemuificaion and Warrantics

In the cedinary course of its business, the Sub-Fund has entered info contracts or agreemenis thal contain mdemnifications or
warranties. Fulure events could occur that lead to the execution of these provisions against the Sub-Fund. The maxmmum exposure Lo
the Sub-Fund under these provisions is unknown as this would mvelve fiubure ¢ laims that have net vet ocourred.

3. Unit Transactions

Description of Units

The numbrer of Units authorized to be issued is unlimited and shall be without par value. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial
interest in the Sub-Fund with the result that the amount payable to a Unitholder upon termination of the Sub-Fund will equal its share
of the net asset value attributable to the relevant Class of Units divided by all Units of the Class then outstanding. All Units of a Class
convey, upon issue, the same rights as to repurchase and distributions. Each of the Units has equal rights and privileges with cach
other Unit, incleding the right to one vote per Unit,

The Sub-Fund currently offers, and in the future may offer, without consent of the Unithelders, various Clazses of Units with differing
fee @tmctures and subseription requirements to meet the needs of centain classes of investors or Lo conform 1o market practice or
requirements in certain jurisdictions.

The Manager/Tnvestment Manager may, at any time at its discretion, temporarity discontime, cease indefinitely or lmit the issue of
Unita to investors resident or established m certain countries or territorics,  The ManagenTnvestment Manager may also profibit
certam investors from acquiring Unitz if necessary for the protection of the Unitholders as a whole and each Sub-Fund,
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Initial Subscription of Fndrs
Units were initially offered a3t AUD 10 per Class AUALU Unit and Class ALVBR Unit and LS. $10 per Class US/BR Unit and Class

LSS Urnit. The minimamn initial investment i 100 Units and the mininmun subsequent investment is 10 Uniats for Class ALVALL
Class ALVBR, Class US/BR and Class US/US,

Subsequent Subscriptions of Unity

Units will be available For purchase in the Offered Currencies at their respective net asset values per Unit (plus amy applicable zales
charge) on amy Dealing Day. Dealing Day 15 each business day (A day which is a Bank Business Day in the United Kingdom and
Japan and business day for the New York Stock Exchange andor amy other day which the ManagerInvestment Manager detenmines,
“Buziness Day™ L

Repuerehase of Units
Unitholders mey redeem their Units on any Dealing Day by transmitting an irevocable repurchase order by facsimile or mail 1o the
adminiztrator of the Sub-Fund.

The Manager/Tivestment Manager will endeavor to ensure, for sy Dealing Day, that an appropriate level of hguidity 15 maintamed in
resprect of cach class so that repurchase of Units mary, under momal circumstances, be made promptly on such date to Unitholders
requesting repurchase. However, the Manager/Investment Manager may limit the repurchase of Units i the event the relevant Sub-
Fumud receives, as of iy Dealmg Day, requests to redeem more than 102 of the Units of the Sub-Fund outstanding as of such date, in
which casze Units of the Sub-Fund may be redeerned on a pro rata bagis. Ame part of a repurchisse request to which effect is not given
by reasen of the exercise of this power by o on behalf of the ManagenTivestment Manager will be treated as if’ a mequest has been
made in respect of the next Dealing Day and all following Dealing Davs (in relation to which the ManagerInvestment Manager has
the same power) until the ongmal request has been satisfied i full. In addition, under certaim circumstances, the Trustee, n
consultation with the Manager/Tnvestieent Manager, may suspend the right of Unithalders to redeem Units,

Distributions

The ManagerInvestment Manager intends o declare a monthly distritastion az of the 15th of each month (the *Record Date™, The
Mamager/ Tnvestiment Mansgzer intends to declare and pay monthly digmbutions from () realized and unrealized profitz, inehidmg (1)
dividend profits, (11} capital gains and (i) profits attnbutable to the currency managanent, and (b)) avalable capital. sttnbutable to the
relevant Class of Unils.

The Manager/Tnvestment Manager will determine if and to what edent distnbutions paid inchde realized and unrealized profits
and'or are paid out of available capital, attributable to the relevant Class of Units.

Unit transactions for the vy ear ended September 340, 2020 were as follows:

Year Ended YWear Ended
Seplember 30, 2020 September 30, 2020
Class ALUZAL
Lnits sold 4,937,680 5 224830581
Units redeemmied (2,510 3200 (15 791 413)
Net Increase 2427360 5 12.691.63%
Class AUBRR
Lnits sold 55,006 -] 160446
Units redeemned (151,030 (530.419)
Ned decrense (96.030) 3 (369.973)
Class US'BR
Linits sold 144,00 5 38,500
Units redeamed (187.530) (THT B3R
Net decrease (173,530} 5 (729.338)
Class USTS
Lnits sold 133,030 5 1,256,515
Units redecmed (35074400 (3,358,093
Net decrease (217.710) 5 (2,101.578)
Total amount of Unit fransaciions: 5 490,749
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The ManagerInvestment Manager has appointed Mizuho Secuntics Co., Lid. as deistnbuter {in this capacity, the “Disinbutos) in
Japan. As of Scptember 30, 2020 there was one mwvestor that individually owned 100% of the Sub-Fund's net assets. Transactions by
the Distributor and'or investors holding a significant percentage st the Sub-Fund can impact other investors,

4. Fees and Expenses

Parties are considered to be related i one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other
party in making financial or operational decisions.

Thisiee Fres

The Trustee shall be entitled to receive a fee of 17,8, $10,000 per annum payable cut of the proceeds of subscription for the Units of
the Sub-Fund, The Trustee shall alzo be entitled to receive out of the assetz of the Sub-Fund, a fee for extraordinary Trustee services
and amy direct out-of-pocket expenses incurmed by the Trustee on behall of the Sub-Fumnid,

For the year ended September 30, 2020, the Sub-Fund ingwred U5, SI8025 of Trustee Fees expense, of which 342 was payable st
September 30, 2020 anud 1= included within acerued expenses and other liabilities in the statermnent of assets and liabilities.

Manager Tnvestmeni Manager Fee

The Manager/Tnvestment Manager 15 entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Manager  Managerment
Fee™) of the Sub-Fund a fee equal to 0.01%% per snurm of the average of the net ssset value of the Sub-Fund a5 of each Busmess Day
in each month.

The Manager/Investment Manager is entitled to be paid cut of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Investment Manager
{"Investment Management Fee") of the Sub-Fund a fee of 0.19% per annum of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of
each Business Day m each month, Unitholders indirectly pay the fees and expenses related to the Master Funed including
Masmager/Tnvestment Manager Fee of 0.85% and other operating expenses including, but not lanited to Administration Fee, Truges
Fee and Custodian fee.

The Manager/Investrnent Manager shall also be entitled 1o be reimbursed out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for amy out-of-pocket
expenses and disbursements imcurred by the Manager Tnvestment Manager on behalf of the Sub-Fumd

For the vear ended September 30, 20240, the Sub-Fund incurred 1.8, 152,717 and U8, S8.038 of Investment Management Fee and
Maagement Fee expense, respectively, of which U8, 513,476 and U8, 5709 were payable and included within Investment
Management Fee payable and Management Fee pavable in the statement of assets and liabilities, respectively. Additionally, the Sub-
Fumd incurred Investment Management and Masmgement Fees of U5, 3675 385 and ULS, 38040, respectively, through its investment
in the Master Fumd.

Addministrator and Trangler Agent Fees

The Truster entered mto an admimstration agrecment with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. to act a5 admimistrator and transfer agent
of the Sub-Fumd (the “Administrator and Transfer Agent”). For its fund accounting sdministration services in respect of the Sub-Fuend,
the Administrator and Transfer Agent is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund, a fee payable in 1.5, § monthly in
arrears within 30 calendar days of the end of the relevant month. The fee for the find accounting adminisiration services is
U.S. 315,000 per anmon and other transactional charges. The fee for transfer agency sorvices is U5, 510,000 per anmum plus
105, 81,000 per Unit class and any other transactional charges. For the year ended September 30, 2020, the Sub-Fund incurred
L8, 826,458 of administrative fees and ULS. 535,136 of transfer agency fees, respectively, of which U5, 86,563 and 1.5, 58,691
were pavable and included within accrued expenses and other liahilities in the statemvent of assets and liabilities. Additionally, the
Sub-Fund incurred administrative and transfer agency fiees of ULS, 522,241 and U5, 525,036, respectively, throwgh its investiment in
the Master Fund.

Agent Compariy Fee

The Manager/Investment Manager has appointed AllanceBemstein Japan Ltd. as the Agent Company in Japan. The Agent Comparmy
is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Agenl Company ("Agent Compary Fee") of the Sub-Fund a
fee of 0.05% per anmuem of the average of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund as of exch Busness Day in each moenth,

For the vear ended September 30, 2020, the Sub-Fund incurred LS, S40,18% of Agent Companry Fees, of which LS, 53345 was
pavable and ine luded within Agent Companry Fee pavable in the statemendt of assets and liabilities,
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Distriludor Fee

The Distributor is entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Sub-Fund for its services as Distributor ("Distribution Fee™) of the Sub-
Fumd a fee of 0.60% per annum of the average of the net azset value of the Sub-Fund as of each Business Day in each month. Cther
Distribagtors ey be appointed in the fisture,

For the vear ended September 30, 2020, the Sub-Fund mcurred US. S482.265 of Distribution Fees, of which ULS, S135047 was
payable and ing lnded within Distribution Fee payable in the ststement of assets and lizbilities.

5. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Sub-Fund uses derivatives to eam income and enhance retums, to hedge or adjust the risk profile of its pertfolio and its Unit
Classes, to replace more traditional direct investments, or to obtain exposure to otherwise inacceszible markets,

The Sub-Fund enters ito derivatives which may represent off-balance sheet risk. Off-balance sheet rigk exists when the mascirmum
potemtial loss on @ particular investment 5 greater than the value of such investment as reflected in the statement of assets and
liabilities.

Certain derivative agreements allow counterparties to over-the-counter derivatives to require collateral or terminate derivative
comtracts prior o maturity in the event the Sub-Fund's net assets decline by a stated percentage or the Sub-Fund fails to meet other
credit-risk contingent terme in the agreement. which would cause an accelerated pavment of any et Liability owed Lo the counterparty.

The principal types of derivatives utilized by the Sub-Fund, as well as the methods inwhich they may be used are:

Forvward Forvign Currency Comtracts
During the vear ended September 30, 2020, the Sub-Fund entered into forward foreign cumency contracts to hedge exposure to the
dezignated curvency of each respective Unit Class versus the LS. § as detailed below:

s Class ALVALL Buying AUD forward fm'-cign currency contracts against the LS. § in the AUD amoamt equal to the extent
possible to approximately 10086 of the 115, § expoaure of the net assel vahue (excluding unrealized cumrency gain or boss)
attribatable 1o Class ALVALL

s Class AUVBR: Buving BRL forward foreign curreney contracts against the U5, £, in the BRL amount equal to the extemt
possible to approximately 10096 of the U8, § exposure of the net asset vahie (excluding unrealized currency gain or boss)
altribastable to Class ALVBR.

& Class US/BR: Buying BRL forward foreign curmency contracts against the ULS. &, in the BRL amount equal to the extent
possible o approximately 1009 of the US. § exposure of the net asset vahie (excluding unrealized currency gain or boss)
attribastable to Class US/BR.

& Class US/US: No forward foreign currency confracts,

A forward foreign currency contract is a commitment to purchase or sell a foreign currency a2 a fulure date at a negotiated forward
rate.

Fluctuations in the value of open forward foreign currency contracts are recorded as unrealized appreciation or depreciation of forward
foreign ciFrency contracts @ the statemsent of assets and liabilities and a2 net change in wrealized appreciation/depreciation of foreign
currency dencaninated assets and liabilities i the statement of operations, The gain o loss ansing from the difference between the
ongingl centract and the elesing of such contract would be mcluded in net realized gain o lok: on foreign cameacy ransacons m the
statement of operations.

Risks may arise from the potential inability of a counterparty to meet the terms of a contract and from unanticipated movements in the
value of a foreign currency relative to the U8, 8. The face or contract amount. in U8, 5, reflects the total exposure the Sub-Fund has
in that particular cumency contract,

At September 30, 20240, the Sub-Fund had the following open forward Foreign currency contracts:
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Forward Forelgn Currency Contracts

Unrealized

Appreciation’

o of Net Assefs (Depreciation)
Warious Appreciated Contrac .00 %5 5 38
W arious Depreciated Contracts (192 Th §  (1.630.026)
Total Forward Foreign Currency Contracls {1.92) B § {1520 658)

* Amicawrit represents kess there 0005 %5 af met assets.

The Sub-Fumd typically enters o Imtemattonal Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. Master Agreements (ISDA Master
Agreement”) with its over-the-counter (OTC™)y derivative contract counterparties in order to, among other things, reduce its credit
risk to OTC counterparties. ISIDA Master Agreements include provisions for general obligations, representations, collateral and events
of default or termination. Under an 1804 Master Agreement, the Sub-Fumd typically may offset with the OTC coumterparty certain
dervative financial instrument’s payables and/or recervables with collateral held andfor posted and create one single net payment
(cloze-out netting) in the event of defaull or termination. In the event of a default by an OTC counterparty, the relurmn of callateral with
mark el value in excess of the Sub-Fused's net liability, held by the defaulting party, may be delayed or demied.

The Sub-Fund’s I5DA Master Agreements may contain provisions for carly termmation of OTC denvative transactions in the event
the net assets of the Sub-Fund decline below specific levels ("net asset contingent features™ ), If these levels are triggered, the Sub-
Fuged's OTC counterparty lms the right to terminate such transaction amd require the Sub-Fund to pay or receive a settlement amoust
i coamection with the terminated transaction If OTC derivatives were held a1 period end. plesze refer to netting armangerments by the
OTC counterparty table below for additional details.

During the vear ended September 30, 2020, the Sub-Fund had the following denvatives grouped by denvative type:

Asset Derivatives Liability Derivatives
Statement of Stutement of
Asseds and Avssels and
Limbsiliries Liabilities
Dierivative Type Locud inn Fair Ve Laocution Fudr Value
Foreign exchange conbracts. .., .. ... ... .. Unreilized Unrealized
sppreciation on diepreciation on
forward foregn forward fordgn
auTeney conlrcts 1 8 cumency contracts 13 1600026
Totl o e e i RET 3 1,630,026
Realized Chmge In
Lodoation of Gain or Comin o Unrealized
(Losx) on Derivatives Witlin (Lo} on Appreciation or
Derivative Type Statement of Op erations Derivatives iDreprechsion)
Foreign exchange contracts. .. ... ... o0 oo Nebrealiced guin (loss) on Toreign

currency transactions MNel change in

unrealized sppreciastion/deprecialion on

fordgn currency denomidnated assets

el linliliHes: 4 1,575 435 5 (0397243
g e O R ey R S e R e 3 1373 436 b (I39.724)

For financial reporting purposes, the Sub<Fund does not offset derivative assets and denvative liabilitics that are subject to nefting
arrangements in the statement of assets and liabilities.

All OTC derivatives held at year end were subject to netting amangements. The following table presents the Sub-Fund’s denvative
assets and liabilitics by OTC counterparty net of amounts available for offset under ISDA Master Agreements (“MA™) and net of the
related collateral received/pledged by the Sub-Fund as of September 30, 2020, Exchange-traded derivatives and centrally cleared
swaps are not subject to netting arrangements amd as such are excluded from the table,

Drivative Assmx Drarhvativm Ao balile Cnllatoral Nt Amount of
£ st party Srals it b BLA fiw {HTset i At Fiedvind o Divetive Ases
Citibank, HA i 1% [ {1%4) 0 i 0- i

L [ ——— [ a8 [ { I ) -1 § {1- i
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Turivative Lishiligie Drex ivative Availalile Callateral Nt Aot of
ey party Subijed taa MA fem (Tt Mt Anieanln Flidgl® Dwiative Liahilitio
Berwn Brothers Harman & Co 3 1,545.01% 3 ] I3 15458007 ¥ 0 5 1,%8501%
Cibark, HA K0T {353) o - SLe68
Toeal - 3 Lnme 3 FEFEs] i Loze ey T B 3 1620 0k

*The ociual collateral received pledeed may be more than the mmound reporied due fo overcollme ralization.

B. Fair Value Measurements

In accordance with U5 GAAP regarding fair value measurements, fair value is defmed as the price that the Sub-Fund would receive
to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. U5, GAAP
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and a three-level hierarcihy for fair value measurements based upon the ransparency
of inputs to the valuation of an asset or lisbility, Inputs may be observable or unobservable and refer broadly to the asssnptions that
markel participants would use in pricmg the asset or liability.

Observable inputs reflect the assumptions market participants would use i pricing the asset or lisbility based on market data olbtained
fromn sotrces independent of the Sub-Fimd. Unobservable mputs reflect the Sub-Fund's own assenptions shout the asasnptions that
markel participants would wse in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information available in the circumstances. Each
investimenl is sxsiged a level based upon the sheervability of the wmpits which are significant to the overall valuation.

The three-tier hierarchy of inputs i summarized below:

« Level | - quoted prices in active markets for identical mvestments

# Level 2 — other significant observable inputs (including quoted prices for similar investments, interest rales, prepayviment
speeds, credit sk, et )

= Level 3 — significant umobservable mpetz Gincluding the Sub-Fund's own assumptions in determming the fair value of
investmenis)

The Sub-Fund uses the met asset value as a practical expedient to determme the fair value of the Master Fund The
Muamager/Tnvestment Manager reserves the right Lo adjust the reported net assel value f it 15 deemed to be not reflective of far value.
Because of the inherent uncertamty of valuation of mvestments in the Master Fund their estimated values may differ significantly
fromm the values that would have been used had a ready market for the Master Fund existed, and the difference could be matenial

The followmg table summarzes the valustion of the Sub-Fund s mvestments following the Gair value hierarchy levels as of September
30, 2020

Investments in Securithes Level 1 Lewel 2 Level 3 Tota
Other Finamcial Tnstromenis®:
Asgel s

Forward Forelgn Currenncy Conlracte . . .. ... .. .. % -0- 5 338 5 - 5 338
Liahilities

Forward Foreign Currency Conbracts ., ..., .., .- -0~ i1 A 0260 - (1680 026)
Wolal o e e S b et 5 Al § (Leoswy % 0 S (LE29.E8N
Imvestmenfsat NAV. . . ... o0 cui i e BT 400118
Totod IRVestments . .. ... ... ..cuccrareoneyn 5 HE5.779430

* Chther fircencicl instnemerts are derivalive iustrioments, sucl as fidures, forwards and swops, which are voalvied of the rrealized
appreciaiondeprecimion on the instrerent, Cther Snorciad atruments moy aleo ineliide sweps with wgpfrord prenmiums, opfioes
writte s aod sweptions written wihich cre valied af marked vlve,

The Sub-Fund's mvestment m the Master Fund exceeds 5% of pet assets and the Sub-Fund s able to redeam from the Master Fund on
a daily basis. As of September 30, 2020, the Master Furnd has no redemption restrictions. In addition, the Sub-Fumd through its
investment in the Master Fund did not held any investment that exceeded 5% of the Sub-Fund's net assets. The Master Fund's
investment objective is to seek to maximize current income and long-term growth of capital by primarily investing in & diversified
portfolio of global stocks across a range of industries.
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7. Financial Highlights
The fmancial highlights represent the Sub-Fund’s fimancial performeance for the year ended September 30, 2020

The per share operating performance and ratios are computed based upon the sverage undts outstandng and average net assels,
respectively, for the year ended Seplember 30, 2020,

Unitholder’s performance may vary based on timing of Unit transactions and currency management specific to the designated
currency of cach respective Unit Class. Total retum is computed based on the change in the pet asset value per unit during the year,
inc huding reinvestments of distnbutions. Total imvestment retum is based on net asset value of offered currency.

Ratio of operating expenses Lo average net assels does nol include any expense of the Master Fund.

Class AUAL
Year Ended
September 30,
2020
Met asset value, beginning of
L | A 36,64
Income From Investment
Operations
Net imsestment income . _ . . . 0.03
Met realized and unrealzed

less en investment and
foreign currency transactions (0.51)

Iet decrease in net asset

value from operations. . _ . . (048}
Less: Distributions
Distributions to Unitholders |, | {0.08}
Met asset value, end of year | 6,08
Total Retum
Total investrment return based

on net asset value in Offered

CUmBnEY ., ..o vne s {12.66)%"
RatiosiSupplemental Data
et assets, end of year (000's

omitted). .. ...l E8.707
Ratio to average net assels of

Expenses ,............ 1.03%

Met imvestment income . ., 041%

* Fontand retnorn Bexsed on reporting currency 5 (7, 200 %
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Year Ended
September 30,
2020

Met asset value, beginning of

year . . 3485
Income From Investment

Operations
et imestment income . _ . . . 0.02
Net realized and unrealeed

less on investment and

foreign eurrency transactions (1.58)

Met decrease in net asset

value from opesations. . . . . {157}
Less: Distributions
Dristributions to Unitholders | g 3;51
Met asset value, end :d':.rur
Total Retum
Total investrment return based

on net asset value in Offered

Currency . . (37.21)%"
Hdlnﬂﬂl.ppllamms Dda
et assets, end of year (000's

omitted). . S2033
Ratic to mramga net assats of

Expenses .. .. 1.08%

Mt imvestroent i m:-omr 0.43%
* Tantand retrorn besed on rfpa.r.n Pl ClrreReY (5 {33 4605

Year Ended
September 30,
2020

Met asset value, beginning of

LT S P A 34.81
Income From Investment

Operations
Hetimvesiment income . . . . . 0.02
et realized and unrealized

loss on investment and

foreign currency transactions {1.58)

et decrease in net asset

value from operations. . . . . {1.58)
Less: Distributions
Dhstributions to Unitholders . ; gl
Met asset value, end nfwar
Total Retum
Total ivestrment retum based

on net asset value . ... ... (33.47)%
RatlosiSupplemental Data
et azsets, end of year (000's

omitted). . 54,048
Ratio to mramga nd m;sds nF

Expenses ,............ 1.03%

Met imestrment income . ., 0.44%
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Year Ended
September 30,
2020

Met asset value, beginning of

s e R 51035
Income From Investment

ons

Mot investment income . . ., . 0.04
Met realized and unrealzed

los=s on invesinent and
foreign currency transactions (0.98])
et decrease in net asset

value from operations, . ., . (0.94)
Less: Distributions

Drstributions to Unitholders . . (018
Met asset value, end of year | $9.23
Total Retum
Total investment return based

on netasset value . ... ... {9.14)%
RatiosiSupplemental Data
Met assets, end of year (000

omitted). .. ... 000 $10,204
Ratic to average net assets of

Expenses ... .......... 1.03%

Met imvestrnent income . . 0.42%

8. Risks Involved in Investing in the Sub-Fund

Crrrency Risk

Underlying investments of the Master Fund may be denominated in one or more cumencies different than that in which the Sub-Fund
iz denominated. Thiz means currency movements in such underlying investments may significantly affect the net asset value in respect
of the Sub=Fund's Unitz. Investments by the Master Fund that are denominated in a particular curmency are subject o the risk that the
value of such cumrency will change in relation 1o one or more other currencies. Among the factors that may affect currency values are
trade balances, the level of short-term imterest rates, differences m relative values of similar assets in different currencies, long-term
oprportunities for investment and capital appreciation and political developments. The Master Fund is not limited in the percentage of
its azsets that may be denominated in currencies offier than the US, 5.

Conntry Rivke

The Master Fund invests in securities of issuers located in vanous countries and geographic regions, The econemics of mdividual
coumtries may differ Bvorably or unfavarably from each other in such respects a2 growth of gross demestic product o gross naticonl
proaduct, rate of milation, capital reinvestment, resource self-sufficiency and balawe of payments position. [ssuers in general are
subject to varving degrees of regulation with respect to such matters as insider trading rules, restnictions on market manipulation,
Unitholder prosy requirements and tanely disclosure of mformation. The reporting, accounting and auditing standards of issuers may
differ, in some cases significantly, from coamtry to country in important respects and less information from comtry to country may be
available to investors in securities or other assefs. Nationalization, expropriation or confiscatory tiation, currency blockage, political
changes, govemment regulation, political or social instability or diplematic developments could affect adversely the economy of a
coumtry of a fimd's investments in such country, In the event of expropriation, nationalization of other confiscation, a fumd could lose
itz enfire mvestment i the coumtry involved, In addition, laws in countries governing business onganizations, bankruptey and
insolvency may provide limited profection Lo security holders such as the Master Fund,

The Master Fund may trade its securities in a variety of markets with mamy different brokers and dealers. The failure of a broker or
dealer may result in the complete loss of the Master Fund's assets on deposit with such broker or dealer depending on the regulatorny
rules governing such broker or dealer. In addition. brokerage commizsions in certain countries may be higher than in others, and
seciirities markels i cerlain countnes may be less liquid, more volatile and less subpect Lo govermamental superysion than m olhers.

The secuntics markets of many countries are also relatvely small, with the myonty of markel capitalzation and trading vobume
concentrated in a limited number of companies representing a small number of industrics. Consequently, a fund invested in equity
securities of companies in such countries may experience greater price volatility and significantly lower liquidity than a fund nvested
solely in equity securities of companies in countries with relatively larger securitics markets. These smaller markets may be subject to
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greater influence by adverse events generally affecting the market, and by large imvestors rading significant blocks of securities,
Sccurities settlements may in some instances be subject to delays and related administrative uncertainties.

Certain courdries require govermmental approval prior to investments by foreign persons or Himit investment by foreign persons Lo only
a specified percentage of an issuer's cutstanding securities or a specific class of securities that may have less advantageous tenms
(including price) than securities of the compary avilable for purchase by nationals. These restrictions of controls may a times lama
or prechede mvestment in certain securities and my increase the costs and expenses of the Master Fund. In addition, the repatriation
of investment income, capital, or the procesds of sales of secunties from certam countries 15 controlled under regulations, mcluding in
some cases the need for certain advance govemment nofification or authority, Iff deterioration occurs in a country's balance of
payments, the country could impose temporary restrictions on foreign capital remittances. The Master Fund also could be adversely
affected by delays in, or a refusal to grant, any required govemmental approval for repatriation, as well as by the application of other
restrictions on investment. Investing o local markets may require the Master Fusid to adopt special procedures that may invelve
additional costs to the Master Funid, These factors may affect the liquidity of the Master Fund's investments m amy country and the
Masager/Tnvestment Manager will momitar the effect of any such factor or factors on the Master Fund's mvestments,

Derivetives Risk

The Sub-Fund may use derivatives, which are financial contracts whose value depends on, or are dermved from, the valie of an
underlying asset, reference rate, or mdex. The ManagerInvestment Manager will sometimes use derivatives as part of a3 strategy
designed to reduce other risks. Generally, however, the Sub-Fund or Master Fund may use denivatives as direct mvestments 1o eam
income, hedge currency exposure, enhance vield and broaden portfolio diversification. In addition to other risks such as the credit risk
of the counterparty, dervatives involve the nsk of difficultics in pricing and valuation and the sk that changes in the vale of the
dertvative mary not correlate perfectly with relevant underbying assets, rates, or indices.

Cross-Class Lishidity Risk

The Sub-Fund may enter into currency derivative transactions including forward foreign currency contracts in respect of a particular
Unit Class in oeder to redice expesure to the relevant Offered Currency versus the base eurvency of the Sub-Fund, Although the Sub-
Fuzed will typically enter into forward foreign currency contracts with only those counterpartics thal agree to limit their recourse 1o the
particilar Unit Class on belalf of which such Forward foreign curmrency contract was entered, given that there is no legal egregation of
liabilsties between the various Unit Classes within the Sub-Fund, there 15 a risk that, under certain ercumstances, currency derivative
tramsactions m relation to a particular Designated Currency in respect of a parbicular Unit Class could result m labildies which might
affect the net asset value of the other Unit Classes of the Sub-Fund, in which case assets of the other Unit Classes of the Sub-Fund
may be used to cover the labilities inowred by the Unit Class,

Markei Risk

Market rigk iz the potential for changes in the value of investment positions due to market changes, including interest and curremcy
rale movernenis as well as fluctuations m the prices of investment positions. Market risk is directly impacted by the volatility and
liguidity of the markets in which the underlying financial nstruments are traded. The Master Fund attermnpts to manage market risk in
vartous ways, ncluding through diversifying exposures, placing limitations on posstiion sizes and hedging in related securities or
dervative financial mstruments, The ability to manage market risk may be constrained by changes m liquidity conditions, relative
prices, volatilities and correlations between investment positions and the instruments used to hedze such mvestment positions.

Begnning late in 20019 and contining mte 2020, the outbreak of a novel coronavinis, which causes the dizease known as OOVID-19,
expanded into a global pandemic. Growing turmoi] from the spread of this coronavirus, and the potential for an endurmg and
significant adverse impact on global coonamies, have driven sharp increase in volatility across markets and a strong flight to a quality.
The Sub-Fund’s management will continue to monitor the evolving situation and its impact on the financial position of the Sub-Fund.

Creedft Risk

Credit risk i= the risk that counterparties may fail to fulfill their obligations or that the collateral value becomes inadequate. The Sub-
Fumd and Master Fund atternpt to mimarmize their credit ngk by momtoring the credit exposure with, and the credit worthiness of,
cowmilterparties.

(Y Balance Sheei Risk

The Sub-Fund snd Master Fund may enter into investment transactions which may present off-balance sheet risk. Off balance sheet
risk exists when the medamum potential loss on a particular imvestment is greater than the value of such investment, as reflected in the
statemnent of assets and liabilities, Off-balance sheet risk generally arises from the use of derivative financial mstniments,
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9. Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated the possibility of subsequent events existing in the Sub-Fund’s financial statements up to December 17,
2020, the date the financial staterments wene available to be issued,

From October 1, 2020 to December 17, 2020, the Sub-Fumd received LS, $3. 782965 of Unit subscriptions, paid U5, 87 462307 of
Unit redemptions and paid distributions tetaling U5, 5358528,
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2022

78,884,358 9,106,410,288
1,757,241 202,855,901
77,127,117 8,903,554,386

1,752,170

1,136,640

6,739,530

506,190
10.79 1,246
4.25 491
10.76 869
5.95 481
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Partners” capital
41.61 4,803

2021 12 41.61 4,803
2020 12 41.12 4,747
2019 12 40.17 4,637
2018 12 39.15 4,519
2017 12 40.62 4,689
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2021 12 7,786 90
26 51
2021 12
3,160
3,600
1,030
2021 12
2021 12
( )
1993 22,512 7.88"
( )
1992 28 20,483 98.99"
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1997 22 19,463 3.67*

1992 27 7,020 8.27"

80

1994 25 4,324 7.95*
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2022 31
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12 31
2020 2019
( (
) )

1,037,400 119,757 679,738 78,469

: 1,752,483 1,090,443 1,753,478 202,422 1,094,866 126,391

92,638 10,694 97,966 11,309

1,713,377 197,792 1,536,674 177,394

AB 325,407 37,565 261,588 30,198

148,746 17,171 148,744 17,171

60,114 6,940 50,902 5,876

193,261 22,310 215,892 24,923

36,506 4,214 11,433 1,320

302,582 34,930 581,004 67,071

12,244 1,413 19,810 2,287

147,874 17,071 145,251 16,768

3,082,778 355,876 3,076,926 355,200

44,496 5,137 55,366 6,391

64,066 7,396 36,296 4,190

418,455 48,306 362,693 41,869

264,418 30,524 330,943 38,204

9,697,840 1,119,519 8,706,092 1,005,031

216,403 24,982 201,778 23,293

17,791 2,054 30,157 3,481

3,440,266 397,144 2,531,946 292,288

AB 65,550 7,567 71,142 8,213

197,657 22,818 192,110 22,177

505,549 58,361 468,451 54,078

30,620 3,535 31,017 3,581

335,122 38,686 276,829 31,957

675,000 77,922 560,000 64,646

5,483,958 633,068 4,363,430 503,714

14
102,359 11,816 325,561 37,583
41,776 4,823 41,225 4,759
270,509,658

270,380,314 4,229,485 488,252 4,174,201 481,870
(8.316) (960) (9,011) (1,040)
AB (57,219) (6,605) (76,310) (8,809)
(94,203) (10,875) (113,004) (13,045)

AB 4,111,523 474,634 4,017,101 463,734

9,697,840 1,119,519 8,706,092 1,005,031
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12 31
2020 2019 2018
( ( (
) ) )
2,595,436 299,617 2,472,044 285,373 2,362,211 272,694
459,744 53,073 407,911 47,089 439,432 50,728
529,781 61,158 455,043 52,530 418,562 48,319
50,923 5,879 104,421 12,054 98,226 11,339
(16,401) (1,893) 38,659 4,463 2,653 306
104,703 12,087 97,559 11,262 98,676 11,301
3,724,186 429,920 3,575,637 412,772 3,419,760 394,777
15,650 1,807 57,205 6,604 52,399 6,049
3,708,536 428,113 3,518,432 406,168 3,367,361 388,728
1,494,198 172,490 1,442,783 166,555 1,378,811 159,170
569,283 65,718 487,965 56,331 427,186 49,314
27,355 3,158 15,029 1,735 21,343 2,464
189,787 21,909 219,860 25,381 222,630 25,700
485,544 56,051 484,750 55,960 448,996 51,832
5,526 638 3,324 384 7,160 827
1,855 214 (510) (59) (2,219) (256)
6,180 713 13,035 1,505 10,359 1,196
21,372 2,467 28,759 3,320 27,781 3,207
2,801,100 323,359 2,694,995 311,110 2,542,047 293,454
907,436 104,754 823,437 95,058 825,314 95,274
45,653 5,270 41,754 4,820 45,816 5,289
861,783 99,484 781,683 90,237 779,498 89,985
(4,169) (481) 29,641 3,422 21,910 2,529
865,952 99,965 752,042 86,816 757,588 87,456
3.19 368 2.78 321 2.79 322
3.19 368 2.78 321 2.78 321
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12 31
2020 2019 2018

) ) C C ) )
861,783 99,484 781,683 90,237 779,498 89,985
23,882 2,757 5,986 691 (19,337) (2,232)
(216) (25) - - (100) 12)
24,098 2,782 5,986 691 (19,237) (2,221)
(854) (99) (383) (44) 620 72
23,244 2,683 5,603 647 (18,617) (2,149)
24 3 24 3 24 3
(4,280) (494) (7.891) (911) 1,586 183
(4,256) (491) (7,867) (908) 1,610 186
(187) 22) 274 32 (139) (16)
(4,443) (513) (7,593) 877) 1,471 170
- - - - 374 43
18,801 2,170 (1,990) (230) (16,772) (1,936)
(4,169) (481) 29,788 3,439 21,864 2,524
884,753 102,136 749,905 86,569 740,862 85,525
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12 31
2020 2019 2018
( ) ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )
41,225 4,759 40,240 4,645 1,221 4,759
8,660 1,000 7,521 868 7,576 875
(8,376) (967) (7,042) (813) (8,608) (994)
(23) ®) 149 17 (39) ®)
290 33 357 41 (256) (30)
- - - - 349 40
- - - - 3) ()]
41,776 4,823 41,225 4,759 40,240 4,645
4,174,201 481,870 4,075,306 470,453 4,168,841 481,251
857,292 98,966 744,521 85,948 750,012 86,581
(828,503) (95,642) (696,470) (80,400) (849,585) (98,076)
(2,147) (248) 14,741 1,702 (3.880) (448)
28,642 3,306 35,259 4,070 (25,486) (2,942)
- - - - 34,601 3,994
- - 844 97 803 93
4,229,485 488,252 4,174,201 481,870 4,075,306 470,453
(9,011) (1,040) (11,430) (1.319) (11,494) (1,327)
- - - - 19 2
- - - - 352 il
802 93 1,125 130 - -
(107) (12) 1,294 149 (307) (35)
(8.316) (960) (9,011) (1,040) (11,430) (1,319)
(76,310) (8,809) (77,990) (9,003) (42,688) (4,928)
(148,624) (17,157) (171,930) (19,848) (267,427) (30,872)
(28,696) (3,313) (35,736) (4,125) 25,589 2,954
194,840 22,492 207,057 23,903 187,514 21,647
1,556 180 (4,403) (508) 19,022 2,196
15 2 6,602 773 - -
(57.219) (6,605) (76,310) (8,809) (77,990) (9,003)
(113,004) (13,045) (110,866) (12,798) (94,140) (10,868)
23,244 2,683 5,455 630 (18,571) (2,144)
(4,443) (513) (7,593) (877) 1,471 170
- - - - 374 43
(94,203) (10,875) (113,004) (13,045) (110,866) (12,798)
4,111,523 474,634 4,017,101 463,734 3,915,260 451,978
- - 949 110 1,564 181
- - 91 11 69 8
- - 147 17 46) ®)
- - 1,187) 137) - -
- - - - (638) a4
- - - - 949 110
4,111,523 474,634 4,017,101 463,734 3,916,209 452,087
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12 31
2020 2019 2018
( ) ( ) ) ( ) ( ) ( )
861,783 99,484 781,683 90,237 779,498 89,985
27,355 3,158 15,029 1,735 21,343 2,464
195,642 22,585 208,182 24,033 187,514 21,647
138,240 15,958 166,542 19,226 70,000 8,081
10,405 1,201 (13,431) (1,550) 23,164 2,674
(854) (99) (36,150) (4,173) (14,217) (1,641)
(2,914) (336) 10,281 1,187 (6,446) (744)
(658,612) (76,030) 74,688 8,622 (353,204) (40,774)
(182,684) (21,089) 223,137 25,759 (207,000) (23,896)
7,597 877 460,347 53,142 (294,383) (33,984)
279,276 32,240 (193,158) (22,298) 908,804 104,912
(55,125) (6,364) (34,177) (3,945) (8,365) (966)
(131,765) (15,211) (11,141) (1,286) - -
69,160 7,984 (23,140) (2,671) (152,726) (17,631)
7,169 828 11,437 1,320 (662,934) (76,529)
861,502 99,452 (641,369) (74,040) 1,024,317 118,247
37,695 4,352 (107,276) (12,384) - -
10,666 1,231 (56,518) (6,524) (11,225) (1,296)
46,885 5,412 (7,486) (864) 4,341 501
1,521,421 175,633 827,480 95,524 1,308,481 151,051
(4,079) 471) - - - -
(41,504) (4,791) (28,303) (3,267) (32,789) (3,785)
(13,552) (1,564) 5,255 607 - -
(59,135) (6,827) (23,048) (2,661) (32,789) (3,785)
115,000 13,276 2,105 243 (25,454) (2,938)
(12,633) (1,458) (59,924) (6,918) 3,273 378
(836,879) (96,609) (703,512) (81,213) (858,193) (99,070)
- - - - (638) (74)
(219,033) (25,285) 150,091 17,327 (472,143) (54,504)
(867) (100) 269 31 (1,421) (164)
1,921 222 (1,991) (230) (1,093) (126)
AB
AB
147 17 11,511 1,329 16,589 1,915
AB C ) (148,624) (17,157) (171,930) (19,848) (267,427) (30,872)
(1,615) (186) (1,580) (182) (2,151) (248)
(1,102,583) (127,282) (774,961) (89,461)  (1,608,658) (185,703)
23,032 2,659 8,376 967 (12,158) (1,404)
382,735 44,183 37,847 4,369 (345,124) (39,841)
691,171 79,789 653,324 75,420 998,448 115,261
1,073,906 123,972 691,171 79,789 653,324 75,420
18,858 2,177 66,002 7,619 60,286 6,959
59,791 6,902 52,444 6,054 41,946 4,842
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60

18,389
437

4,400

2,123
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28,966 3,344 - -
16,837 1,944 - -
17,384 2,007 - -



AB

account

2018
EQH
2019

2020 12 31

4.1

100,000

AXAS.A.

10

EQH

AB

AB

AB
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AB

EQH
separately-managed

ESG

1PO
AXA
2020 12 31 AXA EQH

EQH

AB



2020 12

EQH
AB

AB

2016

2017

AB
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31
63.3
36.0
0.7
100.0
AB
EQH 2020 12 31 AB 64.8
GAAP
AB AB
VIE VOE
FASB ASU 2016-13 326
2020

FASB ASU 2017-04

2020
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2018 FASB ASU 2018-13 820
2020
2018 FASB ASU 2018-15 350-
40
GAAP
2020
2020 FASB  ASU 2020-04 848)
LIBOR
GAAP 2020
12 2022 12 31
2021 ASU2021-01 2020 12
2020
2020
2018 FASB ASU 2018-14 715-20
2020 12 15
2019 12 FASB ASU 2019-12 740
740
740
GAAP 2020 12 15
AB
AB
ASC 606
AUM
AUM

AUM

178/310
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AB

AUM

12b-1
12b-1

30

NAV 12b-1

NAV

12b-1

CDSC

CDSC

179/310
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VIE
VIE
(i) VIE
VIE
(i)
VIE

(i)

(i) VIE

VOE

VIE VOE
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NAV
NAV
2020 12 31
(i)
VIE
VIE
VIE
VIE
VOE
VOE
VOE
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2020 12 31
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2020

2020

2019 12 31

2019 12 31

AB

2020
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2020 2019 12 31

2019 12 31

3,000 400

2020 2019 12 31

AB

AB

AB

30 90

360
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AB 2000 SCB C
30
2020 12 31 31
28 8,200
AB
30 AB AB
AB AB
AB AB
AB
2020 30 2020
2020 ASU 2017-04
20
2020 12 31 4,450
2,920
1,530 2019 12 31
5,540 4,190
1,550 2020 12 31
1,350 2020 12 31
6,510 2019 12 31 6,890
2020 12 31 3,590 2019 12 31 2,700 2020
2,140 2019 2,880 2018 2,780 2021 600
500 400
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2020 2016
150
2020
CDSC
CDSC 2009 31
2020 2019
ROU
ROU
ROU
ROU
ROU

ASC 842-10-15-1
ASC 350
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2020
2016 140

2020 2019 2018 12 AB

50 250,000
100,000 100

2020 2019 2018 12
AB
AB 2020 2019 2018

° AB AB AB

° AB AB

°

AB
AB
AB
AB
AB AB
AB AB
AB AB
AB
AB AB AB
AB AB AB
AB AB

AB AB

AB

185/310



2020 2019 12 31
AB
AB
AB
AB
(€))
@
1934
18 AB
AB
2020
2020
2020
770 AB
540
2020 2019 AB
50 AB
10
Uss
2020
10
AB AB
AB
2021 11
2020 12 31
2021 22

AB
@
(€]
@
@
2021 10
AB
570 AB
500
AB
AB
AB
1,150
2019 2018
AB
AB
2021
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12 31
2020 2019

5.4 6.0

149.0 172.6

3.1 2.9

74.0 82.7

AB
10b5-1 10b-

SEC
12

2019
12 2019
AB
5,182
AB
Us$
Uss
330 200
AB
1.05



EDINETOO OO
00000000000000000000(E06241)
0000000000000000000
2020 2019 2018
3.08 2.60 3.16
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3.
2020 2019 2018 12 31
12 31
2020 2019 2018
2,462,810 2,372,429 2,244,068
132,626 99,615 118,143
459,744 407,911 439,432
331,268 291,999 254,477
12b-1 75,973 80,268 87,166
122,540 82,776 76,919
82,317 77,394 75,974
21,240 17,924 19,211
3,688,518 3,430,316 3,315,390
35,273 47,216 45,827
(16,401) 38,659 2,653
1,146 2,241 3,491
20,018 88,116 51,971
3,708,536 3,518,432 3,367,361
4.
99
99
12 31
2020 2019 2018
AB 865,952 752,042 757,588
269,058 268,075 269,236
AB
27 44 251
269,085 268,119 269,487
AB 3.19 2.78 2.79
AB 3.19 2.78 2.78
12 31
2020 2019 2018
29,056 29,056 49,784
5.
2020 2019 12 31 15¢3-3 18 11
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12 31
2020 2019

34,351 36,665

75,766 70,464

55,439 73,202

7,527 6,931

25,762 14,237

16,646 33,124

18,602 18,281

19,282 13,890

253,375 266,794

2020 2019 12 31 6,010
5,090
2009
AB
VIE
VOE
15
2020 2019 12 31 1,030
5,810

189/310
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15

2020 12 31

2019 12 31

2020 2019 12 31
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ASC 321-10
12 31
2020 2019
17,927 31,890
27,357 18,138
(9.430) 13,752
ASC 815-10
2020 2019 12 31
142,886 118 1,834 (15,743)
63,906 8,576 8,451 (1,779)
60,997 2,043 2,955 (347)
167,649 10,910 13,304 (104)
52,061 94 1,847 (15,242)
2,486 - 2,146 (2,374)
489,985 21,741 30,537 (35,589)
171,112 939 871 (10, 840)
60,809 8,545 8,633 738
92,756 1,746 2,254 (616)
168,303 2,151 5,611 (6,413)
91,201 110 1,764 (21,164)
354 - 126 (126)
584,535 13,491 19,259 (38,421)
2020 2019 12 31
40 30

190/310



2020

2020

1,190

2019 12 31

2019 12 31

2,220

1SDA

1SDA

640

750

1,250

2020 2019 12 31
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1SDA
AUM

2020 2019 12 31
430

690

1,230
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15
2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31
7,808 7,808 (7,344) - 464
21,741 21,741 - (380) 21,361
7,527 7,527 - - 7,527
2019 12 31
38,993 38,993 (38,993) - -
13,491 13,491 - (251) 13,240
6,931 6,931 - - 6,931
2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31
30,537 30,537 - (6,374) 24,163
12,486 12,486 - - 12,486
2019 12 31
19,259 19,259 - (4,276) 14,983
12,348 12,348 - - 12,348

192/310



2020

2020 12 31

2019 12 31

@
@
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15
NAV
®
130,675 - - - - 130,675
- 1,752,906 - - - 1,752,906
118 21,623 - - - 21,741
147,705 17,565 125 161 - 165,556
7,527 - - - - 7,527
- - - - 42,408 42,408
- - - - 18,602 18,602
7,011 - - - 12,271 19,282
162,243 17,565 125 161 73,281 253,375
293,036 1,792,094 125 161 73,281 2,158,697
5,305 - - - - 5,305
12,486 - - - - 12,486
1,834 28,703 - - - 30,537
- - 27,750 - - 27,750
19,625 28,703 27,750 - - 76,078
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NAV
O]
2019 12 31
126,401 - - - - 126,401
- 1,094,866 - - - 1,094,866
939 12,552 - - - 13,491
170,946 8,952 119 314 - 180,331
6,931 - - - - 6,931
©) - - - - 47,361 47,361
® - - - - 18,281 18,281
5,883 - - - 8,007 13,890
183,760 8,952 119 314 73,649 266,794
311,100 1,116,370 119 314 73,649 1,501,552
17,809 - - - - 17,809
12,348 - - - - 12,348
871 18,388 - - - 19,259
- - 22,911 - - 22,911
31,028 18,388 22,911 - - 72,327
@ NAV
@ GAAP
3 GAAP
() 2020
2019 12 31 210 100 (i)
2020 2019 12 31 30 90
(iii) GAAP 2020 2019 12 31
650 290 (iv) GAAP
2020 2019 12 31 330 320
[ ]
° 15¢c3-3
° NAV
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4.9

2020

2019 12 31

2019
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AUM
12 31
2020 2019
119 142
6 (23)
125 119
12 31
2020 2019
22,911 7,336
4,400 17,384
3,105 2,542
(1,366) (3,051)
(1,300) (1,300)
27,750 22,911
0.7 50.0
AUM
1.9 10.4 8.0
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10.
12 31
2020 2019
556,966 575,378
284,080 266,365
841,046 841,743
(693,172) (696,492)
147,874 145,251
2020 2019 2018 12 31
3,920 3,810 3,420
11.
2020 2019 12 31
12 31
2020 2019
116,484 68,371
(30,001) (19,348)
CDSC (22,417) (12,727)
64,066 36,296
2020 2019 2018 12 31 2,740 1,500
2,130 CDSC 2020 12 31
2021 28,980
2022 23,631
2023 10,787
2024 668

64,066

196/310



AB

LLC

2020

AB
EQH

EQH

EQH
EQH
EQH

2020
1.6
57
0.5

EQH
EQH

SCB LLC

2019 12 31

EQH
2024 11

AB
EQH

2019 12 31
6,000

1.6

2020

AB

AB

2023 27

AB

SCB LLC

AB

EQH

2020 12 31

EQH
7,080

AB  EQH

EQH

EQH

EQH
2020 12
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AB
c
AB SCB
AB
AB
2020 2019
EQH
EQH
AB
0.2 7,500
2020 2019
5,860
2024 AB
EQH

31 EQH
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2020 2019 12 31
2020 8,320
0.4 2019 317
3,860 2.6
AB
2021 11 16 AB SCB LLC
SCB LLC
AB SCB LLC
AB SCB LLC
AB
2020
2019 12 31 2020 2019
1,650 2,350 1.6 3.2
SCB LLC
6,500 AB
2020 2019 12 31 SCBLLC
2020 2019 90 190
1.6 1.9
13.
IT 15
2010 100 2019
8,580
2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
416,007 360,185
503,174 465,907
5,167 3,825
(2,719) (1,317)
2,448 2,508
2,375 2,544
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2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
90,212 106,085
1,755 1,317
86 71
1,841 1,388
™ 38,208 40,786
(38,622) (55,522)
91,639 92,737
@
2021 110,046 1,142 111,188
2022 100, 631 757 101,388
2023 93,379 526 93,905
2024 90,359 23 90,382
2025 25,516 - 25,516
2026 136,759 - 136,759
556,690 2,448 559,138
(53,516) (73)
503,174 2,375
2018 10 218,976
2020 15
3,400 2019
190,000 2024 20
4,800
2020
190,000 166,000 4,800
9,300

199/310
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2020 12 31 2019 12 31
115,684 132,669
86 71
1,864 1,281
O]
@ 135,919 11,108
1,695 1,469
(€))
@
14.
T
2020 12 31
2021 115.4 35.5 79.9
2022 103.8 31.8 72.0
2023 96.5 31.3 65.2
2024 93.1 30.8 62.3
2025 45.4 - 45.4
2026 526.6 - 526.6
980.8 129.4 851.4
13
AB

200/310
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2010
2,500 2020 12 31 2,240
2014 11
]
11 2020 2,730 2020 12 31
2,080
15.
VIE
AB AB
VIE VOE
2020 12 31 2019 12 31
( )
VIE VOE VIE VOE
36,370 136 36,506 9,623 1,810 11,433
242,541 60,041 302,582 404,624 176,380 581,004
4,859 7,385 12,244 9,618 10,192 19,810
283,770 67,562 351,332 423,865 188,382 612,247
7,741 22,879 30,620 12,147 18,870 31,017
82,753 19,606 102,359 273,219 52,342 325,561
AB 193,276 25,077 218,353 138,499 117,170 255,669
283,770 67,562 351,332 423,865 188,382 612,247
2020 9,460

2019 12 31
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2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31
VIE 73,909 168,114 518 242,541
VOE - 59,940 101 60,041
VIE 442 2,782 - 3,224
VOE - 464 - 464
74,351 231,300 619 306,270
VIE 1,649 5,244 - 6,893
VOE - 664 - 664
1,649 5,908 - 7,557
2019 12 31
VIE 28,270 375,559 795 404,624
VOE 104,069 72,252 59 176,380
VIE 139 4,694 - 4,833
VOE 76 4,263 - 4,339
132,554 456,768 854 590,176
VIE 835 3,724 - 4,559
VOE 101 4,982 - 5,083
936 8,706 - 9,642
12 31
2020 2019
854 8,373
(135) -
552 (9,445)
259 9,213
(571) (7,467)
(99) 14
(242) 143
1 23
619 854
2020 2019 12 31 VIE 370 30
2020 2019 12 31
60 330
2020 2019 12 31 VIE 50

160
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2020 2019 12 31 VIE 420
320 VIE
2020 2019 12 31 VOE 20 70
2020 2019 12 31
20 50
2020 2019 12 31 VOE 50
2020 2019 12 31 VOE 10
120 VOE
2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31
VIE 3,224 - 3,224 - (513) 2,711
VOE 464 - 464 - - 464
2019 12 31
VIE 4,833 - 4,833 - (1,631) 3,202
VOE 4,339 - 4,339 - (534) 3,805
2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31
VIE 6,893 - 6,893 - (4,201) 2,692
VOE 664 - 664 - (138) 526
2019 12 31
VIE 4,559 - 4,559 - (3,155) 1,404
VOE 5,083 - 5,083 - (1,201) 3,882
VIE
2020 12 31 VIE 734
VIE 710 VIE
7,760

16.

203/310
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SCBLLC
SEC SCB LLC
100
2020 12 31 SCB LLC 7,700 3,400
4,300 SCB LLC
SEC
2020 12 31
4,750 590
5,340
SEC
2020 12 31 3,210 30 3,180

2020 12 31

204/310
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18.

2020
710

2008 12 31

1974

2015 12 31

2020 2019

EDINETOOOO

o o {02225 )

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 2019 2018
1,560 1,440 1,500
2018 840 770
2000 10 AB
2020
2021
12 31
2020 2019

136,113 116,233

4,443 4,944

16,131 20,411

(5,563) (5,475)

151,124 136,113

114,080 98,584

16,505 16,971

- 4,000

(5.,563) (5,475)

125,022 114,080

(26,102) (22,033)
65

2018
2020 2019 2018

(4,089) (7,934) 1,870

24 24 24

(4,065) (7,910) 1,894

(216) 312 (207)

(4,281) (7,598) 1,687

206/310
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2020 430 1,670
1,040 100
140 40 2019 760
2,170
1,130 120
110 10 2018 170
970 110
40 920
20
AB AB
2020
ocCI
ocl
(4,089) (56) (135) (4,280)
24 - - 24
(4,065) (56) (135) (4,256)
(216) (2 31 (187)
(4,281) (58) (104) (4,443)
2020 2019 12 31
2020 2019
(59,625) (55,537)
(707) (731)
(60,332) (56,268)
296 513
(60,036) (55,755)
29.9
24,000 150
2020 2019 12 31 5,110 3,610
2020 2019 12 31 2.55
3.35
2021 7,606
2022 9,373
2023 7,782
2024 7,811
2025 10,055

2026 2030 45,955
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12 31
2020 2019 2018
4,443 4,944 4,771
(6,084) (5.639) (5,893)
24 24 24
1,386 1,146 1,146
(231) 475 48
12 31
2020 2019 2018
3.35% 4.40% 3.90%
5.50% 5.75% 5.75%
5.50
2020 12 31 MP-2020
MP-2019
Pri-2012
IRS 2020
2022 IRS
2006 RP-2014 MP-2020 2022
12 31
2020 2019
55 47%
36 41
9 12
100% 100%
10 35 20
15 40 27 35 14 10 35
21 35 18
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2020 2019 12 31
2020 12 31
458 - - 458
STRIPS - 26,599 - 26,599
17,834 - - 17,834
44,020 - - 44,020
14,376 - - 14,376
76,688 26,599 - 103,287
- - - 21,735
76,688 26,599 - 125,022
2019 12 31
230 - - 230
STRIPS - 27,318 - 27,318
19,518 - - 19,518
33,875 - - 33,875
11,182 - - 11,182
64,805 27,318 - 92,123
- - - 21,957
64,805 27,318 - 114,080
2020 2019
° STRIPS
[ ]
° AB
[ ]
S&P500

209/310



19.

2020
7,550

2019

2017
2017 AB

30

AB

AB

2027

AB

2020 12 31

2017

2020 2019

AB

2018 7,740

8,330 2020 2019 2018 12 31
7,680 7,720
2017 29 AB
2017 2017
() AB
AB
(ii) AB
AB
2017 i
ii
iii
iv
AB AB
30 2017
AB 6,000 3,000
AB 24,444,406
2017 2017 30
2010
2020 12 31 35,555,594 AB
AB
2018 AB
20
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33.3

6,100

AB

2017

2017

AB

AB
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2020
AB
2019 12 31 159,349 23.93 2.1
(5,182) 28.46
(5,182) 28.46
2020 12 31 148,985 23.61 1.2 1.5
2020 12 31 148,985 23.61 1.2 1.5
2020 12 31
148,985 23.61 1.2 1.5
2020 2019 2018 32,368 370
890
2020 2019
2018
2020 12 31
AB
2020 2019 2018 AB
AB
AB
2020 2019 2018
50,232 45,420 53,720
& 23.69 29.33 26.90
1.2 1.3 1.4
w
2017 28 P. 2017
CEO 350
AB 2017 16 AB
21.25 164,706 AB
AB
2021
2020 2019 2018 12 31
AB 90
2020 530 2020 12
AB 500 2019
AB 30 AB
28.75 32.10
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2019 580 2019 12 AB
540 2018 AB
40 AB 26.69 30.01
2018 650 AB 2018 12
AB 620 2017
AB 30 AB
24.95 26.69
AB
25
AB
2020 2019 2018
0.4 1.9 2.6
$18.80 - $35.42  $27.32 - $30.85 $25.05 -  $30.25
32.1 36.7 32.2
AB
2020
AB
AB
2019 12 31 19,287,080 26.88
5,702,830 31.66
(5,946,667) 26.07
(178,669) 26.50
2020 12 31 18,864,574 28.58
2020 2019 AB
5,500 140 6,910 2020 12 31
AB 18,864,574
13,957,907
4,906,667 2020 12 31 AB

2.9
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20.
2020 2019 12 31 AB
2019
270,380,314 268,850,276
5,182 511,894
3,363,132 4,833,715
) (3,238,970) (3,815,571)
12 31 270,509, 658 270,380,314
® 2020 2019 1,500 3,782  AB
21.
AB
AB 4.0 UBT
AB
AB AB
AB AB EQH
EQH
AB
AB AB
AB AB
AB
AB AB
12 31
2020 2019 2018
743,687 697,501 672,221
163,749 125,936 153,093
907,436 823,437 825,314
UBT 3,356 9,19 5,251
1,495 (943) (4,030)
904 975 2,888
44,086 32,290 36,529
49,841 41,518 40,638
(4,188) 236 5,178
45,653 41,754 45,816
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2017
FIN 48
UBT
20178
ASC 740
UBT
2020 2019
2019 2018
10
2018 12 31
2020 12
2018 12
2016
2013 2016
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4.0
12 31
2020 2019 2018
36,297 4.0 % 32,937 4.0 % 33,012 4.0 %
2,025 0.2 4,000 0.5 1,522 0.2
33,969 3.7 26,719 3.3 30,689 3.7
- - - 1,155 0.1
(1,886) (0.2) 2,765 0.3 (5,177)  (0.6)
8 - 79) - 2,657 0.3
(887) (0.1) 314 - 2,932 0.4
3 - 155 - 2,273 0.3
(221) - (3.853)  (0.5) - -
2,654 0.3 2,305 0.3 (2,521) (0.3)
(26,309) (2.9)  (23,509) (2.8)  (20,726) (2.5)
45,653 5.0 41,754 5.1 45,816 5.6
12 31
2020 2019 2018
5,706 3,893 8,478
- 1,813 -
(2,868) - (4,585)
2,838 5,706 3,893
2018 12 31
2020
40 70
2020 12 31 2019
110 30
31 2019 12 31 20
31
UBT 290
130
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2020 2017 2019 AB  UBT
2020 12 31 12
12 31
2020 2019
7,112 5,551
22,363 20,907
5,256 4,376
2,065 1,554
5,994 6,409
4,737 3,106
47,527 41,903
(3,025) (2,026)
44,502 39,877
7,933 8,013
3,048 2,191
4,975 5,191
1,760 1,672
17,716 17,067
26,786 22,810
2020 2019 12 31 300 200
NOL
2020 2019 12 31 NOL
5,100 4,620
2020 12 31 2,960
640
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22.
ASC 280
2019
12 31
12 31
2020 2019 2018
512,914 480,144 479,068
1,811,948 1,619,832 1,494,445
882,672 904,505 883,234
459,744 407,911 439,432
56,908 163,245 123,581
3,724,186 3,575,637 3,419,760
15,650 57,205 52,399
3,708,536 3,518,432 3,367,361
ACATEUH  LX 2020 2019
10
10
12 31
2020 2019 2018

1,959,528 1,975,105 1,940,267
1,749,008 1,543,327 1,427,094
3,708,536 3,518,432 3,367,361

3,285,761 3,259,490

53,453 54,349

3,339,214 3,313,839

2019 2018 HSBC AB
14 HSBC  AB
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31
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EQH AXA

EQH AXA
EQH AXA

EQH AXA
EQH

12 31

12 31
2020
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EQ
2020 2019 2018 12
AXA 2020
EQH AXA
2019 2018 12 31
12 31
2020 2019 2018
1,368,484 1,275,677 1,207,086
516,336 441,437 403,965
79,394 75,122 74,019
8,314 7,303 7,262
3 2 33
1,972,531 1,799,541 1,692,365
EQH
12
EQH AXA
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AXA

2020 2019

2018 2020

2019 2018

115,901 109,316

1,330 1,013

104,810 73,482
- 23

- 12,925

1,104 353

65,086 64,347

45 134
12,968 13,897
482 625

117,231 110,329

105,914 86,783

78,581 79,003

3,952 3,956
2,281 2,466
@ 5,463 3,644

3,964 14,848
2,615 8,928
1,485 -

16,693 17,603
11,501 12,391

11,696 10,066

8,064 23,776

28,194 29,994

8,343 8,716 5,262 10,842
404 238 - -
EQH AXA
(1,280) (2,111) (4,703)  (5,234)
EQH (675,000) (560,000) - -
(667,533) (553,157) 559 5,608
©) EQH 2019
AB
2020 2019 12 31
1,020 1,010
2020
MRA 2,500 3,000
2020 28 2020 2020
MRA
2020
12 31
24.
2020 2019 2018 12 31
2020 2019 2018
- - (119)
- 92 188
- 92 69
(4,169) 29,549 21,841
(4,169) 29,641 21,910
2020 2019 12 31
2020 2019
102,359 325,561
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25.

@

@
®)

AB
AB
AB
AB

AB
AB
AB
AB

102,359 325,561
2020
12 31 9 30 6 30 3 31
1,062,893 900,038 871,449 874,156
286,335 207,976 177,321 194,320
® 1.06 0.77 0.65 0.71
&) 1.06 0.77 0.65 0.71
@ 1.05 0.76 0.68 0.71
2019
12 31 9 30 6 30 3 31
987,304 877,867 857,799 795,462
248,865 187,811 166,252 149,114
® 0.92 0.69 0.61 0.55
@ 0.92 0.69 0.61 0.55
[O10) 0.93 0.70 0.63 0.56

GAAP
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AllianceBermstein L.P. and Subsidiavies

Consalid ated Statements of Finandal Condition

December 31,
2020 2019
(im thousanads,
exCEpt wnit amounts)
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalenis £ LOa7400 % 679,738
Cash and securities segregated, a0 fair value (cost $1,752,463 and 51,080,443) 1,753,476 1,00, 566
Receivables, net:
Brokers and dealers 92,638 47,566
Brokerage clients 1L 713,377 L536674
AR furds fees 325,400 261,585
Oiher fees 148,746 148,744
Invesirments:
Lorg-temm incentlve compensation-related 60,114 20,502
Cibss 193,261 215,892
Assets of consolidated company-sporsored investoment funds:
Cash ard cash equivalents 36,506 11,433
Investments 302,582 S81,004
Oiher assets 12,244 19510
Famifure, equipment and leasehold improvements, net 147,874 145,251
Coadwill 3,082,778 H0Th 526
Intangible assets, net A4, 4596 55,366
Deterred sales commissions, net 64,166 6,296
Ripght-of -vse assets 418,455 362 6593
Chibhier assets 264,418 ]
Total assets 5 9,657,040 % 8,706, 62
LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST AND CAPITAL
Liabilities:
Payables:
Brokers and dealers 5 2164030 % 201,778
Seaxities sold not yet purchased 17,791 0,157
Brokerage cllers 3,440, 266 25316
AB munal funds 65,550 71,142
Accounts payable and aconoed expenses 197,657 182,110
Lease liabilities 505,549 468,451
Liabilities of consolidated company-sponsored invesiment funds 30,620 3my
Aconeed compensation and benefiis 335,123 27605
Dbt 7 0,00 S50, 0CK)
Toutal liabilities 5,483,958 4,363,430

63
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AllianceBermatein LP. and Subsidiavies

Commitments and continpencies {See Note 14}
Redeemable non-conmalling intevest
Capital:

Ceneral Parmer

Limited partners: 270,505,658 and 270,380,314 units issued and outstanding
Recedvables from alfillaes

AB Holding Units held for long-tenm incentive compensation plans
Accurmulated other comprebensive loss

Partners’ capital attributahle to AB Unitholders

“Total liabiliies, redeemable non-controlling interest and capdtal

See Accompanying Nodes o Consolidaed Financlal Statemenis.
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December 31,
2020 2019

102,358 375,561
41,776 41,225
4,229,495 4,174,201
(8,316} [B,011]
(57,219 (76,310
(54,203} (113,004)
4,111,523 4,017,101

1 9,697,040 & 7
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AllianceBermatein LP. and Subsidiavies

Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
(in thoasands, except per unil amounis)
Eevennes:
Irvestrient advisory and services fees s 25054 % 247204 § 2360211
Bermatein research services 455 744 407 511 438432
Distribation revenoes 524,781 455,042 418,562
Dividined and intereat income 50,923 104,421 4,226
Investment (losses} gains {16,401} 38,658 2,653
Cuher revennes 104,703 97,550 B 676G
Tosal revenes 37M,186 3,575,637 3,419,760
Less: Interest expense 15,650 57,206 52,395
et revenes 3,708,536 3,518,432 3367361
Expensas:
Employee compensation and benefits 1. 454,198 1,442,782 LATEBIL
Promotion and servicing:
D stribwstion -related payments SHS 2E3 497,965 437,186
Amortization of defermed sales commissions 7,355 15029 33
Trade execution, marketing, T&E and other 185,787 215,860 222 630
General and administrative;
General and admini strative 48554 484,750 48, 556
Real estate charges 552 333 7160
Confingent payment arangements 1,855 {510) [2.219)
Interest on bomowings 6,180 13,035 10,359
Amortization of intangible assets 21,372 28,758 27,781
Testal expenses 2 801,100 2,654,555 2,542,047
Operating income 207 436 823,437 825,314
Inconme fax 45,653 41,754 45,816
MNet income BEL7E3 81,683 7458
et (loss) incomme of consolidated entities anribatabie (o non-controtling (nbenests [4,169] 25,641 21,910
et income attributable to AB Unitholders 5 BE5,952 5 TaLMZ 5 757588
Met income per AB Unit:
Basic 5 g s 278 % 2.79
Dilusted & 319 % 78 5 2.78

See Accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AllianceBermatein LP. and Subsidiavies

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
{im thousands)
Ned Income 5 861,783 % JalLed3 % TTa408
Ciher comprehensive income:
Forelgn aarency ranslatlon adpstrmenis, before recl assi fication and tax: 13,882 5,986 (1933N
Less: reclassilication adjusiment for losses included in net income upon [igoidation (216} — (1D
Foreign aarrency ranslation ad justrnerts, bedore 1ax 24,008 5,566 (19237
Income 1ax (expense) benefit [854] {233} B2
Foreign ourrency ranslation adjustmenis, net of tax 13244 5,603 {18617
Changes in emplovee benefit related iems:
Amontization of prior service cost 24 24 24
Recoprized acnerial (loss) gain {4,280) (7,801} 1,586
Changes in emplovee benefii related inems (4,256) (7,867} 1,610
Income tax benefit (expense] [187) 274 {135
Employes benelit related fems, net of tax (4,443 (7,593} 1,471
Cither — — £
Diher comprehensive gain (loss) 18,801 {1,949} (16,772}
Less: Comprebansive (Joss) income in consolidated entities siritutable o non-controlling
inlerears (4,169 29,788 5
Comprehensive income atiributable to AB Unitholders § !=H,'1'53 $ T48005 & ?ﬁg

See Accompanying Mobes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AllianceBermatein LP. and Subsidiavies

Consplidated Statements of Changes in Fariners' Capital

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2009 2008
{in thousands)
General Fanmer®s Capial
Balance, beginning of year 5 4,255 % 0240 5 41,221
Met income 66D 7,521 7576
Cash distribations to General Partner [8,376) (742 (B,608)
L4 incastive copmtpensation plans activity (23] 14% 39)
Lssrance (retirement} of AB Units, net 290 a7 [256)
Ieepact of adoption of revenue recogriton standard ASC 66 - -- g
Oher = — (3
Balance, end of year 41,776 41,225 40240
Limidted Partners” Capital
Balance, beginning of year 4,174,200 A 075,306 4, 164,841
Met Income 857,202 744,521 730,012
Cash distributions to Unitholders [B28,503) (636,470 (L RS
Long-term incentive compensation plans activity [2,147) 14,741 (2880}
Isstpance [reirement) of AB Unit, ne ER R 35,259 [25,456)
Impact of adoption of revenue recognition standard ASC 606 - — 34601
Cither -~ B4 03
Balance, end of year 4,220,485 4,174,201 4,075 306
Receivables from Affiliates
Ealance, beginning of year {9,011) {11,430) (11,494)
Capital contributions from General Pariner - — 15
Compensation plan acoroal — — 352
Long-term incentive compensation awards expense a2 1,125 -
Capital contributions from AB Halding {107) 1,294 (307
Balance, end of year [8,316) {9,011} [11,430)
AB Holding Units held for Long -term Incentive Compensation Plans
Balance, beginning of year [76,310) {77 A90) {42, 688)
Purchases of AB Holding Units to hand long-term compensation plans, net (148,624} (171,930) (267,427}
(lsseance) retremerd of AB Unis, ne [28,6596] (35,736) 25589
Long-term incentive compensation awarnds expense 154,540 207,067 187514
Re-valpation of AR Holding Units keld in rabbi mos 1,556 [(4.403) 19022
Oither 15 3,652 —
Balance, end of year (57,219] {76,310) {77,590)
Accumul ated Oiher Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Balance, beginming ol year (113,004) (110,866) (94,1400
Foreign currency mranslation adjusoment, net of tax 23,24 5455 (18.571)
Changes [ emplovee benelit related iteers, nel ol G (4,443 (7.583) 1471
Urrealized gain on inmvestments, red of tax — — —
Ok — — a7
Balance, end of year [94,203) {LL3,0408) {110, B66)
Totad Pariners” Capleal atrribatable to AR Unitholders 4,111,523 4017,101 3,915,260
MNon-redeemable Noo-contrelling Interests in Consolidated Entities
Balance, beginning of vear — 945 1,564
Met income — a1 2]
Foreign cumency translation adjustment —_ 147 [E )]
Purchase of non-cortrolling interest - (1,187 —
Distritastions (to) non-contradling interesds of oo consolidsted vennre capital fund
activities - - [ﬂ‘gm
Balance, end of year — - 49
Total Capital 5 4111573 & 4,017,101 % 3,916,204

See Accompanying MNotes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AllianceBermatein LP. and Subsidiavies

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Yeiars Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
fin thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Fet income £ 851,783 % 78LGE3 &5 TTA50
Adjusmients o reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activides:
Amontization of deferred sales commissions 27,355 15,04 21,343
MNom-cash long-tenm incentive compensation expense 195,642 2B,182 187,514
Deprect ation and other amonti zation 138,240 Dk, 502 TOh KK
Urrealized losses (gains) on investments 10405 (12431} 13164
n Investrends of I Investmenl
Errﬁ:li&d {gains] on 3 of consolidated company-sponsored @4 a0 s
Cither, nat (2914) 10,2681 (b8
Changes in assets and |iabilides:
(Increase) decrease in sequrities, segrepated {658,612} 74,650 {353,204)
(Increass] decrease in recedvables (182, 684) 337 (207 ixy)
Decrepse (frorgase] in imesments 7 a47 450,347 {3 28
Decrease (increase) in investments of consalidated company-sponsored investment
funds 279276 (192,158) 500,804
(Increass) in defermed sales commissions [55,125) (3,177 (5.265)
(Increase) in right-of-use assets (131,765) (11,141} -
Decrease [ncrease) in other sses 60,160 (251400 (152,79%)
Increase (decrease) in other assets and liabilities of consolidated company -sponsored
Investment funds, e 7,169 10,457 (662,534
Increase (decrease) in payables 51,502 (611,365} 1024217
Increase (decreass) in lease labilides K (107,276 —
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and acorued expenses 10,5665 [56,518) (11.275)
Increase (decrease) in acomeed compensation and benefis 46,885 (7.486) 4,341
Mt cash provided by operating activities 1521421 827 460 1,308,481
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of equity method investmenis (4075 — —
Purchases of fuminre, equipment and feasebald improvements (41,504} (28,303) (32, 785)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquined [13,552) 5,255 —
Wt cash naed in investing activities (59,135) {23,048) {32, TEY)
Cash fows from fremcing acivities:
Procesds (repayment) of debt 115,00 2105 (25.454)
(Decreass] increase in overdralis paysble [12,633) (58,924) 3273
Distributions o Ceneral Paniner and Unitholders (H36.675 (FOAS12) (R58,153)
Capital contributiors [to) non-conrolling Interests in consolidated entities — — {635)
{Bedemptions} subscriptions of non-controlling interests of consalidsted company -
sponsored invesment funds, net (219,033) 150,091 (472,143)
Capital contribigions {ta) from alliliaes (B67) 265 (1421
Interest acoredion, net of (payments} on contingent payment Jamangements 1821 (1,5991) (1/053)
Addiional irvesments by AB Holdirg with proceeds From exercise of compensalory
options tobuy AB Holding Linits 147 sl 16,585
Purchases of AB Holding Units to fund long-term incentive compensation plan
awarcds, net (148,624) (171,530) (267 437)
Oher (1.615) (L580) {2,151)
et cash waed in linancing activities {1,162,583) (774,961) {1, 608,658)
Effect of excharge rate chanpes on cib and cash equivalents 23,033 8,376 (12.158)
Met increase (decrease] in cash and cash equivalents 2735 37,847 {35,124)
Cash and cash equivalents a5 of beginning of the period 631,171 H53,304 550,448
Cash and cash equivalents as of end of the period 5 LO73a0E S 691,171 5 653,324
Cash paid:
Interest paid 5 18858 % LR E R 6,256
Income taxes paid 58,781 S 444 41,546
Mon-cash investing activites:
Fair value of assets acquired {excluding cash acquired of $0.6 million and $11.8
million) 18,389 2B, 556 —
Fair value of liabilities assumed 437 16,837 -
Ion-cash finandng activities:
Payabl e ecord ed wider conmest paymet aangEsents 4,400 17,384 —_

See Acovmpanying MNotes to Consolidasted Financial Statements.
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Alllance Bemstein LP, and Subsidiarjes
Botes to Corsolidaed Financial Statements

The words “we™ and “our ™ refer collecifvely fo Allfance Bernstein LR, and fis sibsidiar fes (“AB"), or to their offfcers ond employees, Similarly, the word
“oomparny " refers o Afl. Cross-references are in itofics.

1. Business Description and Orvganization
W provide diversilied investment management, research and related services globally to a broad range of dients. Our principal services include:

*  Instiotional Services—servicing our instiutonal cients, including private and poblic persion plans, fomdatons and endowments, inawance
oumpanies, central banks and govermments worldwide, and affiliabes such as Equitable Holdings, inc. ("EQH™) and iis subsidiaries, by means of
separately-managed accounts, sub-advisory relmionships, sructured proguecs, collective nvesment s, mewal unds, bedpe funds and other
imvestrrent vehicles.

+ Retail Servios—servicing our retail clients, prirmarily by means. of retail munial funds sponsored by AR or an abfiliated company, sub-advisory
relationships with mumal funds sponsored by third parties, separately-managed account programs sponsored by financial intermediaries
worldwide and other invesiment vehicles.

*  Private Wealth Management Services—servicing our private clients, Incloding hiph-net-worth individuals and families, musts and estates,
charitable foundations, parmerships, private and family corporations, and other entites, by means of separately-managed accounts. hedpe hunds,
runzal Furdds and other invessment vehicles,

+  Bemstein Research Services—servicing institional [mvestors, such as persion fund, hedge furd and muemal furd managers, seeking hiph-gualicy
hendamental research, quantitative services and brokeragerelated services in equities and listed options,

Wi also provide distribution, shareholder servicing, transfer agency services and adminisrrative services to the munal funds we sporsor,

Cir high-gquality, in-depth research is the foundation of our business. Our research disciplines include soonomic, hmdamental equity, fixed inoome and
quantitlative researche In addition, we have expertise in muolii-asset srategies, wealth management, environmental, social and corporate governance
(" ESG" ) and aleemnative investments.

‘W provide a broad range of investment services with expeertise [n:

*  Adtively-managed equity sirategies, with global and regional portfolios across capitalization ranpes, concentration ranges and irvesoment
srraneglies, including value, prowt and core squiies;

= Adtively-managed iraditional and inconsirained fixed income sirategies, incloding tacable and tax-exempt strateqies;
Alternative investmenes, including hedge hurds, fund of funds, dinect lendicg, real estaoe and private equity;
Multi-asset solutions and services, including dynamic asset allocaion, custormized Goge-dae fonds and wrge-risk funds; and
Some passive management, including index and enhanced index stratefies.
g Eion

During the second quarter of 2018, AXA 5 A, ("AXA") completed the sale of a minorty stake in EQH throvgh an initlal public offering ("UPO")L Since
then, AXA has completed addidoral olferings and taken cther steps, most recently during the fourh quaner of 2005 As a mesult, AXA owned [ess than
108 ol the outsand ing common stock of ECH a5 of December 31, 20K

As of Desernber 21, 2020, EQH owned approximately 4,1% of the fsaed and outstanding vrits repressnbng sssignments of benelicial ownership of
lrmited parmership inferests in AlllnceBemstein Holding LB ("AB Holding Units”), AlllanceBemstein Corporation (an indirect whally -owned
subsidiary of EQH, “General Partner™) [s the general panmer of both AlllanceBemstein Holding LLE ("AB Hodding"} and AB. AllianceBernstein
Corporation owns 100, 0060 general parmership units in AB Holding and a 1% general parmership interest in AB.
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As of December 31, 2020, the ownership smoonre of AB, including |imited partnership units oustandivg s well as the general panmers 1% interest, was
a5 Follows:

EOH and its subsidiafes 513 %

AB Holding 360

Unaffiliated holders 07
1000 %

Including bodh the general pannership and limited parnership interests in AR Holding and AB, EQH and its subsidiaries had an approcdmate 64.8%
eronomic interest in AR a5 of December 31, 2020,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Preserniio

The consolidated financial staternents have been poepared In accordance with accourting principles geqerally acoepied in the United States of America
{"US GAAP™), The preparation of the copsolidated financial statersents requires manigement (0 make cortan estimates asd assumpions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and labilites and disclosure of contingent assets and [iabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial staterments and the
reported amounts of revenoes and expenses during the reporting, periods. Actual resulis could differ from those estimates.,

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements inclode AB and its majori br-owned and’or controlled subsidiaries, and the consol idated entilies that are considered to
be variable interest entitfes (" VIES" | and voting Interest entities (" VIOES"} in which AB has a conmolling financial interest. Non-conmalling interests on
the consolidated statemenis of Enancial condition include the portion of consalidsied company-sponsored investment imds in which we do not have direct
ety ownership. All significant inter-company transactions and balances amoag the consolidated ertities have bien eliminaed,

Recently Adopied Accoimiing Pronouncemenis

In June 2016, the FASE issued ASU 20016-13, Finmrciol Instriments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) This new puidance related to the sccounting for credit
Fosses on linancial instruments and introduced an approach based on expeoted losses (o estimate credit [osses on cerlain fypes of financial instraments, It
also modiFes the impaiment moded far avallable-tor-sale debt securities and provides for a simplified accounting mode! for purchased financial assets with
credit deteriorati on since their origination. We adopied this standard prospectively on January 1, 2020, The adoption of this standard did not have a material
frmpact on our financial condition or results of operations,

In January 2017, the FASE issued ASU 2017-0d, Simplifing e Test for Coadwill Imperirment. The puidance removed Step 2 of the poodwill impalmment
test, which had required a hypathetical purchase price allocation. As a result of the revised goidance, a poodwill impairment will be the amoont by which a
reparting Lnit's camying value exceeds (5 lair value, not (o exceed the camying amount of gpoodwiil. We adopted this stindard prospectively on January 1,
2060, The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our financial condion or results of operations.

In Avpust 2008, the FASE issued ASU 2018-13, Foir Wetive Megsuremenit (Topic 8200 Disclosire Fromework-Changes fo the Disclosure Reguiremenis for
Fuair Vislie Megsiremrent. The amendment modilied the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements by removing, modilving or adding cemtain
disclosores. We adopied this standard prospectively on January 1, 2020, The adoption of this standard did not have & material Impact on our financial
condidon or results of operations.

In Aupusi X018, the FASE issued ASU 2018-15, infongibdes-Coodwill and Other-Internal-Lise Sofrware (Subiopéc 350-00) Customer's Accountng for
Inplesme riarion Costs dncurned in g Cloud Computing Arrangement That i o Serviee Contraal, The amendenent aligred the nequirements foc capiializing
fmplementation costs incurmed in 4 hosting arrangement that is 4 seevice contract with the requirements that curcent]y sxist in CAAP for caplializing
implementation costs inourmed o develop or obtain internal-use software: Implementation costs are either capitalized or expersed as inoumed depending on
the project stage. All costs in the prefiminary and post-implementation project stages are expensed a5 incumed, while certain costs within the application
developrent siage are caplialized. We adopied this standard prospectively on January 1, 2000 The adopion of ihis standard did not have a material impac
on oar financial condition or results of operations.
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In March 2020, FASB issped ASU 2020-04, Reference Rute Reform (Topic 8481 Focilitaton of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Fimanciaf
Reporting. The amendment was intended to provide temporary optional expedients and exceptions to the US, CAAP guidance on coniract modifications
ared hedge acooumting to ease the Fnancial repoming burders neated 1o the expected market fransitfon from the London Interbany Offered Rate (LIBOR)
and other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates. This puidance was effective beginning on March 12, 20¥, and can be applied to
amendments prospectively through December 31, 2022, An entity may elect to apply the amendments in this update, as well as amendments include in
ASL 22100 [ssued I January 221, as of the begirning of the freterim period that includes March 12, 20, We adopted thes stndards prospectively on
Janpary 1, X020, The adoption of these standards did nod have 2 material impast on our financial condition or resulis of operations.

Accouniing Prosssmce menis Nod Yot Adopied in 2020

In August 2018, the FASB issmed ASU 20018-14, Compersation - Redremend Berefits - Defined Berefit Plors - Genergf {Topic 715201 The amendrment
rrvcd ifies dbwe disclosure reguirements for emplovers that sponsor defined berelit pension o other post-retinement plars. The revised guidance is effective
for Hinancial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, The revised guidance will not have a material impact on our fnancial
condition or results of operations.

In December 2005, the FASE issued ASL 2019-12, Income Taves (Topic 740 Stmplifing the Accownting for fmcome Taves, The amendments simplity the
accounting for inoome (axes by removing certaln exceptions (o the general principles in Topic 740 The amendments also improve consistent application of
and simplify US CAAP lor other areas of Topic 740 by claribying and amending the existing guidance. The revised puidance [s effective for financial
statennts isswd lor Fiscal years beginning alter December 15, 2020, The revised guidanoe will not have a material impact on oor financial condition of
el of sperations,

Revenue Recognition

I : {cvs |
AB provides assel managerment services by managing ausiomer asseds and seeking 1o deliver investment refums (o invistors, Each investment management
coniract between AB and a oostomer creates a distinat, separately {dentifiable performance obligaton for each day the customer's assets are managed as the
custormer can benefit from each day of service. In acoordance with ASC 606, a serfes of distinct goods and services that are substantially the same and have
thi sarte patlidn of rarsler (o the cusorser ane eeated a3 3 single performance oblipation, Accordigly, we hive determined that oar ivestmenl and
advisory services are performed over tme and entitde us to variable considevation eamed based on the value of the investors” assets under management
“AUM™L

We calculate ALUM using established market-based valustion methads and fair valustion (non-observable market) methads,. Markel-based valuation
methods include: last salefsettle prices from an exchange for actively-traded listed eguities, options and fumres; evaloated bid prices from recognized
pricing vendoars for fixed income, assed-backed or mortgage-backed issves; mid prices from recognized pricng vendors and brokers for credit defaule
swips: and guoted bids o spreads from pricing vendors and brokers for other derivative products. Fadr valuation methods include; discounted cash flow
e es o ary ot methadalogy that 5 validaed and approved by oo Valoaion Cormmities (see paragraph immedizrely below lor additional information
about sur Valoation Committee). Fair valustion methods are used only where AUM cannot be valued using market-based valuation methods, siwch as in the
case of private equity or illlguid searities.

The Valuation Committee, which consists of senior olficers and employees, is responsible for overseeing the pricing and valuation of all investments held
in cient and AB portfolios. The Valuation Committee has adopied a Statement of Pricing Policies desaribing principles and policies that apply to pricing
ard valuing investments beld in these portfolios. We also have a Pricing Group, which reponts g0 the Valuation Committee and is responsible for overseeing
thie pricing process for all invesiments,

We record as revenue investment advisory and services base fees, which we generally calowlate as a percentage of AUM. At month-end, 2l the components
of the irarsaction price (iLe., the base fee caloulation) are no longer variable and the value of the consideration is detesmined. These fees are not subject o
claw back and there isminimal probability that a significant reversal of the revenue recorded will ocour.

The wansaction price for the asel management peclormanse obligation for certain invistroert advisory conracts, including those asocisted with hedge
hunds or other altemative invesiments, provide for a perfformance-based fee (including carried interest], in addition to a base advisory fee, which is

caloulated as either a percentage of absolute investment results or a percentage of investment results in excess of a stated benchmark over a specified period
of tiere. The performance-based fees

71
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are forms of variable consideration and are therefore excluded from e rransaction price untl it becomes probable that there will not be sipnificant reversal
of the cumulative reverue recognized. Ar each reporting date, we evaluate the consiraining factors, discissed befow, surrounding the varizble consideration
o determine the extent towhich, il any, revenoes associsted with the performance based fee can be recomized.

Constraining factors impacting the amount of variable consideration incloded in the ransaction price include: the contrachual claw-back provisions o
which the variable consideration is subject, the length of time to which the imcertainty of the consideration is subject, the rumber and range of possible
conaideration amounts, the probability of significant fluctuations in the fund's market value, the level o which the fund’s valoe exceeds the conracteal
threshold requéned 1o eam such a fee, and the materi ality of the amouni belng evaluated.

Bematein Research Servios revenoe consists principally of comimissions received, and o a lesser but increasing wxtent, direct payments for rade execution
sepviors and providing equity research servioss to instictional clients. Brokerage commissions lor wade execution services and related eapenses ane
recorded on a trade-date basis when the performance obligations are satisfed. Generally, the transaction price is agreed upon at the point of each made and
based upon the number of shares raded or the value of the consideration traded. Research revenues are recognized when the ransaction price is quanti fed,
collectabillty is assured and significant reveraal of such revenoe is not probable.

isiribui
Twao of our suhsidiaries acr as disoributors andfor placement agents of company-sponsored momal funds and receive distribugion services fees from certain
of those hmnds a5 partial reimbursenent of the distribution expenses they o The variable consideration can be determined o difbeent ways, o5
chigzissged betow, B we atishy the petlonmance oblifsion deperding o the conraciual Franpaments with the customer and e spec fic product sold

Most open-end LS, hunds have adopted a plan under Rule 12b-1 of the Imvestment Company Aat that allows the fund to pay, out of assets of the fund,
disiribution and service fees lor the distribution and sale of its shares ["Rule I2b-1 Fees™}. The open-end U5, hands have such agreements with us, and we
hawve selling and dismribution agreements pursuant to which we pay sales commissions o the financial intermediaries that disoibute sur open-end LULS.
fonds. These agreements are terminable by edther panty vpon modice (generally 30 days) and do not oblipate the financial intermediary to sell any specific
arnaunt of hund shares,

We record 1201 lees mronihly based upon a peroentipe of the e asset valoe [NAVY) of ke lunds, At mooth-and, dwe varable consdderation of the
rransaction price s no lofger consmained as the NAY can be caloulated and the value of consideration is determined. These services are separate and
distinct from other asset management services as the customer can benefit from these services independently of ather services. We acome the
commesponding 12b-1 bees paid to sub-distributors monthly as the expenses are incurred. We are adling in a principal capacity in these transactions; as sudch,
thiese revenoes and expenses are recorded on a gross basis.

We offer back-end load shares in limited nstances and charge the investor a contingent deferred sales charge (“CDSC™) if the investment [s redeemed
within a centaln period. The variable consideration for these coniracts i contingent on the tming of the redemption by the investor and the value of the sale
procesds. Due 1o these consmaining factors, we exclude the CDSC fee Irom the ransaction price ool the imvestor redeeins die invesiment. Upon
redemption, the cash consideration received for these contrantal amangements are recorded as reductions of unamortized defermed sales commissions.

O Luxemboung subsidiany, the management company for most of our non-UL5. hinds, eams a management lee that is acoroed daily and paid monthly, at
an armual rate, based on the sverape daily net assets of the hand. With respect 1o centain share of asses, the mansgemen foe may also contain a component
that is paid to distribaztors and other financial intermediaries and service providers to cover shareholder servicing and other adminisrative experses (alsa
referred fo as an All-in-Feel As we have concluded that assed management is distinct from distribotion, we allocate a portion of the Invesiment and
advisory e to disoribusion reveraes for the servicing component based oo stand 2lone selling prices.

Diher Reveraes
Revenues from contracts with customers include a portion of oiber revenues, which consisis primarily of shareholder servicing fees, as well as muooeal fund
reimbursements and other brokerage incoms,

W provide shaholder services, which include iransher agency, administrative and recordkesping services provided o company-sponsored munaal fursds
The consideration for these services is based on a percentage of the NAV of the fund or a fixed-fee based on the manber of shareholder accoumis being
serviced. The revernwes are recorded at month-end when the constraining factors imvolved with determining NAV or the number of shareholders” accoumnits.
are resolved
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Dividend and interest inoome is acoroed a5 earned. Investment gains and losses on che consolidated statements of income include urrealized pairs and
tosses of wading and private equity invesoments stated at Fair valoe, equity in eamings of our limited parmership hedge fund investrments, and realized gains
and losses on investments sold

We use the practical expedient for conracts that have an original duration of one year or less. Accordingly, we do nol consider the time value of money
and, instead, acome the inoremental costs of obtaining the conract when inoomred. As of Decermber 31, 2020, the balances of coniract assets and contract
Habilities are not considered material and, accordingly, no further discl osunes ane necessary.

Consodiaatton of company-sponsored vesment fumds

For legal entities (company-sponsored investment lunds) evaluated for consalidation, we lirst determine whether the fees we reoeive and the interess we
hodd qualify as a variable raeeest in the entity, including an evaluation of fees pald 1o us as a decision maker or service provider 1o the entity being
evaluated. Fees received by s ane not variable interests if (i) the fees are compersation for services provided and are commensur ate with the fevel of effort
required o provide those services, (i) the service amangement includes only terms, conditions or amounts that are customarily present in amangements. for
sirnilar services nepadiated at arm's lenpoh, amd (11} our other economic interests in the entity held directly and Indirectly through our related parties, as well
as economic imterests held by relabed parties under common control, would not absorh more than an insignificant amount of ihe entigy’s losses or recelve
more than an insignifican amount of the ety 's benetis,

For those entities in which we have a varisble interest, we perform an analysis o determine whether the entity is a VIE by considering whether the entity's
BQUELY fmvestment at risk is insufficient, whether the investors lack decision making rights proportional o their owrership percentage of the entity, and
whether the investors lack the obligation to absorb an entity 's expedcted Llosses or the right o receive an entlny's expected Income.

A VIE must be consolidated by its primary beneficiary, which generally is defired as the party that has a controlling Fnancial interest in the VIE. We are
desmmed 1o have a conralling Enancial intevest in a VIE if we have (i) the power to drect the activities of the VIE that most slgnificantly affect the VIE's
econormic performance and (i) the obiipation to absorb losses of the VIE or the right (o recelve iIncome from the VIE that could poteraially be significant 1o
the VIE. For purposss of evalusting (if) above, fees paid to us as a decision maker or service provider are excluded if the amourt of fees is commensurse
with the level of effort regquinsd (o be performed and the arangement includes only assomary temms, conditions or amounts present n arangemens for
simnil ar services negotiated at amn's lengih. The primary beneficiary evalustion generally is performed gualitatively based on all facs and ciroumstances, as
well as guantitatively, as appropriate.

1f we hawve a variable interest in an entity that (s determined not to be 3 VIE, the entity is then evaloated for consolidation inder the VOE model. For liméed
parmerships and similar entities, we are deemed to have a confrolling financial interest in a VOE, and would be required to consolidate the entiy, if we
own a majority of the ety s ick-out righis through voting liméted parmership ingerests and mited partners do not hold substantive participating rights
{or other rights that would indicate that we do rot congrol the entity). Foe entitdes other than limbted parmerships, we are deemed 1o have a controlling
financial interest in a VOE if we own a majority voding ivderest in the entity.

The analysis performed regarding the determination of variable interests beld, whether entities are VIEs or VOES, and whether we have a controlling
Fnancial interest in such entities, requires the exercise of judgment. The analysis is updated contineously as dramnstances change or new entities are
formed.

Casit qref Cash Equivelenis

Cash and cash equivalents indode cash on hand, demand deposits, money market accounis, overnight commercial paper and highly |iquid imvesmments with
original manites of three months or less Due to the shore-temm nanse of these insroments, the recorded value has been deemmined (o approimate falr
wvaloe {and considered Level 1 securities in the fair value hierarchy).

Fees Receivable, Net

Fees receivable are shown net of allowancoes, An allowance for doubtful accounts refated (o imvestment advisory and senvioes bees is determined throwgh an
analysis of the aging of receivables, assessments of collectability based on historical mends and ogher quakitative and quantitative factors, including our
relationship with the dient, the financal health (or ability to pay) of the dient, cument economic conditions and whether the acommi is active or closed.
The allowance for doubtful acommts is not material to fees receivable.
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Brokerage Fransgetons

Custonters” seamities rarsactions we recotded on a settlement date basis, with relaed commission income and expenses reported on a rade date basis,
Receivables from and payables to cients include amounts due on cash and margin transactions. Seamrities owned by oustomers are held as collateral for
receivables; such collateral is not reflected in the consolidated finandal staterments. We have the ability by contract or custom o sell or re-pledge this
collateral, and have done 50 at varioes Umes. As of December 31, 2020, there were no re-pledged securites. Principal seoorites wansacions and related
Experses are recorded on a wade date basis

Securites borowed and securities loaned by our broker-dealer subsidiaries are recorded at the amourd of cash collaeral advanced of received in
conpection with the ransaction and are [ncluded in receivables from and payables o brokers and dealers In the consolidated statements of firandal
condition. Securities boarowed mansactions require us to deposit cash collateral with the lender. With respect to securities loaned, we recefve cash collateral
from the bomrowes, See Note 8§ for securities bomowed and losned amounts recorded in our consolidated siatements of fnancal condition & of
December 31, 2000 and 2019 The initial collateral advanced or recelved approximates of is preater than the fair value of securities borrowed or loaned. \Wwe
monitor the falr value of the sequrities borrowed and loaned on a dally basis and request additional collateral or retum excess collateral, as appropriate. As
of Ducverber 31, 2000 and 2019, there {3 no allowanoe provision requined for the collateral advanoed, Income of expense i meoognized over the life of the
ranaaction.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2009, we had $130.0 million and $204.0 million, mspectively, of cash on deposil with dearing organizations for rade
facilination: purposes, which ste reponied in other sses in our consolidated statements of finncizl condition, As of December 31, 2000 and 2019, we held
ne LS. Treasury bills pledged as collateral. These clearing orpanizations have the ability by confract or custom to sell or re-pledge the collateral, if amy

Current Expected Credit Losses- Receivables from Brokerage cliens

Receivables from clients s primarily composed of margin loan balances. The value of the securities owned by clients and held as collateral for these
receivables (5 nof reflected i ihe Consalidated Financial Statements and the collateral was nol repledged of sold a5 of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we
conaider these financing receivables (o be of good oredit quality due 1o the fact that these receivables are primarily colfateralized by the relaed client
Invesiments,

Tor estimmate expected credit losses on margin loars, we applied the collateeal malnenance practical expedient by comparing the amortized cou basis of the
margin lnans with the fair value of the collateral at the reporting date. Margin loans are limited o a percentage of the todal value of the securities held in the
client's acoount against those loans, AB requires, in the event of a decline in the market value of the securities in a mangin acoount, the client to deposit
additional securities or cash so that, at all dmes, the value of the securities in the account, at a minimum, cover the loan o the client. As such, AB
reasonably expects that the bomower will be able to contirmally replenish collateral securing the financial asset and does not expect the fair value of
collateral to fall below the amonized cost bases of the margin loans and, as a resl, we consider the oredit risk associated with these receivables 1o be
minimal, In crounstnoes when a loan becomes endercollaeralized 2nd the client fails © deposit additional securiti s of cash, AB reserves the right 1o
ligui date the acooumil.

Curreni Expecied Credit Losses - Receivables from Reverie Confrans with Customers

The majority of sur revenue receivables ame from imvestment advisory and servioe Tees, and distribution revenues, that are typically pabd out of the client
accounts of third-panty products consisting of cash and securities. Due to the size of the fees in relation to the value of the cash and sequrities in account or
fands, the acoount value always excesds the amontized cost hasis of the receivables, resulting in a remote risk of loss. These receivables have a shorm
duration, gererally doe within 30-90 days and there is minimal historical evidence of non-paymmendt of market declines that would cause the fair value of the
underlyivg, securities to decline below the amortized cost of the receivables. AB malniains an allowance for credit losses based vpon an estimate of the
amaunt of potential redit losses inoexisting acoounts receivable, a5 determined from a review of apging schedulbes, past doe balances, historical codlection
experionce and ather specilic accosnt data, Once detenmined uncollectible, aped balsnoes are widlten off as credit loss expense, This determination is based
on careful analysis of individual receivables and aging schedules, and generally ocours when the receivable becomes over 360 days past due. Cur aged
recedvables and amourds written off related ta credit losses in any year are not material.

Furnfiure, Equipmeni and Leasehiold Improvements, Nei
Fusmsiiure, equipment and leasehold irmproventoss ane sated o oo, less acoasmalated dipreciation and ansortzation, Depriciation is recoprized on 4

straigh-liee basis over the esdmated vsebel livis of elght years for fuminne and theee (o $1% years for equipment and software. Leasehold improvements ane
amortized on a straight -line basis over the |esser of their estimated usehul lives or the terms of the related leases.

KL
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Coodwill

In 2000, AB acquined SCB Inc, an investment research and manageosent company loomerly known as Sanford C Bemstein Inc. [“Bemstein™). The
Bemstein acquisition was accoumnited for under the purchase method, and the cost of the aogquisition was allocated on the basis of the estimated fair value of
the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The excess of the purchase price over the Fair value of identiliable assets acquired, net of lizbilides assumed,
resudted in the recoqnition of poodwill of approximately $3.0 billion.

As of December 31, 220, goadwill of $3.1 billion on the consolidated staterment of financial condition inciwded 528 billion as a result of the Bernstein
acrpeisition and S2E2 million in regard (o vartous smaller acquisitiors. Wi have determened that AB hus only one reporting sefiment and teporti o i,

Coodwill is tested annually, as of September 30, for impaimment wilizing the market approach where the fair value of the reporting unit is based on lis
unadjusted market valuation (AB Units oudstanding multiplied by AR Holding's Unit price) and adjpsted market valuations assuming a control presmiom
{when applicable). The price of a publicly-raded AB Holding Unit serves 25 a ressonable starting podnt for valuing an AB Unit because each repeesents the
same fractional interest in our underlying business. Throughout the year, the carmmying value of goodwil| is also reviewed for impairment if certain evenis or
chanpes in circomstances ooour, and irigger whether an interim impairment test may be required. Such changes in circumstances may include, but are not
Hrmited o, a susained decrease in the price of an AB Holding Unit of declines in AB's market caplializaton that would suggest that ibe fair value of the
reparting unit (5 less than the carrying amouondt; significant and wnandoipated declines in AB's asseds onder managenent of revenues; andor lowes than
expected armings per unit, Any of these changes in circumstanoes could supgest the possibility that goodwill is impaired, but none of these events or
cirqumstances by el would fsdicae that it s mone kel than not that poedwill is impaited, Instesd, they are merely recogmized a5 ripgering evenis for
the consideration of impairment and must be viewed in combination with any mitigating or positive factors. A halistic evaluation of all events since the
most Tecent quantitative impaiment test must be done to determine whether it is more Hkely than nod that the reponting unit is impaired. As of September
3, 2020, the irnpaimnens vest indicsted that goodwill was not impaired. There were no f2cs or droumstances ocouring in the founh quarter of 2000
supgesting possibie impaimment.

As of January 1, 2000, we adopted ASU 2007-0d, Stmplifving the Test for Coodwill Impairment. The guidanee removed Sup 2 of the goodwill impainment
test, which had requined a hypothetical purchase prioe allocaton. As a mesult of the revised guidance, a poodwil] Impairtment will be dhe amount by which a
reporting unit's carmrying valoe exceeds its fair walue, not to exceed the camying amount of goodwill. Under this guidance, the goodwill impaimment test no
torger includes a determination by management of whether a decline in fair value is temporary; however, it is important to consider the impact of changing
marked condions, including the severity and anticlpated duration, (s reflected In manapement's determination of fair valoe.

Intangible Assets, Net

Intangible assets consist primarfly of cous assigned (o acquired investment mansgemnent conracts based on their estimated falr value at the dme of
acouisition, less acoormulated amortization. Inangible asseds are recognized at fair value and generally are amonized on 2 swalghi-line basis over their
estimated usehal [ile ranging from six vears to 20 years,

Asof Decernber 31, 220, intangible asses, net of aocurnlaed amortization, of $44.5 million on the corsolidated staerment of Linancial condition consists
of 529.2 million of finite-lived intangible assets subject (o amodti zation and $15.3 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to amortization.
As of December 31, 2019, intangible assets, net of acoumulsted amortization, of 3554 million on the corsolidated statement of financial condition
consisted of %41.9 million of finite-lived Imargible assets subject o amontization, of which $15.5 million related o the Bemsteln acquisition (which was
folly amortized as of December 31, 20007, and $13.5 million of indefinite-lived intangible asseis not subject to amontization in regard o other acquisiiions.
The gross carrying amomt of Enite-Hved inangible msets totaled $65.1 million s of December 31, H20 and S46E.9 million a5 of Decorber 31, 2009, and
acoumad sed amortization was $35.0 million as o December 31, 2000 and S427.0 million & of December 31, 2000, Amortization expende was 5214
million for 2020, $26.8 miilion for 2019 and $27.8 million for 2018, Estimated armual amortization expense for 2021 is approximately $6 million, $5
million in years two throveh four, then approsdmatety $4 million in year five.

‘We perindically review indefinite-lived intangible assets for impaiment as events or changies in circumsiances indicate that the camying value may not be
recowverable. If the camying value exceeds fair value, we perform additional impalinment fests to measre the amaunt of the impaimment loss, it any. During
the fourh quaeter of I, we recorded an impaimeent of $1.5 million relating o cur 2016 aoquisition of Ramivs Alernative Safutions LLC. Due ta the
toss of acquired investment managerer comracts during 2020, the camrying value of the Enite-lived inangible asses exceeded e fair valoe of the
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contracts. We determnined the fair valve of the conmracs using a discounted cashflow model. The [mpaimment charge was recorded in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidsted statements of income,

Deeferred Sales Commissions, Net

We pay commissions o financial mbermedianies in connection with the sale of shares of open-end company-sponsored mutual funds sobd withoot a from-
end sales charge (“back-end load shares™). These commissions are capitalized as defemed sales commissions and amontized over periods not exceeding
ong year for U.S. fund shares and fouor years for Mon-U.S. Fond shares, the periods of time during which deferred sales commissions generally are
recovired. Wi recover these comedssions from dismribution services fees receivid from those funds and from COSC meceived from shareholders ol those
fumds upon the redempelon of thelr shares. COSC cash mecoveries are recorded as reductions of unamortized deferred sales commissions when recelved.
Since January 31, X093, ax LS. mutual lunds have not offered back-end load shares to new investors

Wi periodically review the dderred salis cormmission asset boe impalmoent &5 evients of changes in circumstances ndicate dhat the canrying value may not
be recoverable. LT these factors indicate impaimment in value, we compare the camying value to the undiscoumnited cash flows expected to be genevated by the
asset over its remaining lile. If we determine the deferred sales commission asset is not fully recovershle, the asset will be deemed impaired and a loss will
b recorded [n the amoont by which the recorded amount of the asset exceeds it estimated fair valoe. There were no impatrment charges reconded during
2000 or H1S,

Leases

We deterinine if an amangement is 2 lease sl inceplion. Both operating and finance leases are included in the right-ol-ase ("ROU™) assets and lease
Hiabilities in our consol idaed statement of financial condiion.

ROWU assets represent our right (0 use an under]ying asset for the bease werm and lease Labilites mepresent our obligation to make lease payments ansing
from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present valoe of lease paymenis over the lease term. We
ose @ incemental bomowinge rate based on the information available as of the lease commencement date in determining the present value of lease
paverenis. Our lease termms may include options o extend of teminate the lease, These options o extend of temninate are xaessed on a lease-by-lease basls,
arsd the ROWU assets and lease [Eabllites are adjosted when i s reasonably centain that an option will be exercised.

‘When caloulating the measurement of ROU assets and lease liahilities, we utilize the fixed payments assoclated with the [ease and do not [nclude other
variable contraciel obligations, aich as opersling expenses, real este Lxes aind emplovee parking. These costs are accounitied for b8 period cous and
experied a5 incurred.

Addidonally, we exclude any intangible assets such as software licensing agreements as stated in ASC 842-10-15-1. These amangements will continoe to
Tallow the guidance of ASC 350, Metmgibles - Coodwill and Oifier,

Loss Confingencies

With respect to all signilicant [iti gation manters, we consider the likelihood of a negative outcome. 1f we determine the likelihood of a negative outcome is
probabée and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we record an estimated [oss For the expected outcome of the Hupatlon. If the kel lhood of
a negative outcome is rezsonably possible and we are able to determine an estimate of the possible loss or range of loss in excess of ameoumis already
acorued, 11 any, we disclose that fact vogether with the estimate of the possible loss o range of loss, Howeves, I s often ditficult to predicn the cuicome o
euiate i possible loss of range of |oss because ligaton is subject (o inhetes wnortunties, pantiosdsly when plairtiifs allepe subsungial of [rdemminse
damages. Such is also the case when the litigation is in its early stages or when the liigation is highly complex or broad in scope. In these cases, we
disclose that we are unable to predict the outcome of estimate a possible |oss or range of loss,

Comingeni Paymeni Arrangemenis

We periodically enter into contingent payment arangements n comnection with oor bisiness comblnations. In these Hranpements, we aglee 1o pay
additional consideration 1o the sellers (o the extent that certaln performance targets are achleved. We estimate the fair value of these potential fumore
obligations at the time a business combination (s consymmated and record 2 liability on our consalid sed statements of Hnansial condition, We then scoe
the obligation (o its expected payment amoant over the measurement period, I our expected payment amount subsequently changes, the obligation s
modified in the anment pericd resoliing in a gain or loss. Both gains and |osses resulting from changes o expected payments and the acoretion of these
obligations to their expected payment amounts are reflected within contingent payment swangements in our consolidated

Th
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statements of income. During the fourth quaner of 2000, we recorded an impairment of ihe contingent consideration payvable of $1.4 milllon relating o our
2006 acquisition of Ramius Alternative Solutions LLC.

Miruaf Fund Underwriting Activiifes

Purchases and sales of shares of company-sponsored matual funds in connection with the underwTiting activities of our subsidiaries, induding retated
commmission [ncome, are recorded on the made date. Receivables from brokers and dealers for sale of shares of company-sporsored munal hands gererally
are realized within three business days from the frade date, in conjunation with the settbement of the related payables o company-sponsored mutal fonds
for share purchases. Distribution plan and other promaion and servicing payrments are recognized a5 expense when inoumed,

Long-term incentve Compersaiton Plans

Wie maintain several unhunded, non-qualified [ong teem incentive comperaation plans, under which we grant armal swards o smployess, generally in the
fourth quaner, and o metbers of the Board of Directors of the General Panrer, who are not employed by oor company or by any of our affillaes
(" Eligitde Directors”],

Awards granted in December 2000, 2009 and 2018 allowed employes panticipants to allocate their awards between restricted AB Holding Units and
deferred cash. Participants (except certain mermbers of senior management] gererally conld allocate up to 5% of their awards to deferred cash, not to
exceed 2 iotal of $230,000 per award Each of our employess based oviside of the Uniied States {other than expariates], who received an award of
S100,000 ar less, could have allocated vp to 1008 of his or her award to deferred cash, Participanis allocated thedr awards prios o the date on which the
Compensation Commibiee granted swards in Decormber 2020, 2019 and 2018, For these awards, the rumber of AR Holding Units awanded was based on
the closing price of an AB Holding Uniton the grant date. For swards granted in 220, 20019 and X018

= \We engage in open-market purchases of AB Holding Units or purchase newly-issued AB Holding Linits from AB Holding that are awarded o
participants and keep them in a consolidated rabbd tnost.

*  Coarterly disiributions on vested and unwvested AB Holding Units are paid currently to participants, regardless of whether or not a long-tenm
deferral election has been made.

«  Interest on deferred cash {s aconed monthly based on our monthly welghred average cost of funds.

W recognize compensation expense nelated o sty compensation grants in the financial statements osing the fair value method, Fair valoe of resricted
AB Holding Unit awards s the closing price of an AB Holding Unit on the grant date; fair value of opions is deternined using che Black-Scholes option
valuation model. Under the Rair value method, compensatory expense is measured &l the grant date based on the estimated fair valoe of the award and is
recognized over the required service period For year-end long-term incentive compensation awards, employees who resipn or are terminabed without caose
may retain their awards, subject o compliance with centain apgreements and restrictive covenants sed forth In the applicable award agreement, Including
resiriotians on competition and employee and client solicitation, and a daw-back for failing to Follow existing risk management polices. Because there s
N SEVice mequinement we heEly expetse these awards on the grant date, Most equity replacement, sign-on of Smilar defewed compensation ywards
frcheded in separate employmnen agreernerts of arrangeeents inchule a rueired service period. Regardless of whether of nod the award agreemen inclodes
employee service requirements, AB Holding Units fypically are delivered to emplovees ratably over bour years, unless the employee has made & long-term
deferral election,

Grants of resirioted AB Holding Units can be awarded to Eligible Directors. Genegally, these restricted AB Holding Units vest ratably over four years.
These restricted AB Holding Units are not forfeitable (pxcept if the Eligible Director is terminated for “Cause,” as that term is defined in the applicable
award agreement). We fully expense these awards on grant date, as there |5 no service requirernent,

‘Wi und our resiricted AB Holding Unit awards either by purchasing AB Holding Units on the open market o purchasing newly-issued AB Holding Units
from AB Holding, and ten keeping these AB Holding Units in a consolidaed rabbi st undl delivering them of retiving them. In scosrdance with the
Amended and Restaced Apresment of Limied Parmership of AB (“AB Partnership Agreemend”), when AB purchases newly-issoed AB Holding Units
from AB Holding, AB Holding is required 1o use the proceeds it receives from AB to purchase the equivalent number of newly-issued AB Units, thus
increasing its percentage ownership interest in AB. AB Holding Units held in the consalidated rabbi trust are corporate assets in the name of the must and
are available to the gereral oreditors of AB.
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Repurchases of AR Holding Units for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 corsisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019
{in millions)
Toda! amount of AB Holding Units Purchased 7 54 6.0
Totzl Cash Paid for AB Holding Units Purchased!” 5 1450 % 1726
Open Market Purchases of AB Holding Units Purchased ! 31 9
Toual Cash Paid for Open Market Porchases of AB Holding Units 3 740 % 82,7

[1) Pubrchansd v & rade die basis
1) Tra rermairdder retard v purchan of A1 Helding Uit fepra erephpwees 1o Faifil] wasapry wax withbolding reguieprgens a5 the sree of deivvpry of Tong-teme ingentve porgperastl on awands

Eadh quarter, we consider whether to implement a plan to repurchase AB Holding Units pursuant o Fules 10b5-1 and 10b-18 wnder the Secorities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (“Exchange Act”). A plan of this type allows a company to repurchase its shares at timss when it otherwise might be
prevesied from dofng so because of self-imposed orading blackeur periods or because [t possesses material non-public information. Each broker we selea
has the avthority o repurchase AB Holding Unis on our beball in accordance with the teoms and Hmbatons specified inhe plan. Reperchases are subject
to regulations promulgated by the SEC a5 well as centain price, market volume and timing constraints specified in the plan. The plan adopted during the
fourth quarter of 20240 expired &t the close of business on Febmuary 10, 2021 We may adopt additional plans in the futore to engage in open-market
purchases of AB Halding Units to help hand anticipated obligations under our incentive compensation award program and for other corporate porposes.

During 2020, we granted to employees and Eligible Directors 5.7 million restricted AB Holding Uniis (including 50 million granted in December tor 2020
yvear-end awards o employees). During 2019, we gramied to employess and Eligible Directors 7.7 mibllon restricted AB Holdieg Units (including 5.4
million granted in December for 2009 year-end awards 1o employess). We used AB Holding Unilts repurchased during the periods and newly-lsued AB
Holding Usits o fund these awards,

During 2020 and 2019, AB Holding issued 5,182 and 0.5 million AB Holding Units, respectively, upon exercise of opdions o buy AB Holding Units. AB
Holding vsed the proceeds of 80,1 million and $11.5 miilion, respectively, received brom award recipients as payment in cash for the exercise price o
purchase ihe equivalert rumber of newly-issued AB Unis

Foreign Currercy Transiafion and Transachions

Assets and labilides of forelgn subsidiaries are manslated from functional awrrencies into Uniied States dollars (“USS™) &t exchange rates in effect ar the
balance sheet dates, and related revernes and expenses are ranslated info USS at averape exchange rates In effect during each period. Met forelgn currency
gains and |osses resdliing from the rranslation of asets and labllites of loreign operations into USS sre reported a3 2 separate component of other
comprehesive income in dwe consolidaed saements of comprehensive income, Net loreifn cumwency rarsaction losses were 3.3 million, 52,0 million
aret $4.1 million for 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and are reported in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income.

Cosh Distriuiions

AB is required to distribute all of its Available Cash Flow, as delined in the AB Partnership Agreement, o its Unitholders and to the General Partner.
Available Cash Flow ean be summarized as the cash flow received by AB from operations mims such amounts as the Ceneral Panner determines, [n s
sole discretion, should be retained by AB for use in lis business, or plus such amounts as the General Parmer determines, n i sole disoretion, should be
released from previously retaimed cash fow,

Typically, Available Cash Flow has been the adjusted diluted net income per unit for the quarter muldplied by the number of general and |imied
parnership interests 2 the end of the quarter, In hotore periods, manspernent anticipates that Available Cash Flow will be based on adjusted diluted net
income per unit, unless management determines, with the concumence of the Board of Directors, that one or mon: adjustments that are made for adjusted
ned income showld not be made with respect to the Available Cash Flow caloulation.

On February 11, 2021, the General Partner declared a diseribution of $1.05 per AR Unit, representing a distribution of Available Cash Flow for the three

months ended December 31, 2020, The Ceneral Parmer, as aresult of its 1% peneral pannevship interest, s entided to receive 1% of each distribution. The
disiribution is payable on March 4, 2021 to holders of record on Febmuary 22, 2001,
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Todad cash disributions per Unit paid to the General Parmer and Unithobders during 2000, 2019 and 2018 were 33,08, 5260 and 53,16, respectively.

Comprehessive Income

We report all changes in comprehensive income in the consalidated statenents of comperehensive income, Comprebensive income includes net income, as
well a5 foreign aurrency manslation adjustments, actuarial gains (losses) and prior service cost. Delerred taxes were not recognized on foreign aurmency
transiation adjustments for foredpn subsidiaries which had eamings that were considered permanent]y invested oniside the Undted States.

3. Revenue Recognition

Revenues bor the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2008 consisted of the following;

Year Ended December 11,
2020 2019 2018
{in thousands)
Subject to confracts with ousiomens:
Investment advisory ad services fees
Base fees % TAG2 A1 % 2372429 5 2,244,068
Perlormance-hased fees 132 625 615 118,143
Bemstein research services 458,74 H07,911 435,432
¥ saribution mevenos
All-in-manapement fees 331268 281,599 54477
Laty-I Dees a3 0,268 87, Lk
Cibver 122,540 82,776 76,919
Dxher revenues
Shareholder servicing fees 82,317 77,304 75,974
Ciher 21,240 17,924 13,211
2688516 3,430,316 33153590
Mot subject to contracts with customers:
Dividend and intenest income, net of interest expense 35273 47,216 45,827
Investrent (losses) pains (16,400} 38,659 2653
Oher revenies 1,146 2,241 3,451
20,018 £, 116 51,971
Total net revenues % 3,708 % Eew 5 ﬁ?&l

3
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4. Net Income Per Unbt

Basic net fnoome per onie is derived by reducing ret incorme for the 1% genecal parmership iegerest and dividing e remaining 99% by the basic welghus
average number of lnsted parmership units outsanding for each year. Diluted net income per uni is detived by redacing net income for the 1% general
parmership interest and dividing the remaining 99% by the twtal of the diloted weiphted average number of limited partrership units outstanding for each
b

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2hEE
{in thousands, exorpt per unit amounis)
Mt income siributable to AB Unitholders 5 855952 % 5202 5 757,560
Werlghted average units cotstanding—basic 268,068 268075 260,25
Dilative effect of compensatory options to buy AE Holding Linits 27 -H 251
Welghted average units corsonding—dioed 269,085 68, 119 260467
Basic net income per AB Unit 5 3.19 § L7 5 279
Dt vet income per AB Unit $ 318 % a7 & 178
Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Amnti-dilutive options exduded From diluted net income 29,066 X056 48,784

5. Cash and Securities Segregated Under Federal Regulstions and Other Requirements

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, S1.8 billion and S1.1 billion, respectively, of LLS. Treasury Bills were segregated in a special reserve bank custody
account for the exclusive benefit of our brokerage customers tmder Rule 15¢3-3 of the Exchange Act,

6. Investments
Investrments consist of;
December 31,
2020 2019
fin theusands)
Equity sequrities:
L i it iEpc b Comftpenaajon -ved sled £ M35 & B
Seed capital 75,766 T
Diher 55429 TaM2
Exchange-traded options Taxy b,931
Imvestments in limited partmership hedge hmds:
Long-term incentve compensation -rel ated 5,762 14,257
Sewd capital 16646 51
Time depasits 18,602 18,281
Cither 189,262 173,850
Total investments 5 253375 & 266,704

Todad investroents refated (0 long-tem incentive compensation obligations of $60.1 million and $30.9 million & of December 31, 2020 and X019,
respectively, consist of company-sponsored mumeal funds and hedge hnds. For long-term incentive compensation awards granted before 20009, we orpically
made investments in company -sponsored mutual funds and
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hedge fonds that were notdonally elected by plan panticipants and maintained them (and cortinoe o malmain them] In a consolidated rabbl trost or separate
custodial account. The rabbi must and custodial account enable us ra hold such investments separate from our other assets for the purpose of seling our
obligations to participants. The invesiments held in the rabbi st and custodial accoant remain available o the general oreditors of AR

The underying investments of hedge funds in which we invest inchude long and shont positions in equity securities, fixed income securities {inchuding
varions agency and non-agency assei-based securities), cumencles, commaodities and derivatves (incloding various swaps and forward conmaces). These
inwestments are valoed at quoted market prices or, where guoted market prices are nod available, are fair valued based on the pricing policies and
procedures of the underlying fonds,

We allocate seed capital to our investment eams o belp develop new products and services for our clienss. A portion of our seed capital rading
inwvestments are equity and fixed income products, primarily in the form of separately-managed accoundt portfolios, LS, muual funds, Lusembourg funds,
Japarese investment ust management funds or Delaware business frusts, We also may allocate seed capital to investments in private equity hmds. In
regard to our seed capital invesiments, the amounts above reflect those funds in which we are not the primary beneficiary of a VIE or hald a controlling
Financial interest in a VOE. See Note 15, Consofidated Company-Sponsored Invesimendt Funds, for a description of the seed capital invesments that we
consolidaed Az of Decemnber 31, 220 ard 2019, our ol seasd capital invesiments were $310,3 million and $358,1 million, respectively, Seed capital
frvestments [ pnconsolidated company-sponsored investrent furds e valued vsing poblished nee asset values or ron-publisbed nel ass values i they
are oot listed on an active exchange bt have net asset values that are comparable to homds with poblished net asset values and have no redemplion
resiriciions,

In addition, we also have long positions in corporate equities and long exchangie-raded opéions itaded through our options desk.
The partion of unrealized pains (losses) relsted to equity securities, s defined by ASC 321-10, held as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

December 31,
w0 2019
i thousands)
et gain (fosses) recognized during the period 5 17,907 & 31,890
Less: niet galns recognized during the period on equity seouriites sold during the period 27,357 18,138

Unrealized gains (losses) recognized during the period on squity sscurities held b !ﬁ $ %’?53

7. Derivative Instruments

See Note 15, Consolidated Compamy-Sponeored hrvestment Fuords, for disclosure of derivative insmuments beld by our consalidated company-sporsored
imvesment fonds,

We enter inta varions fueures, forwands, options and swaps 0 econotrically hedge cemain seed capiial imvestments. Also, we have currency lorwards that
help us o economically hedge cenain balance sheet exposures. In addition, our options desk mrades long and short exchange-rraded equity optiors. We do
not hold any derivatives designated in a formal hedge relationship tnder ASC 815-10, Derivartfves ard Hedging.

a1
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“The notional value, fair valoe and gains and losses recoqnized In investment gains (losses) & of December 31, 2020 and 2009 for devivative insinaments
{excluding derivative insmaments el ating to our options desk wading activities discussed betow] not designated as hedging instnuments were as follows:

Notiomnal D rivative Derivative Caains
Value Assets Liabilities {Losses)
(in thousands)

December 31, 2020

Exchange-iraded hotures. -3 142,886 % 118 % 1LEX % (15,743}
Curency forwands 63,906 8,576 8451 (1,779}
kel rake swaps 60,997 2043 2,055 (347)
Credit default swaps 167,642 10,310 13,304 {164)
Todal remum swaps 52,061 9 1847 (15,242}
Option swaps 2,486 — 2146 (2,374}
Total derivatives 5 489,985 & 21,741 % 30,537 & (25,589)
December 31, 2019

Exchange-wraded itures 5 7Lz 5 933 % 871 % (10 840)
Currency forwands 60,809 8545 R 738
Interest rate swaps 92,756 1,746 2154 (616}
Credit defanlt swaps 163,303 7,151 5611 (6,413}
Tistall retim swaps 91,201 110 1,764 (21,164}
Option swaps 354 i 126 (126}
Total derivatives 0 584,535 % 13491 & 19,250 % (38,421)

As of Decernber 31, 2020 and 2009, the derivative assets and labilities are included in both receivables and payvables to brokers and deabers on our
consolidsted ssements of linancial condition. Caing and lostes on derivative insaiments st reported in investrterd gains [osss) on the consslidatied
statements of income.

We may be exposed io credil-related losses in the event of non-performance by coumlerparties to derivative finamdal instrumenis. \We minimize our
counterpany exposure through a credit review and approval process. In additdon, we have execeted various collateral arrangements with counterpanies o
the over-the-counter derivative iransactions that require both pledging and accepting collateral in the boom of cash. As of Decernber 31, 2020 and 2019, we
held S04 million and $0.3 million, respectively, of cash collaeral payable to rade counterpanties, This obligation fo reum cash is neported in payvables
brokers and dealers in our consolidated staterrents of firancial condition.

Although notional amound is the mest commanly used measure of vodume in the derivatives market, it is not used a3 a measure of oredit risk, Cenerally, the
curent credit exposure of our derivative contraots i limited o the net positive estimated Fair valoe of derivative contracts at the reparting date af ter taking
into consideration the existence of netting agreements and any collateral received. A derivative with positive value (a derivative asset) indicates existence
of credit risk because the counterpanty would owe us if the contract were closed. Altermatively, a derivative comract with negative value (3 derivative
Habiliny) indicates we would owe money o the coumterparty if the contract were closed, Generally, if there is more than one derivative ransaction with a
sirgle counterpany, a Masier neding arrangernent exiss with respect 1o derlvative mansactiors with that counterparty (o provide for apgrefate net
sedtlerment,

Certain of our standardized confracts for over-the-counter derivative mansactions (“"1SDA Master Agreemenis™) contain aredit risk related contingert
provisions pertaining to each counterparty’s oredit rating. In some [SDA Master Agreements, if the counderparty s credit rating, o in some agreements, omr
ALM, falls below a specified threshold, efther a default or a wrmination event permsitting the counterparty (o terminate the [S0A Master Agresment would
be mriggered. In all agreements that provide for collateralization, various levels of collateralization of net liabiliey posltions are applicable, depending on the
cridit rating of the counterpanty. As of December 31, K20 and 2019, we deliversd $6.4 million and $4.3 million, respeatively, of cash collateral into
brokerage accounts Wi report this cash collater sl in cagh and cash egiivalents in our corsolidated statensents of linansial condition,

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we held $7.5 million and $6.% million, respectively, of lon exchange-traded equity options, which are incduded in
other investments on our consolidated staterments of financial condition. [n sddition, as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, we held $12.5 million and $12.3
million, respectively, of short excharpe -raded equity options,
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which are inchuded in securities sold nol yel purchased on our consalidated statements of financlal condition. Our options desk provides oor clients with
equity derivativie strategies and execution lor exchange-traded options on single stocks, exchange-raded funds and indices. While peedominately agency-
based, the opions desk may comnit capital 1o faciliate a clients mransaction, Our opiions desk hedges the risk associated with this activity by taking
offsetting positions in equities. For the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2019 we recognized $11.9 million and $22.2 million, respectively, of losses on
equity options aotivity, These losses are recognized in imvestment pains {losses) in the consolidated statermnents of income,

8. Offseviing Assers and Liabilides

See Note 15, Consolidated Compaty -Spossored Imvesorent Funds, for disclosure of offsetting assets and labilides of our consolidated company-sponsorsd
Ervesment funds,

Offsstting of assets a5 of December 31, 2050 and 2019 was a5 follows:

Net
Amoums of
Gross Assers
Amounts Presented in
Giross Oiffset in che the
Amounts of Statement Statement of Financial
Recognized of Financial Financial Instruments Cash Collateral Met
Asseis Condition Condition Collateral Received Amount
(in thousands)
Decembser 31, 2020
Securities borrowed 3 TEE S — & 7606 % (734) % — 3 464
Derivatives & 21,041 % — § M7 8 — 5 (3807 % 1,361
Long excharme-traded options $ T27 & — % 7527 3 - % - 3 7587
December 31, 2019
Securities borrowesd % 3003 — 3 Wwoys % (38,993 % - % -
Derivativis $ 13,451 % — & 13491 % — & (251} % 13245
Long excharge-traded options & 6931 § — £ 6931 % — % — % B.531
Oiffsetiing of liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 30159 was as follows:
Mot
Giross Arotits
Amounts of Liabilicies
Offset in the Presented in
Giross Statement the
Amounis of af Staterment Finandal
Rmﬁ'ud Finandal of Fimandal Insrrimenis Cash Collateral Mt
Lia 5 Condition Condition Collaeral Pledged Amount
(in thousaads)
December 31, 2020
Durivatives & ELEE P — % 53T S — 3 (6,374) % 24,163
Shom exchange-raded options $ 12486 % — & 12486 % — % — % 12,486
Decembser 31, 2019
Dexivatives 5 15259 % — & 15758 § — & (4.276) % 14,563
Shoet exchange-traded opiiors % 12348 % — 8 12348 % — % — % 12,344

Cash collateral, whether pledged or received on derivative insfruments, s not considered material and, according!y, (s not disclosed by commterpary.

3
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9. Fair Value
See Note 15, Corsolideted Comparny-Sponsored Invesiment Furas, lor disclosure of fair value of our consolidated company -sporsored imvsiment funds.

Fair value is defined a5 the price that would be received 1o sell an asset or paid to wansler a lisbility (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction
between rarket participands at b messurement date, The three broad levels of fair value hierarchy are as follows:

*  Level |—Cuated prices in active markets are available for identical assets or liabilities as of the reported date.
+  Level 2—Ouoted prices inmarkets that are not active o other pricing imputs that are either directly or indirectly observabie a5 of the meponed date,

*  Level 3—Prices or valuation rechniques that are bath significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable as of the reported date. These
financial instruments do not bave two-way markets and are measured gsing maragerent's best estdmate of fair value, where the inputs into the
determnination of fair value require significant management judgment or estimation.

Asgeis and Ligbilites Measured of Fair Value on g Regurring Bagis

Valuation of oor fnancial insouments by pricing observability levels as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was as follows (in thousands):

Level L Level 2 Level 3 mﬁvmﬁ" Ohher “Todal
Decembrer 31, 2020;
Morey markets -1 130675 % — % — % — 5 — % 130675
Securities segregated (LS, Treasury Bills) — 1,752,906 — —_ - 1,752 S
Drerivatives 118 21,623 — — — 21,741
Investrments:
Equity securitivs 147,706 17,565 125 1651 - 165,556
Long exchange-traded options 7,527 - — — — 7527
Iﬂ;m‘ggii i — = = — 42,408 42,408
Time depasis™ — — — — L8602 18,602
O invesoments 7811 — — — 12,271 18,282
Todal investmends 162,243 17,565 125 161 73,581 253375
Total assets measasred at Cair vahae & 293036 % 1792094 % 125 % 161 % 73281 & 2158697
Securities sold not yet purchased;
Short equities — corporate -3 5305 % — 5 — % — 5 — % 5305
Short exchange-traded oplions 12,486 - — ) — 12,4585
Derivatives 1,834 28,703 — — — 30,537
Coningent payies aanpemes — — 27,750 — — 27,750
Total liabilities measured at fair vahae b lﬁ 5 a‘mi % ?_'l'im & — 5 —
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Emlﬂgl"" Cither Total

Decembrer $1,2019:
Money markets 3 126401 % — % — % —_ — % 126,401
Securites segregated (U5, Treasury Bills) — 1,044,866 — — — 1,094, By
Deerivatives 420 12,552 — —_ - 13,451
Invesstimaenls;

Equity seqarities 170,546 952 115 34 — 150,331

Long exchange-traced oplions 6,931 = = — -_ 6,551

Limited parnershi

e = — - — 47,31 7,361

Time depasits'™ — - - — 18,441 18,281

Oiher invesoments 5,883 — — — B.007 13,856
Tadal invisstments 183,760 8,952 ] 34 7a648 266,75
“Total assets measured at fair vale ] AL 5 L1ETD % 118 % 4 5 71649 § 1501552
Secorities sold not yet purchased:

Short equities = comporate -3 17800 3 - % — % — & - % 17,806
Short exchanpe-traded options 12,348 — —_— _ — 12 348

Derivatives 471 18,388 — — — 19,255
Contingent payment amangements — — 22811 — — 22811
Tostal Habsilivies meaaved an Giir value H 3L,028 % 18,388 % 2o s — & — % 72327

1 prvestroents roesaned o fair valoe using NAY (or s squlvalent) as 8 pracical expedient.
B pryvestmoents i equicy moethod irvessees that are notmeaaeed ai falr value In sommdmee with GAATR
1 provesarments carried & arvormized cost that are el measored a1 fair vatue in sccordance with GAAR.

Other investments indude (i} an investment in a software publishing company that does not have a readily available fair valve ($2.1 million and
£1.0 million as of December 31, 200 and 2009, respectively ), (i1} Investrents [k stam-up companies that do nod have 3 readily avallabie falr valoe {ihese
fmvestments were $0.3 million and $0.9 million as of Decermber 31, 2000 and 2019, respectively), (Iil) investments in eguity method investees that are not
measured at Lair valoe i accordance with GAAP (56,5 million and $2.9 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively ), and (iv) broker dealer
exchange menbarships that are not measunsd at faie valee in 2ocordenee with CAAP ($3.3 million and 53,2 million as of Decermber 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively )

We prowide befow a descripiion of the falr value methodologies vsed for insoruments measured at fair value, as well as the gereral classificstion of such
Instnaments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy:

Money markels: We invest excess cash in various money market hunds that are valoed based on quoted prices in active markets; these are included
in Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

Treasury Bills: We hold LLS. Treasury Bills, which are primarily segregated in a special reserve bank oustody accoumt as required by Rule 15:3-3
of the Exchange Act. These securities are valued based on quoted yields in secondary markeis and are included in Level 2 of the valuation
hierarchy.

Equity securities: Owr equity securites consist principally of company-sponsored mumal hmds with NAVs and various separately-manaped
portiolios consisting primarily of equity and fixed incomwe munal hunds with quoted prices in active markets, which are incloded in Leved 1 ol the
vitluation hierarchy, In addition, some securities ane vilued based on observable inputs from recognized pricing vendors, which are included in
Level  of the valuation hievanchy.

Derivatives: We hold exchange-traded futures with coomterparties that are included in Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy, In addition, we also hold
ourrency forward conoraots, interest rate swaps, credit defacit swaps, option swaps

5
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and todal remom swaps with counterparties that are valued based on observable inpuis from recopnized pricing vendors, which are included in
Level 2 of the valuation hieranchy,

*  Options: We hold exchanpe-traded opéions that are included in Level 1 of the valuation hierarchy.

+  Securities sold ol yet purchased: Securities sold not yet purchased, primarily reflecting shon positions in equities and exchange-traded oplions,
are incloded in Level 1 of the valoaiion hierarchy.

= Covtigent pavmentl arrangements: Contingent payment amangements relate to contingent payment liabilities associated with various
acquisitions. At each reponing date, we estimate the Fair valoes of the contingent consideration expected 1o be pald upon probabiliy-welghted
AUM and revenue projections, using inobservable marker data inputs, which are included in Leve! 3 of the valuation hierarchy.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, thire wene nooransfers between Level 2 and Level 3 securities.

The change in camying value associated with Level 3 linancial instruments caried a8 Bair value, classified as equity securities, is as follows

December 31, December 31,
2020 2015

(i rhousands)
Balance as of begimning of period 5 1ns % 142
Purchases - -
Sales —_ ==
Realized gains (losses], net - -
Unrealized {losses) gains, net b 23)
Balance as of end of period & 125 % 119

Realized and urrealized gaivs and [owses on Level 3 finansial instruments are reconded in investrent gaies and [osses in the consalidated staterients of
fncome,

As part ol acquisitions made by the Company, we may enter inlo contingent consideration amrangements as part of the purchass price. The charpe in
carmying vahae associabed with Level 3 financial instraments carried at fair value, classilied as conbingent payment smangements, is as follows;

December 31, December 31,

200 2019
(im thousands)
Batance a5 of begivning of period & ol s 7336
Addition 4,400 17,384
Acoretion 3,105 2542
Changis in estimaes (1,366) (3951)
Payrients (1,30 {1,300}
Batance as of end of period £ 27,750 & 22911

The liabilities wene valued using expecied revenue growth raoes and discount rates. The expected mevenue growtls rates range from 0.7% 1o 50.0%, with a
weighted averape of 4.9%, caloulaed using curmulative revenoes and cenge of revenue growdh res (excluding revenge growih from additional AUM
coniributed from existing clients). The discoumt rates ranged from 1.9% to 10.4%, with a weighted average of 8.0%, caloulated using total contingent
liabilities and range of discoumt rates,

Aszeix and Liabilittes Meagsured gt Fair Walue on g Nonreouening Basis

We did not have any material assets or Habilites thar were measured at fzir valve for impaiment on a nonrecuming basis durivg the years ended
December 31, 2020 or 2015
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16k Furnfture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvemenis, Net

Furminure, equiperent and lessehold improvessents, ned consist of:

December 31,
2020 2019

{in theusands)
Furndere and equipment £ 5565966 & 575,370
Leasshold improvernenis 284,080 Mob, 365
841 046 B3
Lesss: Acoumulated depoeciation and amontization (B53,172) (5,457
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 147874 & 145,251

Depreciation and amortization experse on fominre, eguipment and |easehold improvements were $35.2 million, $38.1 million and 534.2 million for the
years ended December 31, 204, 2009 and X018, respectively.

1L Deferred Sales Commissions, Net

The comporents of deferred sales commisslons, net for the years ended Decernber 31, 209 and 2019 were as lollows (excluding amounts related to fally
amortized deferred sales commissions):

December 31,
2020 2019
(im thousands)
Camying amount of defemed sales commissions % 116454 % 63,371
Less: Acoumulated amortization (30,001} (159,348}
Cuarmlative CDSC meeeived (X241 (12,727}
Deferred sales commissions, net § 64,066 % 36,296

Amortization expense was $27.4 million, $15.0 million and $21.3 miilion for the years ended Decemnber 31, 2020, 2019 and 2006, respectively, Estimated
fonore amort2ati on expense related o the December 31, 2020 ret asset balance, assuming no addifional COGC is received in honre periods, is as follows.
{in thousands):

2021 5 26,980
e 23631
2073 10,787
024 ]
-] 64,066

87
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12 Debr

AB has an $80000 million commined, unseoured senior pevolving oredin facility (the "Credit Faciliny”) with a group of commencial banks amd other
tenders, which matares on September 27, 20023, The Credit Facility provides for possible inresses in the principal amount by up @0 an aperegate
incremerdal amount of £200.0 million; any such inaease is subject to the consent of the affected lenders. The Credit Facility is available for AB and
Sanford C. Bernstein & Co, LLC ("SCB LLC™) business purposes, incloding the soppont of AB's commercial paper program. Both AB and SC8 LLC can
draw directly under the Credit Facility and management may draw on the Credit Facility from dme o tdme. AB has agreed to guarantes the obligations of
SCB LLC urder the Credit Facility,

The Credit Factlicy contalns affirmative, pegative and financlal covenants, which are customary for facilithes of tds oype, noluding eestrloions of
dispositions of assets, rearictions on lens, a minimum interest coverage ratio and a maximum leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2020, we were [n
complisnoe with these covenants, The Credit Facility also includes customary evenits of default (with customary prace perisds, as applicable), including
provisions under which, gpon the ocourmmoe of an event of defauly all setsanding loans may be accelerated andior lender’s commmitments may be
terminated. Also, under such provisions, upon the accumence of centain insolvency- or bankmupicy-related events of default, all armounts payable under the
Credit Facility would automatically become immediately due and payable, and the lender's commimments automatically would terminate.

Amomnis under the Credic Faciliy may be borrowed, repaid and re-borrowed by us from time to tme il the maneriey of dhe facilig. Voluntary
prepayments and commimment reductions requested by 1s are permitted ar any time withoot a fee (other than customary breakage costs relating to the
propayment of sy drawn loans) upon proper notioe and subject o 3 ménimum dollar reguicement, Bomowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at 3
rabe per annny, which will be, at our option, a rae equal o an applicable margin, which is subject 1o adjustment based on the aredic ratings of AB, plus one
of the following indices: London Interbank OHered Rate; a floating base rate; or the Federal Funds rate.

As of December 31, 2000 and 2019, we had no ameunts outstandivg under the Credit Facilitg, During 2020 and 2019, we did nat draw upon the Credit
Faility.

AB also has a $50¢.0 million committed, unsecured senior aredit facility ("EQH Fadlity”™) with EQH. The EQH Facility matures on Movember 4, 204
arsd is available for AE's gereral busivess purposes. Bomowings onder the EQH Facility generally bear interest at a rate per annom based on prevailing
overnight commercial paper rates.

The BOQH Facilioy contains alfimmative, negative and Fnancial covenants which are substantially similar (o those in AB'S committed bank facilides. The
B0 Facility also includes costomany evends of default substantially similar to those in AB"s commined bank Facilities, including provisions under which,
upan the scommence of an event of default, all outstanding loans may be acoelerated and/or the lender's commitment may be teminated.

Amomts under the EQH Facility may be bomowed, repaid and re-bomowed by us from time to time wuntil the manrity of the facility. AB or EQH may
reduce of terminate the commitment at any Gme withoot penalty upon proper nodice. EQH also may terminate dhe facility immediately upon a change of
conmad of our general parmer.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, AB had $675.0 million and $560.0 million ovistanding under the EQH Facility with interest rates of approcdimately
0.2% anel L6%, respeciively, Average daily borrowings on the ECH Faciliny during 2020 and for the 57 days it was available in 2009 wene $470.8 million
ard $358.6 million, respectively, with weighted average interest rages of approximately 0.5% and 16%, respectively.

In addition to the EQH Facility, on Sepember 1, 2020, AB established a new $30.0 million uncommited, unsecuned senjor oredit lacility ("EQH
Uncommitted Facility™) with EQH, The EQH Uncommitted Facility matures on Seplember 1, 2024 and {3 available for AB'S general business purposes
Boarowings imder the EQH Unsecured Fadlity generally bear interest at a rate per armum based on prevailing overnipht commercial paper rates. The EQH
Uncommibted Facility contains affimmative, nepative and financial covenants which are substantially similar to those in the EQH Facility. As of
Decemiber 31, 2020, we had no ameoimts colstanding on the EQH Uncomenitted Facility and have sat drawn o [sinoe s inceplion.

As of both Decemnber 31, 2020 and 2009, we had no commercial paper outstanding. The compsercial paper is short term in nature, and as such, neconded
valie [ estiviated 1o approcimate Laie value (and considened & Levid 2 seaurity in dhe lafr valie Becarchy), Averape dally borrowings of comamencial papes
for 2020 were $83.2 million with a weighted average imterest rate of 0.4%. Average daily bomowings of commercial paper for the 317 days commercial
paper was oulstanding in 2019 were 54356 million with 3 weighted average interest rate of approximately 2.6%,
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AB has 3 520000 million commited, unseaxed senjor revolving credit facilicy (the “Revolver™) with a leading international bank, which mamures on
November 16, 2021 The Revodver [ availsble for AB's and SCB LLCs business purpesss, including the provision of additional liquidity to meet lunding
recuinements primarily related 1o SCB LLC's operations, Both AB and SCB LLC can draw directly under the Revolver and management expects (o draw
on the Revolver from time to time. AB has agreed to guarantee the obligations of SCB LLC under the Revolver. The Revolver contains affimmative,
negative and financial covenants that are identical to those of the Credit Facility. Borowings under the Revolver bear interest at a rate per annum. which
will be, at ol option, a rate equal (o an applicable margin, which & subjed o adjostment based on the oedit ratings of AB, plis one of the following
indices: London Intetbank Offered Rate; a floating base rate; o the Federal Funds rate. As of both December 31, 2000 and 2019 we had no amomnts
outstanding umeler the Revolver. Average daily bomowings for 2020 and 2019 were 8165 million and $205 million, respectively, with weighled averapge
nterest rates of 1.6% and 3.2%, respectively,

In addition, SCE LLC aumrently has three ancommitted |ines of aredit with three financial instiutions. Two of these lines of aredit permit us to borrow up o
an agpregate of approximately $165.0 million, with AB named as an addidonal bormower, while the odver line has no stated limic. As of December 31, 2000
ard 2019, SCB LLC had no oustandirg balance on these lines of credic Average dally borrowings on the lines of credit durlng 2020 and 2019 were $0.9
emiliion and $1.9 mill jon, respectively, with wiighted sverage interest rates of approscimately 1.6% and L9%, respectively.

13 Leases

We lease office space, office equipment and technology under various operating and financing leases. Our currerd leases have remaining lease terms of one
year 1 15 years, some of which include options to extend the leases for up to Hve years, and some of which include options 1o wrminate the leases within
i Y,

Since 2000, we have sub-leased over one million square feet of office space, On Jarmary 1, 2019, the previously recorded liability related 10 our global
space consalidation nitatives of $85.8 million was offset as a reduction o our operating ri ght-of-1se assets,
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Leases incheded in the comolidated staterments of financial condition as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

Classification December 31, 2020 December 31, 200%
{im thoarsands)

Operating Leases.
Operating, lease right-of-use assels Right-of 15e asseds % 416007 % e, 185
Operating lease liabilities Lease liabilities 503,174 465,507
Finance Leases
Property and equipment, pross Ripht-of-use assets 5167 3,825
Amortization of right-ol-use assets Right-of -use asss [2,719) (1317)

Property and equipimest, ned 2,448 2,504
Finance lease labilities Lease liabilities 2,375 2,544

The cotrponents of lease expetise incloded in the consolidated staterments of income for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2009 weee 2% lol lows:

Year Ended December 31,
Classl fcadon 2020 2019
{in thousands)

Owperating lease cosl Ceneral and admindsirative 5 0212 % 106,085
Financing lease cos:

Amaortization of right-of-use assets Ceneral and admindsirative 1,755 1,317

Interesd on lease liabi|ities B erest Expene tis 71
Todal finance lease cost 1841 1,388
Variable lease cost Cenerad and admindserative 38208 40,785
Sublease income Ceneral and adminisrative (3E.62F) (55,552
el Jease cost ) 1633 § 52,737

U1 Yarable lease EXpEE Irchudes qm’dlr.g_ Expen, real edats ixoes and nq:h:u:,l!r pn'l:lr-.g_.

The subleass income represents all revenoes recelved from sub-tenanis. [t is primarily fixed base rerdal payments combined with variable reimbersements
such as pperating expenses, real estate Les and emplove: parking,  The vast majocity of sub-tenant income 15 derivied from our New York metro sub-
tenant agreerments. Sub-tenant incorme related (o base rerd |5 recorded on a straigba- line basis.

Maturities of lease [fabiliies are as follows:

Operating Leases. Financing Leases Total

Year ending Decernber 31, (in thousands)
2021 5 1106 5 L142 % 111,188
2072 1631 757 104,386
2023 93,379 526 03,506
024 05,355 bk 90,382
2025 25,516 — 25516
Therealter 136,755 — 136,759

Total lease payments 556,650 2448 % 559,134
Less interest [(33.516) 73]

Present valoe of lease Habiliies s 503,174 & 2,375
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During October 2008, we signed a lease, wihich commenced in the fourth quanter of 20060, relating o 2 18,976 square feet of space at our newly consmuected
Mashville headquaners, Our estimated padal base rent obligation (excluding taxes, operating expenses and utiliies) over the 15-year initial leass term is
S13.0 million, During April 2019, we signed a lease, which commenos in 2024, relating to appeoximately 190,000 square leet of space in New York City,
Or estimated fotal base rent obligation (excloding taxes, operating expenses and vtilites) over the 20 year lease term is approcdmately S448.0 million
During the foorth quarter of 2020, we exercised an opiion to reium a half Roor of this space, which reduced our square foodage rom approximately
190,600 1o 166, D06 saqizare fewt and our base rent obdl gation from S448.0 million o $303.0 millios,

Lease term and discount rate:
Weighted average mmaining lease term (years):

Operating leases 7.13

Finance leases 246
Waeiphited averape discommd fue:

Operating [eases 212 %

Finance feases Tid %

Supplemental cash Bow information related to leases ame as fodl ows:

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019
{in thowsands)

Cash paid for amoumis included in the measurement of lease liabilides:

Operating cash Hows from operating leases -3 15684 & 1752665

Operating cash Hows from financing leases a5 71

Financing cash flows from finance leases 1,664 1,281
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations':

Oiperating [eases™ 135,919 11,168

Finance [eases 1,655 1,465

113 i ppyresemis nom-cash sctwity and, accordingly, ts not reflected In the consolidated staternonts of cush flows,
R epresents ne nor-cash activity of new bease obllgiGons, eamsions arnd reductons of exiaing lesse obligations.

M
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14. Comimd tments and Contlngen des
Leages

We |pase office space, office equipment and technology tmder various leasing arrarseniends. The haure minimum payments under non-cancelabie leases,
sublease commitments and refated payments we are obligated ta make, net of sublease commitments of thivd party lessess to make payiments (o us, as of
December 31, 2020, are as follows:

Paymenis Sullease Recelpis Mot Paymenis
{in millions)
2021 3 1154 & 35 8 795
202 103.8 3Ls TR0
I H5 3.3 65.2
24 5931 ] 623
5 454 — 454
2026 and thereafter 526.6 — S26.6
Total future minimum paymenis 5 980.8 § 1294 5§ G514

See Note 13 for rraterial lease commitmmnis.
Legat Proceedings

AB may be involved in various maters, including regulatory inguines, adminisrative proceedings and Lingation, some of which may allege significant
damages. It is reasonably possible that we could incur loases pertaining (o these matgers, bt we cannod aarendy estimate any such losses,

Ban agernent, alter consultation with legal counsel, cumently believes that the octoome of any individual maner that is pending or threatened, or a1 of then
combined, will not have a material adverse effect on our resdes of operations, Hnancial conditon o ligquidity, However, any inquiny, prooseding of
lidgation has an element of uncentainty; management cannot getermine whether further developments relating to any individual matter that is pending or
threatened, or all of them combined, will have a material adverse effect on our results of operation, Hnandial condition or liguidity in any hohmre reporting
period.

Citier

During 2000, a5 general parmer of AlllanceBemsteln U5, Real Esate P ("Real Estate Fund™), we commited o lnvest $25.0 million in the Feal Estae
Fumd. As of Decermber 31, 2020, we had funded $22.4 million of this commimment. During 2014, as gereral panner of AllianceBemstein LS. Real Estate
1L L.P. {*Real Estave Fund 117}, we committed to invest £37.3 million, as amended in 5020, in the Real Estate Fund IL As ol December 31, 200, we had
fonded $20.8 miltion of this commimment.

15. Consolidared Company-Sponsored Invesiment Funds

We regularly provide seed capital to new company-sponsored investment hunds. As such, we may consolidate or de-consolidate a variety of company-
sponsored irvestment funds each quarter. Due o the similarity of risks related to cur involvement with each company-sponsored imvestment fund,
disel osnres required under the VIE model ane agpregated, such as disclosores regarding the carrying antount and classification of assets.

W are ot required o provide linancial support o company-sponsored invesement unds and only the assets of such hands are available 1o setle each
fund's own Habilites, Our exposure (o Joss n regard o corsalidated company-sponsored investment funds (5 Emited 0 oor investment i, and our
management fee eamed from, such funds. Equity and debt holders of such fonds have no recowrse to AB's assets or to the general oredit of AB.

&
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The balances of consol [daed VIEs and VOEs included in our consalidated statements of financial condition were as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Chier assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Redesmable non-conmollng nterest

Partners’ capital atributabie o AR
Umnithoiders

Total labilities, redeemable non:
controlling interest and partners’ capital

Droember 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
(in thows.ands)
VIEs VIOEs Total VIEs VOEs Total
-3 IIT0 % 136 3 TR 9623 % 1410 % 1145
2421—’.-!] B 303,582 404,624 176,380 581 i
7365 1x 244 0,618 10,1532 1'9.&]:}
E 67,562 % 351332 % 423865 & 188,382 % 612,247
5 771 8 12875 3 30620 % 12,147 % 18870 % 31017
82753 18,606 10,359 73,219 52,342 335,561
153,176 25077 218,353 138,459 117,170 255665
S AWRT S 67,562 % 35LI32 § 4265 & 18A382 § 612247

During 2020, we deconsalidated five furds in which we had 2 seed invesmment of approximately $046 million doe o no longer baving a conmrolling
financial interest. These funds had sipnificant consolidated assets and liabllites as of December 31, 2019,

Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, demand deposits, ovemight commercial paper and highly liguid investments with original maturities of
three months or less. Due to the short-term nature of these rstruments, the recorded value has been determined to spprosimate fair valoe,
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Valuation of consolidated company-sponsored [nvesment hmds” Bnanclal instnaments by pricing observability levels as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
was as follows (in thousands):

Level 1 Lewel 2 Level 3 Total
December 31, 2020;
Invesiments - VIEs % 73509 % 168114 % 518 % 242 541
Investments - VOEs — 55,54 161 6,041
Derivatives - VIEs 442 278 — 3,224
Dierivatives - VIOEs — 464 —- Erl
Total assets measured ar fair value 5 7 1 5 231 5 619 % 306,270
L& ]
Derivativis - VIEs ) 1649 % 5244 % — % 6,553
Derivatives - VDEs — B — Bl
Total Babilities measered ar e value 13 1649 % 5008 % — % 7557
December 31, 2019;
Invesiments - VIEs £ 8279 % 375558 & T % 404,624
Invesiments - VIOES 104,065 2252 54 176,380
Derivatives - VIEs 1345 4,654 — 4,833
Derivatives - VOEs 76 4263 — 4,335
Total assets measered at fair vahae & 132,554 % 456,768 % B % 580,176
Derivatives - VIEs 5 535 5 3724 35 — 5 4,558
Degivatives - VOEs 101 4 5482 — 5,083
Total Habilities measred an Bir value - 96 % 8,706 % — % 9,642

See Note 5 lor a description of the Rair value methadolopies used for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general classification of such
Insimaments pursuant o the valuation hierarchy.

The charge in camying value associated with Level 3 financial instmaments carried at fair value within consolidated company -sponsored investment funds
ik s lollows:

December 31,
2020 2019

{in thousands)
Balance as of begimning of period 5 654 5 8373
Deconsalidated funds {1359 —
Transfers {out] in 552 [445)
Purchases 258 4,13
Sales {571) (7467}
Realized (fosses) gains, nel (9% 14
Umnrealized (losses) gains, net 242) 142
Acoruid discounts 1 23
Balance a5 of end of period ) 619 & 854

The Leveel 3 securities prirtarily consise of corporate bonds that are vendor priced with no ratings available, bank loans, ron-agency collateralized mortgage
obligations and asset-backed securities
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Transhers into and out of all levels of the fair valoe hierarchy are reflected at end-of-period falr valoes. Reallzed and onrealized galns and losses on Level 3
linancial instroments are recorded in imvestrment gains and losses in the consolidsted siatements of income,

Dwrivative Instruments

As ol December 31, 2020 and 2019, the VIEs held $3.7 million and £5.3 miliion (net), respectively, of heures, forward
portfolios. For the years ended December 31, 7020 and 2019, we recognized S0.56 million of [osses and $3.3 million ol gains, mespectively, on these
derivatives. These gains and losses are recopnized [n invesiment gains (losses) in the consolidated statements of income.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the VIEs held $0.5 million and £1.6 million, respectively, of cash collateral payable to irade courderparties. This
obligation o refum cash 5 reported in the liabilites of consoibdsted company-sponsored [nvesment funds in our consolidated satements of financial
conditon.

As ol Decermber 31, 2020 and 2019, the VIES deliversd 34,2 million and $4.2 million, respectively, of cash collatral into brokerage sccounts. The VIES
report this cash collateeal in the consol idawsd compary-sponsored irvisiment funds cash and cash equivalemts in our consolldaed statements of fnancial
condition

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the VIOEs held $0.3 million and $0.7 million (net}, respectively, of fumres, forwards, options and swaps within their

pantfolios. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 we recognized 30.7 million and $0.5 million of gains, respectively, on these derivatives.
These gains and losses are mecognized in the irvesrent gains (losses) in the consodidated statements of income,

As of Decermber 31, 2620 and 2019, the YOEs held zero and 805 million, respectively, of cash collateral payable to trade coomterparties. This obligaton o
remn cask {5 veported in the liabilities of consolidated company-sponsored investment hands in our consolidated statements of linancial condition

As ol December 31, 2020 and 2019, the VOEs delivered 301 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of cash coltateral into broketage accounts. The VOES
repodt this cash collateral in the consolidated compary-sponsored imvestment funds cash and cash equivalents in oor consolidated statements of finandial
condition.

Offsetting Assets and Liabilities

Offsetting of derivative assets of corsalidated oompany-sporsored invesiment funds as of December 31, 2000 and 2015 wias as follows:

MNet Amounts of
Gross Amounts Asses
Offset in the  Presented in the
Grmss Amounis Seaemnent of Statement of

of Recognized Finandal Finandal Financial Cash Collateral et
Asaets Condition Condition Instrments Rescwived Amoint
{im thousands)
Degember 31, 2020;
Derivailves - VIEs £ g % — § 304 5 — & (513) % 2711
Derivatives - VOEs £ 464 5 — % U = g = % A4
December 31, 2005
Derivatives - VIEs s 48331 % — § 4683 % — £ (1.631) § A202
Derivatives - VOEs 5 4339 % — % 4330 % — & G & 3,805
95
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Offsetting of derivarive labilides of consolidated compary-sponsored invesmuent funds as of Decertber 31, 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

Net Amounts of
Giross Armounis Liabilices
Offsetin the  Preseated in the
E{mﬂn Amounts  Statement of Statement of

Finandial Finandial Financial Cash Collateral
Liabilities Condition Comlition Instraments Pledged Met Amount
{in thousands)

December 31, 2020;
Derivatives - VIEs -3 6H93 % - % BE3 % —_ £ (4200) % 2R59%
Derivatives - Y0Es 5 BEd % — £ [ . — £ (138 % 526
December 31, 2009;
Derivatives - VIES % 4550 % — & 4550 % — & (3155 3 1,404
Derivatives - VOEs s 50683 % — 5 5043 $ — £ (1.201) & 3882

Casly collaveral, whether pledged or received on derivativie instrurents, (5 nol considered material and, acoordingly, (s not disclosed by counterparty,
Nown-Consolidated VIEs

As of December 31, 2020, the net assets of company-sponsored invesiment producis that are non-consolidated VIEs are approximately £73.4 billion, our
maximuam risk of loss is our investrent of $7. 1 million in these VIEs and our advisory fees receivabie from these VIEs are $77.6 million.

16. Net Capital

SCB LLC is registered as a broker-dealer under the Exchange Act and fs subject to the minimum net capital requirements imposed by the LS, Seaorities
and Exchange Commission ("SEC”). SCB LLC computes is ned capital under the altemative method permined by the applicable mule, which requines that
minimum net caplial, as defined, equals the greater of $1 million or two percent of aggregate debit iverns arising from oustomser ransactions, as defined. As
of Decermber 31, 2020, SCB LLC kad net capital ol $277.0 million, which was $240.0 million in excess of the minimunm met capital requinement of $34.0
enillion Advances, dividend payments and other equity withdrawals by SCB LLE are restricied by regulstions imposed by the SEC, the Financial Indusory
ERegulatory Authority, Inc., and other secarities agendes.

Chor LB -based broker-dealer (s a member of the London Stock Exchange. As of December 31, 2020, [t was subject to finand al resources requiremenis of
547.5 million Imposed by the Financial Conduct Authority of the United Kirpdom and had aggregate regulatory financial resoorces of $53.4 million, an
exnciras of $5.9 million over the reguired level,

Alllance Bemsteln Investments, Inc., another one of our subsidiaries and the dismibutor and'or underwriter for cemaln company-sponsored munal funds, is
registered a5 3 broker-deslsr under the Exchange Act and is aibjeat to the minimsm net capital reguidrements impased by the SEC. Az of December 31,
2000, it had et capital of $32,1 million, which was $318 million in exoess of its reguined net capital of 50,3 million.

Many of our subsidiaries around the world are subjeal to minimum net capital requirements by the local laws and repulations to which they are subject. As
of December 31, 2020, each of our subsidiaries subject to & minimuom net capital requirement satisfied the applicable requirement,

17, Counterparty Risk
Customer Activifies

In the nommal course of business, brokerage activities involve the execotion, settlemert and financing of various customer securites wrades, which may
expose our broker-dealér operations (o off-balance sheet risk by requiring us o porchase or sell sequrites at prevailing market prices in the event the
custormer is unable to ful I s conmracmal obligations,

O customer Securilivs acivities ane iransacti on vither a cash or margin basds. In margin ransaciions, wie extend credit (o the customss, subject to
variows regulatory and inemal margin requirermerts. These ransactions are collateralized by cash or
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sequrities in the customer's account. In commection with these activities, we may execiie and clear ausiomer irarsactions nvolving the sate of securites not
vet purchased, We seelk to control the risks associated with margin ransactions by requiring customers to maintain collateral in compliance with the
alorementioned regulaory and internal guidelines. We moniior requited margin levels daily and, pursuant 1o such guidelines, requine customers 1o deposit
additional collateral, or reduce positions, when necessary. A majority of our customer margin acooonts are managed on a discretionary basis whereby we
maintain conirol over the nvesoment activity in the accounts. For these discretionary acocounts, our margin deficency exposure is minimized by our
maintaining a diversified portlolio of securittes i the accounts, our disoretionary suthority and our U,S-based broker-dealir’s role as custadian.

In accordance with indusery practice, we record customer ransactions on a settlement date basis, which generally is two basiness days aler rade date for
our UK. and ULS. opefations, Wi are exposed o risk ol lods on thise mansacors in the evert of the custormes's inability to meed the v of dwelr
comiraats, in which case we may have o parchase or sell financial instmaments at prevailing market prices. The risks we assume in connection with these
fransactions are not expected o have a material adverse effect on our finand al condition or results of operations.

Ohfier Counderpartes

We are engaged in various brokerage activities on behalf of clients, in whidh counterparties primarily induode broker-dealers, banks and other financial
fnstinutions, n the event these counterparties do ot hl fill chefr obligations, we may be exposed o loss, The risk of defaelt depends on ihe crediowonthiness
of the counterpanty of {ssuer of the fnsiroment. It is oor palicy 1o review, a5 necessary, each comterpany's ored wonthiness.

In connection with security borrowing and lending arrangerents, we enter nio collseralized agresments, which rmay result in potential loss in the event the
couRtEpay (o a trandaction 5 mmable o fulfill s conractual obligations, Seaxiy borrowing amangerents requine s (o deposil cash collateral with e
[ender, With respect to seourity lending amangements, we receive collateral in the form of cash in amounts gererally in excess of the market value of the
seautities loaned. We attempd to mitigate credit risk associated with these sctivities by establishing credit limits bor each broker and monitoring these limits
on a daily basis Additionally, security borrowing and lending collateral is marked to market on a daily basis, and additional collateral is deposited by or
returned [0 s 35 NeCEssary.

We erter into various futures, forwards, options and swaps primarily (o economically hedge certain of our seed money invesiments. We may be exposed o
credit losses in the event of nonperformance by comtsmparties to these derivative financial instruments, See Node 7, Devivative Instrumenis for further
dismussion.

18, Qualified Employes Benefit Flans

W maintain a quaiified profit sharing plan covering U5, employees and certain foreign employees, Employer contributions are discretionary and generally
limnited to the maximum amount deductible for federal Income tax porposes. Ageregate contribations were 5156 million, 144 million and $15.0 million
for 20240, 2009 and 2018, respectively.

We maintain several defined conrribution plans for foreign employvess woeking for our subsidiaries in the United Kingdam, Aosoralia, fapan and other
locations ootside the United States. Employer confributions generally are consistent with regulatory requirements and tax Limits Defined conribution
experse lor loreign entities was 354 million, §7.7 million and $7.1 million in 2020, X019 and 2018, respeotively,

Wi maintain a gualified, noncontributory, defined benelit retiremment plan (“Retirement Plan™) covering current and former employees who were
employed by AB in the United States prior to October 2, 2000, Benefits are based on years of oedited service, averape linal base salary (as delined in the
Retirement Flan) and primary Socal Secority benefits. Service and compensation after December 31, 2008 are not taken into accoumt in determining
participants” retirement benefis,

Chor policy i o satisfy our finding obligaton for each year [nan amount not less than the minimom required by the Employes Retirement Income Secarity
Act ol 1974, as amended, and not greater than the rmaximum amouord we can deduect for Federal income (ax porposes, We did not make a contribution to the
Retirerment Plan during 2020, We do not corrently anticipate that we will comtribute to the Retirerment Plan during 202 1. Conribution estimates, which are

subject to change, are based on regulatory requirements, ewre marker conditions and assunptions used for sctuarial compotations of dhe Retirement Plan's
obligations and assets. Management, at the present time, has not determined the amount, if any, of additional hohre cordributions that may be required.
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and furded stans (amomis recopnized in the consolidated sLatemenis of

linancial condition) wen: as fallows;

Years Ended December 31,

20250 2019
{in thousands)
Chanpge in projected benefit obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at begirming of year % 136,113 % 116,233
Interest cost A3 4544
Aomarial loss (pain) 16,131 20,411
Benefits paid (5,563 {5475}
Projected benefit obligation at end of year 151,134 136,113
Change in plan assets:
Plan assets at fair value at beginning of year 114,060 06,584
Actual reum on plan assets 16,505 16,971
Emtployer conirilation —_ 4,000
Benefits paid (5,563 {5,475)
Plan assets at fair value at end of year 125,022 114,080
Funded stams b [26,102) % [22,033)

Effective December 31, 2015, the Retiretnent Plan was amended (o change the aomarial basis used for conventing a life annity berefit (o optiona] forms of
payiment and comverting benefits payable at age 65 (o earlier commencement dates. This priot service cost will be amortized over luture years,

The aroants recognized in other comprehensive incorme (loss) for the Retirerment Plan lor 200, 2009 and 208 were as follows:

2020 2019 2018
{in thousands)

Umnrecognized net (loss) gain from experience different from that assuomed and effects of
changes and assunptions (4085 % (7o) % 1,870
Prioe service cost 24 24 24

(065) 7.500) 1,554
Income kax {expense] benefic [216) 312 [207)
Oher comprehiensive (loss) income 5 {4,281) S (7.508) 1,687

The loss of $4.3 million recognized in 2020 was primarily dee 1o changes in the discoont rate and Jomp sum serest rates ($16,7 million), offser by acoual
eamings exceeding expected eamings on plan assets ($10.4 million), changes in the montzlity assumpiion ($1.0 million), the recognized acuarial loss (51.4
million) and changes in the census data ($0.4 million). The loss of $7.6 million recognized in 2019 was primarily due o changes in the discount rate and
lurmp sum interest rates ($21.7 milllon), offset by acoal earmings exceeding expeoied earnings on plan assets ($11.3 million), changes in the moraliny
assmmption (512 million), the recognized acarial loss (511 million) and changes in the census data (30,1 million). The gain of $1.7 million recopnized in
20085 primarily was due o changes in the discours rate and lemp sum neerest eates (39,7 million), the recognized actuarial less (51,1 million) and changes

in the moetaliy assurpiion (504 million), offset by actual earmings excesding expected earnings on plan assers (39.2 million], and changes in the censos
data (50,2 million).
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Forelpn retirement plans and an individoal's retirement plan mantained by AB ane nol material o ABs consolidated financial statemerds. As such,
disel osure lor these plans s not necessary. The reconciliation of the 2020 amounts recognized in other comprehersive income for the Retinement Plan as
coapared ea the consolidated staterrent of compreduersive income (" OCI Statement™ ) is as follows:

Retired Foreign
Redvement Plan  Individual Plan Redrement Plans  OCI Statement
{in thousands)
Recogmized actuar(al (loss) gain 5 (4089 5 (56) % (135) § (42807
Amortization of prior service cos M - - k)
Changes in employes benefi related items [4,065) {56) (135) (4.756)
Income tax (expense) benefit [216) [2) al (187}
Employre benefit related items, net of tax 5 {4,281) 5 (58) (i) & (4,443)

The armounts mdeded in socumulabed other comprehonsive income (loss) for the Retirement Plan a5 of Decomber 31, X020 ared 2019 were & follows:

Unrecognized net loss from experience different from that assumed and effects of changes and assumptions b

Prior service cost

Income tax benelit
Accumatlated other comprehensive loss

200 2019
{in chousands)
(59625) % (55,337)
(707) (731)
(60,33 (56, 265]
et 13
% (60,036) % {55,755)

The amortization period owver which we ane amortizing the |oss for the Retivernent Plan from acommulated other comprebensive income is 2909 years. The
estimated prior service cost and amortization of loss for the Retirement Plan that will be amortzed from acoomml ated other comprehensive income over the

next year are 524 thousand and $L.5 million, respectively,

The acommul ated benefit oblipation for the plan was $151.1 million and $136. 1 milllon as of Decernber 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The discoumt ratis used (o determine beoefit obligations as of December 31, 2000 and 2019 (measurenment dates) were 2,55% and 3.35%, resgectively.
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Benefit payments ae expected 1o be paid a5 follows (In thousands):

2021 b3 7 ik
2022 5,373
W03 7782
2024 7,811
2025 10,055
2026 - 2030 45,955

Died expense under the Redrement Plan consisted of:

Year Ended December 31,
U] 2019 2018
{in thousands)
Interest cost on progected benelin obli gaions 3 4443 % 45844 & 4,771
Expedted retum on plan assets [LFRES (5,639) (5893}
Amortization of prior service cost | 24 24
Recosni zed actuarial loss 1386 1. 146 1,146
Net pension expense & (231) % 475 & 48

Aohiarial compuitati ons used to determine net periodic costs were made utilizing the loll owing weighted -averape assumplions:

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
Discounl Fate on benelit obligations A35% 440 % 300 %
Expeated long-term rate of reurn on plan asseds 550 % 275 % 275N

In developing the expected long-team rate of meaom on pln sses of 550%, managernent considesed the higorical reums and future expectations. for
returns for each assel category, as well as the target asset allocation of the pontfolio. The expected long-term rate of refum on assets is based on wedghted
average expected retums for each asset dass,

As of December 31, 2020, the mortal ity projection assumption has been opdated to use the gererational MP-2020 improvement scale. Previoushy, mortality
was projected generationally using the MP-2019 improvements scale. The base mortality assompiion used is the Society of Actuaries Pri-2012 base
rnoraliny table for private sector plans, with a white-collar adjusiment, using the cortingent annuitant table for benefician es of deceased panticipants.

The Intermal Reveme Service (“LRS™) recently vpdated the monality (ables used io determine lump sums. For fiscal year-end 2020, we refleced the most
recenily published IRS table for lump surms assumed o be paid fn 2022, We projected hoore monality for lomp sums assumed to be paid after 2002 using
ehr currend base maoreal iy tables (RP-2014 backed olf o 2006 and projection scale of MP-X,

The Retirement Plan"s asset allocation percentages consisted of:

December 11,
2020 2019
Equiry 55 % 47 %
Dbt securities 36 41
Other 9 12
L0 % 10 %

The fuidelines regarding allocation of assets are formalized in the Investment Policy Staterment adopted by the Investment Commiites for the Retirement
Plan. The objective of the investment program is to enhance the portfolio of the Retirement Plan through total refum {capilal appreciation and income),
thereby promoting the orgroing ability of the plan to meet fore Habilides and oblipatiors, while minimizing the reed for addifional contributions. The
guidelines specify an allocation

1x
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weighting of 107 1o 35% for llabllity hedging investments (tanget of 20%), 15% o 40% for renum seekirg irvesments (farged of 27%), 5% o 35% for rsk
mitigating invesments (Lapet of 14%), 10% o 35% for diversilying iovestments (larget of 21%5) and 5% 1o 35% for dymamic asset allocation {target ol
16%) Investments in munal hinds, hedge imds (and other aliermative investmenis), and other commingled investoent vehicles ane permitted inder the
guidelines. Investments are penmiited in overlay portfolios (regulated muiwal hamnds), which are designed to manage shoet-term portfolio risk and miiigate
the effect of exrene outcomes by varying the asset allocation of a portfolio

See Note 9, Fatr value for a desaription of how we measure the fair valve of our plan asseis.

The vabuation of our Retérement Plan assets by pricing observability levels a5 of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was as follows (in thowsands):

Lovel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Teotal
December 31, 2020
Cash -3 458 5 — % — & 458
US, Treasury Sorips - 26,509 — 26,509
Fixed income mutual funds 17,6834 — —_ 17,834
Equity mumal fund 44,020 — — 44,020
Equity securitie: 14,376 — - 14,376
Todal asseds in the Fair valoe hierarchy Th6ha 26,509 — 103,287
linvestienis meassed al vl s valioe — — - 21,735
tnvescnnts a i aloe T I

Lovel 1 Level 2 Level 3 Tewal
December 31, 2019
Cash 3 30 % — % — & 230
U.S, Treasury Sorips _ 27,318 = 27318
Fizxed imcome mutual funds 13,518 —_ — 159,518
Exquity rmunal fund ARETS - - 33,4875
Equity securities 11,163 — — 11,182
Tl assels in the Fair valoe hierarchy 6, B05 27,318 — 92,123
Investrrenis meaayed al rel xaes valoe — — — 11,957
Invmeres t fr vace e —

Duoring 2020 and 2019, the Retirement Plan's invesments fnclode the Follosring:
LS, Treasury strips, (zero-coupon bonds);

*  pwo fixed income muotual honds, which seek to generate income consistent with preservation of capital, One hund imests in a portlolio of
imvestment-grade securities primarily in the LS, with additional non-U.5, securities. One fund invests in inflation-indeoed fixed-income securities
and similar bonds [ssved by non-ULS. govermments and variots commuoditi es;

*  seven equity mumial funds, four of which focus on US.-based equity securities of various capitalization sizes ranging from small o lange
eapltalizations and diversitied portfolios within those capitalization ranges, and three fnds that foous on pon-LLS. based equity secorliies of
varions capltalization sizes ranging from smmall to large caplializatdons and diversified portfolios therein across non-U.S. regions;

separate equiny and fived income mual funds, which sk o rradecate the volatlliny of equity and fixed income arientid asset allocaion over the
long term, as part of the overall asset allocation manaped by AB;

+  amndelstyle, multi-cap inteprated portlolio adding L5, equity diversification 1o it valoe and growith equity selections, designed (o deliver a |ong-
e prermiam to the S8 P 500 with greater consistency acmoss a range of market envirormments; and

*  investments measured af net asset valoe, including three hedge hunds that seek to provide abtractive risk-adjusted retums over full market cycles
with less volatility than the broad equity markets by allocating all or substantially all of

101
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their assets among portiolio managers throngh portlolio funds dar erploy a broad range of iInvestment sratefies; one privace invesmment et that
irvests primarily in equity securities of non-U.S, companies located in emerging market countries; and one colleative investment trust that invests
in LS, and non-L1.5, equities of various capitalization sizes.

19, Long-term [ncentive Compensation Plans

We maintain an unfunded, non-gualified mcentve compensation program known as the AlllanceBemstein Incentive Compensation Award Program
[“Incentive Compensation Program”}, under which anmeal awards may be granted to eligible employees. See Node 2, “Summary of Signifioom
Avcouniing Poficies - Long-Term Incentive Compersation Plons” for a discussion of the award provisions,

Under the Incentive Compensation Program, we made awards in 2000, 2019 and 2018 aggregating $177.4 million, $175.5 million and $183.3 miltlon,
respectively, The amounts charged 0 emploves compensation angd benelits for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2009 and 2018 were $176.8 miltion,
£177. ¥ million arnd $160.0mill ion, nspectively.

Effective as of September 30, 2017, we esablished the AB 2017 Long Term [ncentive Plan (2017 Plan™), which was adopted &t a special meeting of AB
Hotding Unitholders held on September 25, 2007, The lollowing forms of awards may be granted 1o emplovess and Eligible Dineotors under the 2517 Plan:
(i} restricted AB Holding Units or phantom restricted AB Halding Units {a “phantom™ award is a conracieal dght to receive AB Holding Units at a laer
date or upon a specified event}; (if) options o buy AB Holding Units; and (iii} other AB Holding Unit-based awards {including. without limitation, AB
Holding Unit apprecidion rights and per formmnoe awards). The pupose of the X007 Plan is (o promaote the ineres of AB by (i) siracting and raining
ealepitid officwrs, employess and directors, (1) mollvating such officers, erployees and directors by mears of perlormance-related incetives (o achioe
longer-range business and operational goals, (iii) enabling such officers, employees and directors to participate in the long-term growth and Financial
success of AB, and (iv) aligning the interests of such officers, employess and direstors with those af AB Holding Unithaldecs. The 2017 Plan will expire on
Sepbernber 30, 2027, and no awards under the 2007 Plan will be made after that date_ Under the 2007 Plan, the aggrepate mmmber of AB Holding Units with
respect to which awards may be granted is 60 millisn, induding no more than 30 million newly-issued AB Holding Unlis.

As of Decemnber 31, 2020, no options (o boy AB Holding Units had been granted and 2444 406 AB Holding Units, net of withholding tax requirements,
wore subject to other AR Holding Unit awards made under the 2017 Plan or the AllimceBemstein 2000 Long Tenm Incentive Plan, as amended, an equity
compensation plan with similar terms that was canceled on September 335, 2017, AB Holding Unitbased awards (including options) in respect ol
35,555,554 AB Holdirg Units were available for grant under the 2007 Flan as of December 31, 2030,

Ohypifoor Awars

‘W did not grant any options 1o buy AB Holding Units durirg 2020, 2019 or 2018, Historically, options granted to emplovees generally were exercisable at
arate of 200 of the AB Holding Units subject to such options on each of the Frst five anniversary dates of the date of grant; options granted to Eligible
Ditectors generally were exercisable a0 2 rate of 33.3% of the AB Holding Unis sulyject to such options on each of the Birst three anniversary dates of e
date of grant

e

260/310



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

The option-related activity In oor equity cormpensation plans during 202 s a5 follows:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
tinns to B Exercise Remaini A t
R Hodding Price Conlrictual St
Linits Per Option Term | Years) Value
Outstanding as of December 11, 2019 155,449 & 2393 1
Ciranted — -
Exercised (5,182} 28,46
Forleited — —
Explred (5,182} 28.45
Outstanding as of Deceanber 11, 2020 148,985 2361 12 & L5
Exercisable as of December 31, 2020 ME 2161 12 L5
Vested or expected (o vest as of December 31, 2020 145,985 2161 12 R

The toaa] inrinsic value of oprions exercised during 2020, 2019 and 2018 was $33,268, 837 million and 8.9 mil llon, respectively.

Under the fair value method, compensaiion expense is measured at the grant date based on the estimated fair value of the options awarded [determined
using the Black-Scholes option valuation model) and is recopnized over the requisite service period. We mecorded no compensation experse related 1o
opion grane in 2000, 2009 or 3018 a5 no opions were graned As of December 31, 2020, there was no compensation expense relaed to unvested option
grants not yed recognized in the consolidated staternent of income.

Resirfcied AB Hodding Unfl Awgrds

In 200, 2015 and 2018, the Board gramed restricted AB Holding Unit awards to Eligible Directors. These AB Holding Units give the Eligible Directors,
in most instances, all the rights of ather AB Holding Unithalders, subject to such restrictions on fransler as the Board may [mpose.

Wi award restrioted AB Holding Units that vest ratably over three or four years. We fully expensed these awards on each grant date, as there is no service
recu et Grant details relaed © these awards (5 a3 bol lows:

2020 2019 2018
Resirioted Units Awarded 50,232 45,420 53,720
Weiphted Average Grant Date Fair Vahue!! 5 2169 § 933 § 26,50
Compensation Expense {in millions) 5 12 % 3% 14

' Prioe period armounts have been adjusisd o conform with current period preserasion

O April 38, 2017, Seth P Bemsiein was appointed Prisidert and Chisd Exeoutive Olficer (F"CEQ™) purssant 1o an employment agreement, effective May
1, 2007, In connetion with the commencement of ks coploymenst, M Bemstein was graned restricted AB Holding Units with a grant date Fair value of
£3.5 million {164,706 AB Holding Units based on the $21.75 grant date AB Holding Unit price on May 16, 200 7) and a four-vear service requirement. M.
Bemstein's restricted AB Holding Units vest ratably on each of the first four anniversaries of his commencement date and will be delivered to Mr
Bematein as soon a5 admindstratively feasible afier May 1, X, subject to accelevated vesting clawses in his employment apresment. We recanded
compensation expense relatng to Mr. Bernsteln's restricted AB Holding Unit granis of 309 million for ezch of the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019
and 018, respectively.

Under the Incentive Compensation Program, we awarded 5.3 million restricted AB Holding Unis in 2020 (which inchuded 500 million resmicted AB
Holding Units in December for the 2020 year-end swards as well s 03 million additional restricted AB Holding Units pranted earlier during the year
relating &0 the 2009 vear-erd awards), with grant date Fair values per restricted AB holding unit ranging between 526,75 10 532,10,

We awarded 5.8 million resiricted AB Holding Units in 2019 (which included 5.4 million restricted AB Holding Linits in December for the 2019 year-end
awards as well as 0.4 million addional restricted AB Holding Units granted earlier during the year relaing (o the 2018 year-end awards), with grant date
fair values per resiricted AB holding unit ranging between 526,69 1o 53001

A RE]
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W awarded 6.5 million resirioted AB Holding Units in 2018 (which Included 6.2 million resriced AB Holding Unlis in December for the 2018 vear-end
awards. as well a5 0.3 million additional resricted AB Holding Units granted earlier during the year related o the 2007 year-end awards), with grant date
fair values per resiricted AB holding unit ranging betwesn $24.55 10 $26.69,

Restricted AB Holding Units awarded under the [ncentive Compensation Program generally vest in 25% inorements on December 1% of each of the Four
wears immediately following the vear in which the award is granted.

W also award restricted AB Holding Units in connection with certain employment and separation agreements, as well as relocation-related performance
awards, with vesting schedules ranging betwert two and five years. Grant details relaed (o these awarnds [5 as follows:

2020 2019 2008
(in millions excluding share prices)
Resricied Units Awarded 04 LS 2.6
Crant Date Fair Value Range £18.80 - 835,42 2732 - 83085 $25.05 - $30.25
Compensation Expens 3 r R 67T 122

The fair value of the restricted AB Holding Units is amontized over the requisite service period as compensation expense,
Chanpis in unvested resirioied AB Holding Units during 2000 are as follows:

Weighted Average
Cirant Dhate Fair
AB Holding Value per AB Holding
Lintkts Uit
Umnvested as of December 31, 2019 19,287,080 % 2688
Granted 5,702,830 366
Westied {5,9465,667) 2007
Forfeied (178,665 26,50
Unvested as of December 31, 2020 18,864,574 2858

The toeal grant date fair value of resricied AB Holding Units that vested was $155.0 milHon, 52014 million and $16501 million during 202, 2009 and
2008, respeatively. As of December 31, 2020, the 18,864,574 urvested restrioted AB Holding Units consist of 13,957,807 restricted AB Holding Units that
do not have a service requirement and have been fully expensed on the grant date and 4,906,667 resricted AB Holding Units that have a service
requirement and will be expensed over the required service period. As of December 31, 2020, there was $68.7 million ol compensation expense nelsed 1o
unvested resiricted AB Holding Unit awards granted and not yet recognized in the consolidated staterment of income. We expeat to recopnize ihe expense
over 4 weighted average period of 2.9 years.

20 Units Outstanding
Changes in AB Units oatstanding For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as Follows:

220 2019
Dutstanding as of January 1, 270,380,314 268,850,276
Options exereised 5,182 S1LB%
Units fssued 3,363,132 4833715
Linsirs retined!! (2,208,570) [3,815,571)
Cluistanding as of December 31, ﬂ 2?0.3353-11

1 Craring 2020 and 2019, we perchased 1,500 and 3,782 AB Unlis, mspeaively, n private sranssoiions and meibned ihem,
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21. Income Taxes

AB s a private panrership for federal income tax purposes and, accordingly, is nod subject to lederal of state coeporale mooe taxes. However, AB is
subject o a 4.0% New York City unincorporated business tax (“UBT™). Domestic composate subsidiaries of AB, which are subject to Federal, state and local
income taxes, generally are incuded in the filing of a consolidated federal income tax retum with separate state and local income tax retums bedng filed.
Foreign corparate subsidiaries are generally subjeat (o taes in the forelgn jurisdictions where they are located.

In order o preserve AB's stahs as a private parmership for federal income tax purposes, AB Units muost not be considered publicly wraded. The AB
Parmership Agrectment provides thar a0l wansfers of AB Units mest be approved by ECH and the Ceneral Parmer; EQH and the General Partner approve
only those ransfers peomioed pursuant o one o more of the sale harbors cortaiped in the relevant Treasury requlatons, If AB Unlis were considered
readily tradshle, AB's net income would be subject to federal and state corporate inoome fax, sipniticantly reducing its quanerly distributions to AB
Holding. Furthermore, should AB enter into a substantial new line of business, AB Holdivg, by virnee of ils ownership of AB, would lose its stahus as 2
“mrandiathered” publicly-raded parmership and would become subject o corporate income tax, which would reduce materially AB Holding's net income
and its quarterly disiribotions o AB Holding Unithalders.

Eamings before Income taxes and Income tax expense consist of:

Years Ended December 31,
220 2019 2018
{in thomsands)

Eamings before income taxes:

Unfied States 3 M3eEy % e47.501 & 67221

Foreign 163,745 125,516 152,093

Toual [ W7 A 5 623437 & 825,314
Inooene Eax exprenss;
Parmership UBT % 3356 % 9,196 $ 5251
Corporate subsidianies;

Fexderal 1495 343 {4,080)

Stane and local M a7 2 a6

Forelgn 4,066 32,250 36,529
Cument (3% expense 49841 41518 40,638
Dhefirred tax (4.158) 26 5,178
N coame tax expense 5 45,653 & 41,754 & 45,816

The principal rexsons for the difference betwesn the eifective tax rates and the UBT santory tax rate of 4,0% are a3 follows:
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Years Ended December 31,
2020 2005 2018
{in thousanids)
UBT stabutory rate 5 36,297 40% § 32,507 40% § 33,012 Al %
Corporate subsldiaries” lederal, state, and lacal 2005 0.2 4,000 0.5 150 02
Forefgn subsidiaries taxed at different rates 33,965 a7 5,715 i3 J0GES AT
2017 Tax Act — —_ —_ — 1,155 A
FILN 48 reserve (release) {1,856) () 2,765 0.3 (5177 0.6)
UET business allocation percentage rale change & — (7a) — g (L3
Deberred tax and payable write-afls (887) 1) a4 = 2530 04
Foreign outside basis difference 3 s 155 - 2273 0a
Amended 20017 retum (221) — (2853} 05 — —
Efect of ASC 740 adjustments, miscell aneous taxes, and
olher 2654 03 2,305 0.3 (2.521) (0.3)
Inenene pot Lacable resulting from use of UBT business
appontionment factors and t of compensation charge [26,308) (A [23.509) 28) 0,726 2.5}
Income tax expense and el ective tax rate ) 45,653 o % "hm 51 § ﬁiﬁ 56

‘We recognize the etfeats of a tax posliion in the Hnancial statements only if, as of the reporting date, it is “more likely than not™ o be sustained based on is
technical meries and their applicability 1o the lacs and circumstanoes of the wx pesition. [n making this Jsassrmenl, we assume that the Lxing aahority
will exarming the (2x posdtion and have full knowledge of all relevant information

A recongi liation of the beginning and erding amount of tmrecogni zed tak benefits is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2o 2019 2018
(i thousands)

Balance as of beginning of period 5 5706 % 3893 5 BATE
Additions for prioe year tx posiiions — 1,513 —_
Feductions for prior year (ax positions —_ — -
Addidons for current year tax positions = — —
Reductions for current year tax positions - = =
Reductions related to closed years/setlements with tax anthorities {2.668) — {4,585}

Balance as of end of period % 2838 %5 5706 % 3,893

The amoumnt of unrecognized tax benetits as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2008, when recognized, is mecorded a3 a neduction to income tax expense and
rediices the company's effective ta rate.

Interest and penattes, if amy, relating to ta positions are recorded I income tax experse on the consolidated statements of income, The total amount of
[nterest expense recorded in income Lo expense (oredit) during 2000, 2019 and 2018 was 3{0.4] million, 807 million and $0.1 million, respeatively. As of
December 31, 2020, there |5 no acomued interest recorded on the consolidated statements of financial condition, The fotal amount of accrued indetest
recorded on the consolidaed staterments of fnancial condition as of Decombr 31, 2019 and 2018 was $1.1 million and $0.3 million, regpectively, There

wire no penaltiis acorued as of December 31, 20090, There was $0.2 million of penalties acoued a5 of Decermber 31, 2009 and dhere wene no acomed
penalties as of December 21, 2018,

Cenerally, the company is no loeger subject to U5, federal, state of local inoome tax examinasions by tax suthorities for any year prior to 2006, except as
set forth below,

As a vesale of the seitlement of the MNew York City UBT tax audic for the years 2013 dwough 2006, the gross vrrecognized @y benefit was reduced by
approdmmately $2.9 million. The comparry alsa redeced the amount of acorued Interest and peralties by 51.3 million.
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During the fourth quaner of 2020, the City of New York notfied vs of an examination of AB's UET reums for the vears 2017 through 2019, The
examination is ongaing and no provision with respect (o this examination has been recorded,

Ciarently, there are no income tax examinations 3t our significant non-ULS. subsidiaries. Years that remain open and may be subject to examination vary
under kocal law and range from one to seven years.

At December 31, 20260, it is not reasonably possible that any of otr unrecognized ax benefits will change within the next twelve months due o completon
of tax authority exams.

Deferved income taxes reflect the net ax effect of temporary differences between the camying amourts of assets and Habilities for fnancial reparting
purposes and the amounts used for Income tax purposes. The tax effect of signd ficant items comprising the net defemed 2 asset (liabilicy) is a5 follows:

December 31,
2020 2015
(in thowsands)
Determed ray asset:
Differences bedween book and ta basis:
Benefits frofm net operating loss carrylorwards 1 T2 S 5,551
Long-tenm incentive conmpersation plans 22,363 20,967
Ieveshment basis di tlerences 5256 4376
Depreciaion and amortization 2065 1,554
Laasse 1iabdliy 5,594 A5
Ouher, primarily aconued expenses deductible when paid A, 737 3,106
47,527 1,503
Less: valuation allowanoe (2,075) {2,006}
Deferred tax assed A5 39,877
Drefermed tax liabilioe:
Differences between book and tax basis:
Intangible assets 7,533 6,013
Ivestment in fsreigm subsidiaries 3048 2,191
Right-of-use asset 4,575 5,19
Cithaer 1,760 1672
Deferred tax labilioy 17.716 17,067
Met delerred tax aset 5 26,786 % 22,510

Valuation allowances of 33,0 million and $2.0 million were establisbed a5 of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, primarily doe o sipnificant
negative evidenoe that net operating loss [ "NOL™) carrylorwands will not be wiilized, given dee haure fosses expected to be inoumed by the applicabbe
subsidiaries. We had NOL camyforwards at December 31, 2020 and 2019 of approximately 510 miliion and $46.2 million, respectively, in certain foreign
locations with an indefinite expiration period.

The deferred tax asset [s Included fn other assets in our corsolidated statement of financlal condiion. Management believes there will be sufficient fumre
eaxable income to realize the tax benefits related to the remaining net deferred ax assets recognized that are nog subject 1o valuation allowancoes.

The company provides incorme taxes on the orremited earnings of non-U.S, corporate subaidiaries except o the extent that such eamings are indefinitely
reinvested outside the United States. As of Decermber 31, 2020, $39.6 million of undistribured eamings of non-U.5. corporate subsidiaries were indefinitely

mvested outside the LLS. At existing applicable income tax rates, additonal taxes of approximately $6.4 million would need to be paid if such eamings are
rerm thed,
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22, Business Segment [nformation

Ban agernent has assessed the pequinements of ASC 280, Segment Reporgng, and detesmined that, because we unilize a consol idued approsdh 10 assess
performance and allocate resources, we have only one operating segment. Enterpri se-wide disclosures as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2005 and 2018 were as follows:

Services
et revenues derived from our invesiment manapement, research and related services were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
(in thousands)
Instinations -3 512914 % 4E1H 5 478,065
Retail 1LB1L548 16194832 L ASL 45
Private Wealth Management B82 672 R BEE2M
Bernstein Research Services 455,744 407511 435410
Other 56,5908 163245 123,561
Total revenses 4,724,166 3575637 3419, 76
L Intirest sapinse 15,650 57,206 52305
B FEVEIIes § 1,708,536 S 3518432 & 3,367,351

Chor AllianceBemsatein Global High Yield Pondfolio, an open-end hmd (ncorporated in Luxemboure (ACATEUH: LX), penerated approximately 8%, 9%
ard 10% of our investment advisory and service fees and 8%, 9% and 10%: of our net revenues during 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Ceographic Informaton
Med revenues and long-lived assets, related to our LLS. and international operations, as of and for the years ended December 31, were as follows:
2020 2019 2018
{in thousands)

MNet revennes:

United States 5 1550508 8 1,975,105 § 1,940,267

International 1,749,008 1,543,327 1,427,054
Total 5 1708536 5 3518432 % 1,367,361
Long-lived assits:

United States 5 3H5761 % 3,355,450

Intermation| 53453 54,340
Total % 309,214 5 3,313,839
Major Customers

Company-sponsored mual hmds are disiriboced o individeal Investors dwough broker-dealers, imsurance sales representabives, banks, repistered
inwestment advisers, financlal planners and other Hinandal intermediaries. HS BC (not alfil isted with AB) was responsible for approximately 6%, 14% and
7% of our opan-end muotal fund sales in 2020, 2019 and 2008, respectively, HSBC is not under any obdigation to sl a specific amount of AB Fund shares,

ECH and the general and separate accoumts of Equitable Fimancial Life Insurance Company ("Equitable Finandal"} {includirg nvesments by the
separate accounts of Equitable Financial in the unding vehicle EXQ Advisors Trust) accounted For approximately 3% of oor tolal revenues for each of the
vears endded December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, AXA and its subsidiaries accounted for approsimately 2% of our tobal revenues for each of the vears
erded December 31, X020, 2019 and 2018 MNo single instinsional client other than EQH, AXA and thedr respective subsidiaries accoumied for more than
1% of owor total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2020, 3019 and 2018

1068
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23, Related Party Transact ons
Muual Flinds

We provide imvestment managerment, distribution, shareholder, administative and brokersge services to individual [nvestors by means of retail murual
fund s sponsored by our cormpany, our subsidi aries and our affiliaed joing vemure companies, We peovide substantially all of these servioes under conraces
that specify the services to be provided and the fees i be charged. The coniracts are subject to annoal review and approval by each munes! fond’s board of
directors ot frustees and, in certain ciroumstances, by the momal fund's sharebolders.

Revenoes for services provided of related o the mumal fonds are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018
{in thowsands)
Investmen advisory and services fees 3 1368484 % 1275577 % 1,307, 06
Distribution revenies 516,336 441,437 402,565
Shareholder servicing fees FO,354 THlx T4,00%
Oither revenues 8,114 733 7,262
Bermstein Research Sevvices 3 2 ]

S ommi S tiwsd § e

EQH, AXA aned their respeciive Sibsidiaries

W provide imvestirent managenent and certaln sdministtation seevices o EQH, AXA and their respeative subsidiaries, In addition, EQH, AXA and their
respective subsidiaries distribute company-sponsoned muoal fonds, for which they receive commissions and disiribotion payments. Also, we are coversd
by various insurance policies maintained by EQH and we pay fees for technology and ather services provided by EQH, AXA and their respective
subsidiaries. Addidonally, see Note 12, Debw, lor discl csures related o our aredét Faciling with EQH.

i)
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Agpregate amounts inciuded in the consolidated financial statements for transactions with EQH, AXA and thelr respective subsidiarles, as of and for the
years ended December 31, are as follows:

EQH ANA
2020 2019 2018 2020 2019 2018
{in thousands)
Revenues:
Investment advisory and services lees £ 11559491 5 109316 5 104810 5 0 TI4E S5 65086 S 64,247
Bemstein Research Services — — — 23 45 134
Dhistribastion reviioes —_ —_ - 12,5025 12,568 13,897
Oither revenues 1,330 1,013 1,104 353 S 625
£ 17231 & 110,329 £ 105914 & 06,783 % Th581 % 75,0603
Expenses:
Conmissions and disoribution payments o financal
impemmediaries L3 3952 % 39565 % 1964 % 14548 % 16603 S 17,603
General and administrative 2,281 2466 2615 8,528 11,501 12,381
Oithes®! 5,463 3644 1,485 - — -
T
Batance Sheet:
Institutional investment advisory and services foes
receivable 3 8343 % 8716 5 5m2 § 1 a4
Prepaid expenses i 238 — —
Oiher chue s ECH, AXA and thelr respective subsidiaries (1,280) (2,011} {4,703} (3,:234)
ECH Facility {675,000 (56,0080 — —
5 E?ﬁ 5 ’ﬁmﬂ 5 558 & 5,608

" pricr period BOPH 2019 1a now presenied to confonm o ooment periods presensiion
Chher Relmed Parites

The consedidated statements of financial condition inciude a net receivable from AB Holding s a result of cash transactions for less and expense
relmiursements. The net recelvable balance included in the corsolidated stabements of Anancial condition as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $10.2
million and $160.1 million, respectively.

Related Party Masier Repurchase Agreament

During April 2020, we provided 2 $125 million oredit facility, thiough 3 Master Fepuschase Apreement ("MRA”), 0 one of our sponsored private
frvesoment funds, of which $30 million was derws upor as of Apel 28, 2000 and repadd in full in May 2000, No additional amounts were dravn during the
rernainder of 2020, The amounts drawn upon the MBEA, which were payable on demand, were collateralized by assets of the hmd, could have been repaid

al any time prior to maturity and bore interest based upon the interest rate established at the time of each borrowing This credit facility expired on
December 31, 2020,
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24, Mon-conirolling Interests

Mon-controlling intenssd in net income for the years ended December 31, 5800, 2009 and 2008 consisted of the following;

2020 201% 2018
[in thowsands)
MNon-redesmable non-controlling intenests:

Consolidasted company-sponsored investment funds $ — % — & (119

Cither = 82 188
Toial non-redesmable non-conrolling interest — 92 [k
Redeemable non-controlling intenests:

Consolidated company-sponsored invesment hunds [4,165) 20,5405 21,841
Total non-controlling interes in net income (loss) 5 4,169 % 26dl 5 21,910
Ridegmable non-coniraliing mterest a5 of Decenber 21, 20000 and 2019 consisted of the lollowing:

2020 2019
{in thousands)
Consolidated company-sponsored {mvesmment hunds b3 102,558 % 325,561
Total redeemabile non-controlling interest 5 2358 5 325,561
25, Quarterdy Finandal Data (Unandied)
Chuarters Ended 2020
Drecember 31 September 30 June 30 March 31
(i thousands, except per undt amounis)
et revenies b3 1,062,653 % 00038 % BT1448 8 74,156
Net income atiributable o AB Unitholders 5 2B6335 8 07976 & 17731 % 154,32
Basic net income per AB Unit™"! £ 106 5 077 8 06 % 071
Diluted nat income per AB Uit 5 1L.O6 % 0,77 % hes 071
Cash distributions per AB Unid ™1 5 105 5 076 5 0es § 07l
Cramters Ended 2009
December 31 Sepleinder 30 Juse 30 March 31
(in thousanids, excepl per unit amounis)

Met revenues 5 9573 8 877,867 % 857,759 § 745,462
et income stimbutable to AB Unitholders 5 2865 5 187811 % 166,252 & 149,114
Basic net income per AB Unid?! 5 a5 $ 06S £ 115 B 055
Dilated et income per AB Unirt! b4 aor s 069 % 0kl & 055
Cash dismibutions per AB Uni*2% 5 053 % 070 % 063 5 056

B Bazlc and dilueed net income per unlt ate compuied independently for each of the periods presenied. Accondingly, the sum of the queanterly ne Incoroe per unl
. AFDSAmE FoaY Nl Bgree 1o the toia] for the year

L Declared mnd pald during the following qoanen

1# Cash dlaributions reflect the Irpact of our ro-G AAP adjusrmenis.

1
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1 Intertrust Trustees (Cayman)
Limited
(
2021 12 150 7,316 25,025
29,910 25,025 130
(
30 145
www . intertrustgroup.com 30 41
3,500
2 Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.
(
2021 12 10 4,000 1,201
(
1818
200
32
5,852 17
(€)
(
2021 12 16 3,000
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Report of Independent Auditors

To Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Global High
Income Equity Fund (Non JPY Currency)

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Global High Income Equity Fund
(Non JPY Currency) (the "Sub-Fund™), a series trust of AB Cayman Trust, which comprise
the statement of assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2020, and the related
statements of operations and of changes in net assets for the year then ended.

Management®s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors® Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider
internal control relevant to the Sub-Fund"s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Sub-Fund®s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Global High Income Equity Fund (Non JPY
Currency) as of September 30, 2020, and the results of its operations and changes in its
net assets for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
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Cayman Islands
December 17, 2020

299/310



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021
30

2021 30

2021 12 14

300/310



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

301/310



EDINETOOOO
o o {02225 )
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Report of Independent Auditors

To Intertrust Trustees (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Global High
Income Equity Fund (Non JPY Currency)

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Global High Income Equity Fund
(Non JPY Currency) (the "Sub-Fund™), a series trust of AB Cayman Trust, which comprise
the statement of assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2021, and the related
statements of operations and of changes in net assets for the year then ended.

Management®s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors® Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider
internal control relevant to the Sub-Fund"s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Sub-Fund®s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Global High Income Equity Fund (Non JPY
Currency) as of September 30, 2021, and the results of its operations and changes in its
net assets for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the General Partner and Unitholders of
AllianceBernstein L.P.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of
AllianceBernstein L.P. and its subsidiaries (the* Company” ) as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, and the related consolidated statements of income, of comprehensive income, of
changes in partners® capital and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2020, including the related notes and financial statement schedule
listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the

“ consolidated financial statements” ). We also have audited the Company®s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in
all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2020 in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the C0SO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company"s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management®s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under ltem 9A. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on the Company"s consolidated financial statements
and on the Company"s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are
a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.
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Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on
the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company®s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company"s internal control over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company®s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not
prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period
audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters
does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a
separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which
it relates.
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Performance-Based Fees

As described in Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, performance-based
fees earned were $132.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The transaction
price for the asset management performance obligation for certain hedge fund and
alternative investment advisory contracts, provide for a performance-based fee, in
addition to the base advisory fee, which is calculated as either a percentage of absolute
investment results or a percentage of investment results in excess of a stated benchmark
over a specified period of time. The performance-based fees are forms of variable
consideration and are therefore excluded from the transaction price until it becomes
probable that there will not be significant reversal of the cumulative revenue recognized.
Constraining factors impacting the amount of variable consideration included in the
transaction price include the contractual claw-back provisions to which the variable
consideration is subject, the length of time to which the uncertainty of the consideration
is subject, the number and range of possible consideration amounts, the probability of
significant fluctuations in the fund"s market value and the level at which the fund®s
value exceeds the contractual threshold required to earn such a fee. With respect to the
constraining factors related to the fund"s market value, management measures assets under
management (AUM) using established market-based valuation methods and fair valuation (nhon-
observable market) methods. Fair valuation methods, including discounted cash flow models
and other methods, are used only where AUM cannot be valued using market-based valuation
methods, such as in the case of private equity or illiquid securities.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to
performance-based fees is a critical audit matter are the significant audit effort in
performing procedures and evaluating evidence related to these fees, including evaluating
evidence related to the constraining factors impacting the amount of variable
consideration, and the audit effort also included the involvement of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge to assist in evaluating management®s estimate of the
funds® market value where fair valuation methods are used.
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Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in
connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the Company®s
revenue recognition process for performance-based fees, including controls over the
assessment of constraining factors and the valuation of AUM. These procedures also
included, among others, testing management®s process for determining performance-based
fees, including evaluating the appropriateness of the methods used, testing the
contractual claw-back provisions to which the variable consideration is subject and, on a
sample basis, evaluating the reasonableness of management®s assumptions related to the
length of time to which the uncertainty of the consideration is subject, the number and
range of possible consideration amounts and the probability of significant fluctuations in
the funds® market value and, as applicable, the level at which a fund"s value exceeded the
contractual threshold required to earn such fees. In evaluating management®s estimates of
the funds® market value, procedures included the involvement of professionals with
specialized skill and knowledge to assist in developing an independent range of prices for
a sample of securities used in determining the underlying funds® market value where fair
valuation methods are used, and comparison of management®"s estimate of the securities”
fair value to the independently developed ranges. Developing the independent estimate of
securities” fair value involved testing the completeness and accuracy of data provided by
management and independently developing the significant assumptions for the sampled
securities.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

New York, New York
February 11, 2021

We have served as the Company®s auditor since 2006.
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